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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D. C. 20549

FORM 10-K
(Mark One)
X ANNUAL REPORT UNDER SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECWRITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
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O TRANSITION REPORT UNDER SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file number: 001-34528
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NEVADA 20-2559624
_(State or other jurisdiction of (I.LR.S. Employer
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3855 S 500 W, Suite J, Salt Lake City, U 84115
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Securities registered under 12(b) of the Exchangec

Common Stock, $.001 par valu The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC
(Title of Class) (Name of exchange on which registerec

Securities registered under 12 (g) of the Exchangect: None
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a viglbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405%dB#turities Act. YeEl No ™
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuiegd to file reports pursuant to Section 13 ord) %f the Exchange Act. Y&S No ™
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant hdmmstted electronically and posted on its corpoksfebsite, if any, every Interactive Data File reqdito b
submitted and Posted pursuant to Rule 405 of R&gnl&-T during the preceding 2 months (or for such shqréziod that the registrant was required to su
and post such files). Y& NoO
Indicated by check mark whether the registrantfi{@yl all reports required to be filed by Sectib® or 15(df) of the Exchange Act during the pastrighths (o
flgr such shorter period that the registrant wasireq to file such reports), and (2) has been suhfesuch filing requirements for the past 90 ddes™ No

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiiimigs pursuant to ltem 405 of RegulatiorkkSis not contained herein, and will not be contdin® the best (
réglstrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or imfoation statements incorporated by reference ihIRaf this Form 10-K or any amendment to thisrrol0K.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting comp&a®ge th
definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “acceléd filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rul&b-2 of the Exchange Act.
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company) [ ] Smaller Reporting Company

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsbell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exge Act). Yedd No M

The aggregate market value of the voting and ndmg@ommon equity held by non-affiliates as of d@8, 2013, was $142,488,241. For purposes of the
foregoing calculation only, directors and executiwiicers and holders of 10% or more of the isssiedmmon capital stock have been deemed affiliates.

The number of shares of the Registrant's commarkstatstanding as of March 6, 2014, was 30,793,818.
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PART I
Special Note Regarding Forwa-Looking Statements

Information included or incorporated by referengehis Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwardking statements. All forwarlboking statements &
inherently uncertain as they are based on currepeatations and assumptions concerning future svenfuture performance of the Company. Reader
cautioned not to place undue reliance on thesedahhooking statements, which are only predictiansl speak only as of the date hereof. Forviaoting
statements may contain the words “believes,” “@hje'expects,” “anticipates,” “estimates,” “foress,” “intends,” “strategy,” “plan,” “may,” “will,” “would,”
“will be,” “will continue,” “will likely result,” and similar expressions, and are subject to numsekaown and unknown risks and uncertainties. Adddlly,
statements relating to implementation of busindsastegyy, future financial performance, acquisitistnategies, capital raising transactions, perfoceao
contractual obligations, and similar statements maytain forwardeoking statements. In evaluating such statemgnmtsspective investors and sharehol
should carefully review various risks and uncetiamidentified in this Report, including the masteset forth under the captions “Risk Factoasitl in th
Company’s other SEC filings. These risks and uadsies could cause the Company’s actual resultdiffer materially from those indicated in the fawd-
looking statements. The Company disclaims any abitig to update or publicly announce revisionsryg forwardfooking statements to reflect future event
developments.

Although forward-looking statements in this Ann&aport on Form 16 reflect the good faith judgment of our managemsath statements can only be bi
on facts and factors currently known by us. Coneatly, forwardlooking statements are inherently subject to riskd uncertainties, and actual results
outcomes may differ materially from the results antcomes discussed in or anticipated by the fat@oking statements. Factors that could cause driboite
to such differences in results and outcomes ingludéhout limitation, those specifically addressaatder the heading “Risk Factors Related to Our rBass”
below, as well as those discussed elsewhere inAthimial Report on Form 10-K. Readers are urgedtmgilace undue reliance on these forwtaking
statements, which speak only as of the date ofAhimuial Report on Form 10-K. We file reports wiltetSecurities and Exchange Commission (“SE€8u car
read and copy any materials we file with the SE@atSECS Public Reference Room, 100 F. Street, NE, Wastind>.C. 20549. You can obtain additic
information about the operation of the Public Refee Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEZ30. In addition, the SEC maintains an Interné
(www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy andrmiation statements, and other information regardiagers that file electronically with the SEC luting us.

We disclaim any obligation to revise or update &myvardHooking statements in order to reflect any eventiccumstance that may arise after the date of
Annual Report on Form -K. Readers are urged to carefully review and coasstitie various disclosures made throughout theretytiof this Annual Repo
which attempt to advise interested parties of thksrand factors that may affect our businessnfifed condition, results of operations and prospect

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Our Business

ZAGG Inc (“‘we,” “us,” “our,” “ZAGG,” or “the Compayg”) is headquartered in Salt Lake City, Utah, and mam@rnational office located in Shannon, Irel:
The Company designs, produces, and distributeggswnal and premium creative product solutioné sscinvisibleSHIELD®screen protection, keyboards
tablet computers or mobile devices, keyboard casebuds, portable power, cables, cases, Bluespathkers, and mobile device cleaning accessotieadbile
devices under the family of ZAGG and invisibleSHIEIbrands. In addition, the Company designs, prosluaad distributes earbuds, headphones, Blue
speakers, Nedfield Audio amplifying speakers, cases, and catoiemobile devices under the family of iFrogz brarnd the fashion and youth oriented lifes
sector.

We maintain our headquarters at 3855 South 500 \8estes B, C, D, I, J, K, L, M, N, O, P, Q, R adSalt Lake City, Utah, 84115. The telephone nunof
the Company is 801-263-0699. Our website addremsesww.zagg.corand_www.ifrogz.com Information contained on, or accessible througlr,websites
not a part of, and is not incorporated by referant®this report.

Family of ZAGG Branded Products
ZAGG invisibleSHIELD Products

The invisibleSHIELD is made from a protective filtovering that was developed originally to protéwt teading edges of rotary blades of military hepters
We determined that a variation of this film prodweduld be configured to fit onto the surface ofcalenic devices and marketed to consumers for o
protecting such devices from every day wear and teeluding scratches, scrapes, dings, and otiace blemishes. The film also permits touch gafitsy,
meaning its application to a device does not ihii® devices touch screen sensitivity. The invisibleSHIELDrfimaterial is highly reliable and durable beci
it was originally developed for use in a high figct, high velocity environment within the militagerospace industry. The film provides long lasfingtectior
for the surface of electronic devices subject toma wear and tear. The film has a polyurethane bath properties that have enabled us to develegrathin
pliable, flexible, and durable clear plastic thdheres to the surface and shape of the object ichvitis applied.
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The invisibleSHIELD is designed specifically forabaunique smartphone, cell phone, tablet compM&r3 player, laptop, digital camera, watch face,
system, gaming device, and other mobile devicee pioduct is “cut’to fit specific devices and for the original inli®SHIELD formulation, is packag
together with a moisture activating solution thadkes the invisibleSHIELD adhere to the surfacehef device, literally “like a second skinghd virtually
invisible to the eye. The patented invisibleSHIEWAs the first scratch protection solution of itsdkon the market. The invisibleSHIELD is not amental, bt
rather provides semi-permanent barrier to presgmwdrand new look of the surface of the electraeieice to which it is applied.

In early 2010, we introduced the invisibleSHIELD ®Rhrough retail partners, which is a protectivimfimade from the same material as the ori(
invisibleSHIELD, and engineered to be clearer, stmeoto the touch, and applied without the neethefmoisture activating solution. In the beginnai2011
we added the invisibleSHIELD Smud@eeof to our line, which also incorporates the $ibieSHIELD film with added features that eliminagmudge:
fingerprints, and glare from the device display.

In January 2012, we introduced the invisibleSHIEHD, a new premium version of the invisibleSHIELDattoffers industrjeading clarity and finish.
September 2012, the Company introduced a new vedithe invisibleSHIELD line, the invisibleSHIELEXTREME. The invisibleSHIELD EXTREME diffe
from other products in the invisibleSHIELD portilby offering advanced shock absorption and supérieak protection. By installing the EXTREME o
compatible mobile device, consumers can worry #ssit broken screens as a result of dropping sime@rtphone, tablet, or other device.

Currently, ZAGG offers over 6,000 precision, pre-mvisibleSHIELD designs with a lifetime replacentavarranty through online channels, tigx retailers
electronics specialty stores, resellers, collegekbtmres, independent Mac stores, and mall kiogks.plan to continue to innovate our array of il&sSHIELD
products in future periods.

ZAGGaudio

ZAGGaudio electronics accessories and products firsteeleased in late 2008, and continue to fomusnnovation and superior value. The first pretduithin
ZAGGaudio was the award winning ZAGGsmartbuds li®@a January 12, 2010, we were awarded patent nutdBeD 607,875 by the U.S. Patent
Trademark Office, covering design elements of ZA@@gbuds in-ear headphones.

The ZAGGaudio product offering also features thenium ZR-SIX earbuds, which offer passive noisecediation and a robust sound.

During 2013, the Company launched the Origin dgsisjpeaker, which is an innovative 2-in-1 deskto@ partable Bluetooth®peaker system, the first of
kind on the market. The small, portable speakeviges users with crisp, high fidelity sound on geeand seamlessly transfers music to the largetafesipeake
when docked. The combination of the two speakesdyares big, roonfiling sound with prominent bass. The small poléaspeaker also receives a charge |
battery when docked in the desktop speaker. Pohauflio drivers let listeners turn up the voluméaasl as they like without losing sound claritycurality.

ZAGG Power Products

In early 2009, we introduced the original ZAGGspagmall, powerful, portable battery that can eegk a powehungry smartphone up to four times before
ZAGGsparq itself needs to be recharged. Featuis00ma lithium polymer cell, the ZAGGsparq plug® a wall outlet and provides two USB ports
charging mobile devices. The ZAGGsparq is compmttith any USBeharged device, including smartphones, tabletsdineld gaming systems, and dig
cameras.

In September 2012, the Company released a conlpletep of ZAGGsparq products to provide reliableveo solutions for jetsetters, students, profesdsoanac
other consumers who are always on the go. Availabtbree size and charging options, the new farmmitjudes the ZAGGsparq 1220, ZAGGsparqg 3100
ZAGGsparq 6000. ZAGGsparq portable batteries asggded to charge any device that utilizes a US8uiting smartphones, tablets, handheld gaming sy
and digital cameras. Different from other portahédteries on the market, the ZAGGsparq family hesnbconstructed with built- prongs that allow the devi
to double as a wall charger, eliminating the nemdah extra power adapter. All three new modeldaiori_ithium Polymer batteries and are polycarberta
protect the device from wear and tear. In addittbe,ZAGGsparq 3100 and 6000 feature the Compéatypercharge Technolog, which enables a mobile @
to receive a full charge up to four times fastantfwhen utilizing a standard USB charger.
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ZAGG Keyboard Products

We introduced the ZAGGmate in November 2010. TA&Bmate, made from aircraffrade aluminum, was a protective and functional gamon to the Appl
iPad, iPad 2, iPad 3, and iPad 4, which accentuatéd the appearance and utility of Apple's innweatlevices. The ZAGGmate line featured two modets
with a simple, innovative stand and built-in wirgdeBluetooth®keyboard that allowed for fast, responsive typiagd interaction with the iPad's features.
second model replaced the keyboard with a moreatikrsstand that provided multiple angles for uBee ZAGGmate was the recipient of several pregii
industry awards, including the Macworld Expo 201dsBof Show and recognition as a CES Innovatiorsigdeand Engineering Honoree. On April 7, 2011
partnered with Logitech on the ZAGGmate product eemmed it the Logitech Keyboard Case by ZAGG. éyrttie partnership with Logitech, we recei
royalty payments for all units sold by Logitech. ®tay 9, 2012, we were awarded patent number US ®189 by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Of
covering design elements of the ZAGGmate case apbddard accessory for tablets.

As a follow-up to the ZAGGmate, we launched the ZAGGfolio ityJ2011. The ZAGGfolio is a stylish and functionzse for the iPad 2, iPad 3, iPa
Samsung Galaxy Tablet, and Galaxy Tablet 2.0 thabnly offers full protection, but increases protivity through a removable Bluetooth keyboard. e@ting
with Bluetooth 3.0, the integrated battery is desito last for months between charges. A true-B-$olution with a keyboard, stand and full proteetcover
the patenpending ZAGGfolio is the winner of multiple awarteluding the 2012 CES Innovations Design and Eegiimg Showcase Honors. In fall of 2C
we expanded the ZAGGfolio family to include 11 difnt colors, textures and patterns, including genieather. In November 2012, the ZAGGfolio wampe
a gold winner of the Consumer Product of the Yeah@ Best in Biz Awards 2012.

In November 2011, ZAGG launched the ZAGGkeys FLBXortable Bluetooth keyboard and stand. As indptig its name, the FLEX offers flexible funct
for the two most popular tablet and smartphone atpeg systems; a switch on the keyboard togglesdxat the Apple iOS and Android®he ZAGGkeys FLE.
utilizes the same keyboard layout as our awsirthing Logitech Keyboard Case by ZAGG and ZAGGHpkensuring a true typing experience. The ZAGG
FLEX includes a unique keyboard cover that easilgverts into a stable stand compatible with nearly tablet or smartphone. The ZAGGkeys FLEX
named an honoree at the 2012 CES Innovations Dasigftngineering Showcase.

In August 2012, ZAGG introduced the ZAGGkeys PR@ ZAGGkeys PRO Plus at IFA 2012 in Berlin, Germahlyge ZAGGkeys Pro and ZAGGkeys Pro |
are ultrathin Bluetooth keyboard accessories that accenthatatility and convenience of the Apple iPad.f@iént from the original ZAGGkeys accessory,
ZAGGkeys PRO and PRO Plus utilize an innovative metig closure to secure the iPad, and protect ¢hees from scratches and smudges. The pal
keyboard design of both new products provides arahtyping experience in a compact layout, witklidated function keys to operate specific iPadufiess. It
addition, the ZAGGkeys PRO Plus features optioaakbghting for full keyboard use without the nded another light.

In October 2012, we launched the ZAGGkeys MINI hjch features durable folio designed specifically around thadifmini and highlighted with ZAGC
award-winning keyboard technology. The Bluetoot® Beyboard of the ZAGGkeys MINI 7 is custom desijne fit the iPad mini, providing a featurieh
keyboard while maintaining the small, compact sitee ZAGGkeys Mini 7 also features a builtstand to hold the tablet at an ideal viewinglaremd speci
function keys to operate essential iPad mini festwtirectly from the keyboard.

In November 2012, ZAGG debuted the ZAGGkeys PROfalid ZAGGkeys PROfolio +The ZAGGkeys PROfolio and PROfolio+ offer a comeletobile
experience for the iPad 2, iPad 3, or iPad 4. Turalle exterior provides a stylish case that ptstboth the device and the keyboard from dingssanatches. .
clever magnetic closure secures the iPad to the @Qkagys PROfolio and PROfolio+, which features theneannovative keyboard technology, including
special function keys and carefully engineered sgr@as ZAGGS traditional keyboard tablet. In addition, the ZBkeys PROfolio+ features optiol
backlighting for full keyboard use without the neled another light. Three levels of backlighting available in seven colors: blue, dark blue, greerple, rec
yellow and white.

In June 2013, ZAGG introduced the ZAGGkeys Univenrshich is a remarkably thin full size keyboarchgmatible with virtually any mobile operating systelt
comes in a protective case that doubles as a s#édlodiing it to work with almost any tablet or srtrone. Also featuring an innovative, ergonomicvea
design with islandstyle keys, similar to those on traditional keylitsathe ZAGGkeys Universal provides maximum comfath ample finger room, even duri
marathon typing sessions. The Universal's rechhtgdmttery is designed to last for up to three ti®wof regular use.

In October 2013, ZAGG introduced the ZAGGkeys Faliml ZAGGkeys Cover for the iPad Air tablet. TheGBkeys Folio and ZAGGkeys Cover are ultinéa
Bluetooth® keyboards featuring a pat@etading pivoting hinge that allows users to pldee iPad Air at virtually any viewing angle, juskdi a laptop scree
Both keyboards feature backlit keys to supportrigph low light areas, and a powerful battery tejx¢he tablet running for up to three months. Whemnin us:
for typing, the Cover locks behind the iPad Aioféer a pure reading and playing mode. The Folfersffull device coverage in attractive styling.

ZAGG Gaming

During the fourth quarter of 2013, the Company mad&ey brand strategy decision to place greaterhesip on the promotion of the ZAGG
invisibleSHIELD brands, particularly with the deois to brand the line of gaming controllers as ZA@ducts instead of under the iFrogz brand as
previously communicated.
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Based on that decision, the Company will introdtlte ZAGG Bluetooth®gaming controller (previously slated as the iFrd@aliber Advantage gami
controller). The ZAGG Game Controller is intendedprovide gamers with an enhanced constyée gaming experience that attaches directlyh&r tApple
iPhone 5s or 5c, or iPod touch"generation. The ZAGG Game Controller controls tti@a via the device's Bluetooth® connection, pdivj the lightningfast
response needed for today's mobile gaming. The sligld-out analog controls of the gaming handset featacélé, responsive keys, for a tight and acct
gaming experience. The ZAGG Game Controller is alguected to feature an integrated lithium polyiegtery offering 1Qt2 hours of continuous play withc
the need for a charge. The ZAGG Game Contraiftizes technology that is specifically optimizémt games developed by industry leaders such as Game
and Epic's ChAIR Entertainment for the ultimatening experience. It is expected the ZAGG Game i@tet will be available in the second half of 2014

ZAGG Cases

During the fourth quarter of 2013, the company thed the Arsenal, a premium rugged case that keapstphones clean and protected. Designed witHt;
cushioned interior and rigid outer shell, the Aales resistant to liquids, drops, dust, and maighout adding bulk. The Arsenal is one of the tt@st rugge
cases available and features the watlbs invisibleSHIELD EXTREME screen protector, igaed for premium shock resistance, break protactanc
touchscreen sensitivity.

Family of iFrogz Branded Products
iFrogz Cases

iFrogz began in 2006 by initially creating proteeticases for Apple iPods with a unique combinatibrfashion and quality that was received well bg
marketplace. Initially, all sales were online. Hweg in early 2007, iFrogz began distributing igse products through large retailers and began firongy
establishing itself as a youth and fashaiented brand. Since 2007, the iFrogz case offeritave expanded to include a wide array of sleekstylish cases f
each new generation of Apple iPod, iPhone, iPad,Samsung Galaxy smartphones and tablets.

iFrogz Audio

In the summer of 2007, the Company released i$ lime of audio products under the EarPollutioantr. The eclectic selection of EarPollution earbanle
headphones specifically targets a younger audidnaestill appeals to a wide demographic of congems8ince the initial launch of the EarPollutiondin
products, the Company has continued to innovatesapeanded its headphone and earbud product linesltale a large number of product offerings fdragje:
under both the iFrogz and EarPollution brands.

In February 2012, ZAGG launched the iFrogz Boosiakpr under the iFrogz brand. The iFrogz Boostlsreallows users to amplify their device's soun
simply placing their smartphone, or other devicaigped with an external speaker, on top of the Bobise Boost features patepénding audio technology
sync the external audio signal and then amplifysithiend through two highuality 2W x 2RMS speakers. No wires, cords, Blo#ioor pairing configuration
needed.

In October 2012, ZAGG introduced the Boost Pluseurttie iFrogz brand, a new iteration of its portataxternal wireless speaker for smartphones ang@
players. The Boost Plus allows consumers to filhly spaces and outdoor entertainment areas wisticnly simply placing a soungoducing mobile device «
top of the speaker. Powered by Near-Field Audiohfietogy, the Boost Plus picks up the audio fronoasamer's mobile device and pumps it out of thigh-h
quality 2W x 2RMS speakers, eliminating the needafises, cords or pairing configurations. The BoBkts was aftnnovations Design and Engineering Awe
Honoree at the 2013 International Consumer Eleidsa®how.

In November 2012, ZAGG introduced the iFrogz Aniame line of accessories designed for young childfée initial iFrogz Animatone line offering inclae
headphones and earbuds with playful styling andodiirditing to protect developing ears. The iFroyzimatone line features child-friendly designs, amimal-
inspired images in a variety of bright colors irdihg blue, red and green. Both versions of theseifrrogz Animatone audio accessories featurea-buifolume
boundaries to prevent the sound from being turoeddr than 85 decibels, which is equivalent tolélel of an average telephone dial tone.

In July 2013, ZAGG introduced the iFrogz Coda Favieeless headphones. Lightweight and comfortable,Coda Forte combines the latest Bluetooth wse
technology with powerful drivers for seamless, higlelity audio quality. The integrated rechargealatteries of the Coda Forte deliver D-hours ¢
continuous audio on a single charge. Built-in colstprovide volume and track adjustment, as welbm@es-touch acceptance of incoming calls using #-bui
microphone. Coda Forte headphones are availatiaak, white, blue, and pink.

ZAGG continues to innovate its iFrogz audio andega®duct lines allowing it to remain ahead of¢heve in the electronic device accessory fashiorkata
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2014 International Consumer Electronics Show

The annual International Consumer Electronics SHORS) provides the Company the opportunity to idiice new creative product solutions to the marke
the 2014 CES, the Company introduced a numberwfinesibleSHIELD, keyboard, Bluetooth speaker, gowcase, earbud, and headphone products unc
ZAGG, invisibleSHIELD, and iFrogz brands. The Compaonsiders the following to be new key produd¢eohgs:

e invisibleSHIELD On Demand The revolutionary invisibleSHIELD On Demand prograffers retailers the ability to instantly produzeariety of scree
protection films for virtually any device. That nmsaretailers will have invisibleSHIELDs availableetsame day that new devices launch, and the
never need to turn a customer away because arnbil@8$1I1ELD is unavailable. In addition, retailerdioe able to focus their shelf inventory on thie@st-
selling invisibleSHIELDs and simply create othessn@eded. The invisibleSHIELD On Demand prograrhdebut in 2014

e invisibleSHIELD Glass- invisibleSHIELD GLASS is the next step in the ex@n of premium screen protection. Made from mugtipremium protectiv
layers, including tempered scratch-resistant glemsssibleSHIELD GLASS delivers ultimate image dtgrwith a silky-smooth feel and unique tape
edges. Users will find it to be the clearest, mwuralfeeling screen protector they have ever experieniogibleSHIELD GLASS features seamle
onetouch installation and is covered by a lifetime raaty. invisibleSHIELD GLASS is available for iPhmniPad, iPad Mini, Samsung Galaxy, at
variety of other popular mobile devict

e ZAGG Cover-Fit Keyboard for Galaxy NotePRO and TRBPR- The ZAGG Coverit was developed with Samsung as part of the Sag&dobile
Accessory Partnership Program (SMAPP), and wagydedito complement the form factor and lightweigbbstruction of the new Samsung Gal
NotePRO and TabPRO. At just 1.5 cm thin and weiglluinly 255 grams, the ZAGG Co-Fit is one of the lightest keyboards on the markbe ZAGC
Covel-Fit launched at retailers and on ZAGG.com at teesime as the Samsung Galaxy NotePRO and TabPRt@ first quarter of 201«

e iFrogz Tadpole- At the size of an average keyless entry remotejRtegz Tadpole Bluetooth speaker delivers big sofstom a tiny package and brir
the party where no speaker has gone before. Wiidindy builtin carabineer, the Tadpole has the ability to oliypo keys, purses and belts, for effort
on-the-go use. Not only does its lithium-ion battprovide hours of continuous play, but it alsotfees a simple micr®}SB charging port for convenie
recharges. The Tadpole is available in blue, rachlp, black and white at iFrogz.co

e iFrogz Coda Pop- The iFrogz Coda Pop offers refreshing soundithatisp, clear and surprisingly powerful for isnepact size. With a 3fdot range an
water-resistant design, the Coda Pop is small gaetatching. The Coda Pop's rechargeable lithinmbattery provides music for up to three houtse
Coda Pop is available in several "flavors," inchglgrape, black cherry, and orange cream, at ifcogz

e iFrogz FreeStyle Headphones and EarbudBhe iFrogz FreeStyle Bluetooth earbuds and Free®&idetooth headphones add more wireless offetio
the iFrogz personal audio product lineup. UsingeBdoth 4.0, also known as Bluetooth Low Energy,RheeStyle ear buds play for hours and hours
single charge. The revolutionary miniaturized desf the FreeStyle fits comfortably in the ear dilttdrs outside noise with dual noissslating ear tip:
The FreeStyle headphones offer unparalleled conifioetn around the ear headphone design. Both argatible with a variety of mobile devic
including smartphones, tablets and desktop comguiére iFrogz FreeStyle earbuds and headphonebendl/ailable during the second half of 2C

e iFrogz Golite— The iFrogz Golite is a colorful, stylish and comippertable power solution designed to power smanpls and handheld electronics.
iFrogz GolLite features a 2,600 mAh battery with@gto punch to fully charge virtually any smartphole slim, elegant design includes a handy flastt
and fits conveniently in any purse or bag for gaswer on the gc

Strategy

At ZAGG, our focus is to (1) design creative prodsmlutions for users of mobile devices, (2) dafise products to end-users through global distabytartners
and online, and (3) to become the preferred braraligh the innovation and quality of our produpt®viding excellent customer service, and focusinghe
end-users’ knowledge and experience with our presdWe focus our corporate, team, and individualgto accomplish this overall corporate strategy.

We plan to continue to expand our product offerjmigsluding entering new product categories, artérémg new domestic and global markets that weebeli
will be consistent with our overall corporate stigt.

Design and Packaging

We design the invisibleSHIELD product for application on thousanadf specific electronic devices. Our logisticstpars acquire precisiocut raw materia
from exclusive third-party suppliers. These prexiscut invisibleSHIELDs are then packaged with rstallation kit consisting of a moisture adhesaotivating
solution for the original formulation, a squeegaed instructions for application on specific elenfc devices. We have established relationshiph pétckag
assembly, shipping, and logistics companies woddwthat we expect will allow us to expand our il&sSHIELD production and shipping capacity as
continue to grow.
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We also custom design each invisibleSHIELD cuttfar specific electronic device and currently haverd,000 unique designs. The cut designs arelalmae
internally and are owned exclusively by us. We db own the patent for the base materials, whicthékl by our exclusive supplier. Our supplier
contractually agreed to not sell the base matetalsny of our competitors. We believe that ouatiehship with the manufacturer of the raw mateisabr
excellent terms and anticipate no interruptionun ability to acquire adequate supplies of raw maleand produce products.

For all ZAGG products, we design the exterior pgikg to ensure it is consistent with the overalirketing strategy and is consistent with the desifesut
major retailer partners. We have designed the plastic and cardboard box packaging to be infoneagind attractive for point-afale displays. We outsou
the production of packaging to various independend parties.

We manufacture our other mobile device accessdkegboards, audio products, cases, power solutiand, other accessories) using third party cor
manufacturers located primarily in Asia. We havialslished relationships with thingarty manufacturers, package assembly, warehoustigping, and logistic
companies that allow us to expand our accessorighiption and shipping capacity as we continuertovg

Market for Products

The portable electronic device market, notably hafdl devices, is continuing to see advancementgeiformance and functionality in existing mod
Furthermore, the market is expanding as evidengecbhtinued innovative new product releases, paetity in tablets and smartphones. Correspondiritls
aesthetics of such devices are increasingly impbia buyers typically consider the look and fefewch devices, as much as performance, in makieg
purchasing decisions.

As a result, an industry and significant market éarerged for (1) protecting portable electronicides, notably the “high endablet and smartphone devic
and (2) enhancing the consumer experience withsaoces for mobile electronic devices.

We sell each of our product lines to consumerdesftenic household and hand-held devices diragdyour websites and other key onlinéaders, and throug
our distributors and retail partners. We sell anfigant amount of product for use on Apple’s iPa@hone, and iPod devices and on Samsurigalax
smartphones and tablets, though we have experieca@ithued diversification as other manufacturgngsence in the market has increased. Market &t
indicate that the tablet, smartphone, and overabifa device market will continue to increase ie toming years. As this market continues to expZAg;G is
positioned to grow as we execute our corporateéegiya

In addition to Apple and Samsung, the handheldteleizs industry has continued to market and dgvekvices with touch screen interfaces, and seveagbi
manufacturers, including Motorola, Microsoft, Delknovo, Blackberry and HTC continue to releasemtive products each year. The invisible SHIEL Bhie
ideal device protection offering for all types dddgets, in particular touckereen devices, as it does not interfere with thretfonality of the device whi
offering complete scratchproof protection. Our kegtal product line is ideal for tablet and smartghasers as the product line includes keyboardsatteabot|
device specific and device agnostic, which are adibfe with many tablet and smart phone devicesddition our ZAGGaudio and iFrogz Audio produciek
offer excellent enhancement to any mobile device. Will continue to focus our marketing and innowatiefforts around these types of product solutitwad
protect and enhance mobile devices.

On April 7, 2011, we partnered with Logitech on th&GGmate product and renamed it the Logitech KeybdCase by ZAGG. Under the partnership
Logitech, we received a royalty payment for alltarsiold. Currently, we have not entered into amyilar arrangements for any other products.

As of the date of this report, we have not partdemith any manufacturers of electronic devices tadie our products with such devices on initiabsalr tc
include as part of the device, the application wf products. In the future, we may seek such amngement or an alternative omarketing agreement, but
have not entered into definitive negotiations factsan arrangement at this time.

Market Segments

With over 6,000 invisibleSHIELD products/producinfigurations available, we have a protective cavgffior all major market segments of handheld ebet
devices, including: smart phones and cell photadets, MP3 players, notebook computers, laptgasing devices, GPS devices, watch faces, andas
devices and surfaces. We intend to continue toigord the invisibleSHIELD product for use in nevdgveloped consumer devices. The invisibleSHIELD e
quickly configured, packaged, and shipped to custsnfor new devices as they enter the consumeratpaice, making the invisibleSHIELD available
purchase at the time of or within days of the l&uo€new electronic devices. In addition, the reéeaf the invisibleSHIELD On Demand in 2014 will keait
possible for retailers to have an invisibleSHIELEitable on the launch date for all device releases
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One of the fastest growing market segments isghket and smartphone segment. Most often, smarégphod tablet buyers are drawn to these devicehdi
elegant design, as well as their easy-to-use fonality. However, everyday use often mars the firiéthe devicesscreen and other areas that receive wee
tear. The invisibleSHIELD and iFrogz cases offecadbent device protection, while not impeding tbenfi or functionality of the smart phones and tahlahd d
not inhibit the touch sensitivity for smartphonew aablets with touch screen technology. Further, keeyboard line provides a professional and intioe
solution to effectively interact with tablets amdartphones.

As sales of electronics continue to grow, we apét2 that sales of our complementary accessoryuptedavill continue to grow, as well. Three of tlaedes
areas of our market opportunities relate to safeésldets, smart phones, and MP3 players. Accgrdinpublic filings, over 74.2 million iPads, 153xillion
iPhones, and 29.7 million iPods were sold by Aghleing 2013. In addition, industry sources projbett the worldwide global accessories market indreas
from an estimated $44.0 billion revenue industryirty 2013 to an estimated $60.0 billion industry2®16. Management believes that ZAGG is positioto
serve market needs within this industry with ourtiple products lines that include device protegfikeyboards and keyboard cases, audio, mobile pame
protective cases.

Marketing and Distribution

Domestically, we sell our products on our websiteshig box electronics retailers, to distributaasd to franchisees that own and operate kiosksZ#@G
branded stores in shopping malls and retail cenlier@ddition, our products are available for satgldwide via our websites and through retailers distributer
we have partnered with from our subsidiary in Slwmrreland. Currently we advertise our producisprily on the Internet, through magazine ads, ugh
print advertisements in conjunction with our refaktners, and through point of sale displays taiiir®cations. We intend to strategically expand advertisin
activities in 2014, particularly through intera&idisplays within retailers. We are also seekingriate strategic partnerships with makers of kzllphon:
devices, electronic accessories, and mobile copteniders to enhance our product offerings.

Indirect Channels

We sell our products through indirect channelsudtig big box retailers, domestic and internatiodestributors, independent Apple retailers, uniitg
bookstores, and small independently owned conseleetronics stores. For the year ended Decembet®B, we sold approximately $186.5 million of puot
through these indirect channels, or approximat&8e &f our overall net sales for 2013. We requimirict channel partners to enter into a reselleeemer
with us.

We continue to sell directly to retailers or thrbugjstributors to market and place our productssfde in the United States and abroad. We haveeshtetc
distribution agreements with partners throughoetworld for the marketing, distribution and saleoaf products.

Website Sales

We sell our products worldwide directly to consusen our websites at www.ZAGG.coamd www.iFrogz.com For the year ended December 31, 2012
sold approximately $19.2 million of product on auebsite, or approximately 9% of our overall neesabr 2013. The URLs are included here as inatéixtia
references. Information contained on, or accessisteugh, our websites are not part of, and areinmairporated by reference into, this Annual Report~orn
10-K.

Mall Kiosk Vendors

We sell our products to franchisees that operate kiosks and GAGanded stores in shopping malls and retail cent&e enter into agreements with tf
franchisees who then purchase the products antl tleme to consumers. For the year ended Decemhe2(®L3, we sold approximately $13.7 million of guot
or approximately 6% of our overall net sales fot20through our corporate owned mall carts andandhisees. Third party franchisees are requaeshter int
a standard franchise agreement with us whereinhagge an ugront fee that is recognized into revenue ovetlifiesof the license. For the year ended Decel
31, 2013, we recognized $0.2 million in net satdated to these agreements.

Company Organization

Our operations are divided into two operating ggougAGG Domestic, which serves customers in thaddrStates and Canada, and ZAGG Internationakh
serves customers throughout the rest of the wBidth ZAGG Domestic and ZAGG International are oigad with the following functional departments:es
marketing, eCommerce, operations, product developrard management, and general and administratioctibns. Although ZAGG Domestic and ZA(
International operated in different locations, fireduct offerings are the same, as are the manuéast distribution channels, and type of custoriibese ar
among the reasons we consider ZAGG Domestic and@A@ernational a single reporting segment underddBerally accepted accounting principles§*
GAAP").
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Warranties

We offer a lifetime guaranty of the durability ofiro invisibleSHIELD products. If the invisibleSHIELD isver scratched or damaged (in the course of ni
use), a customer simply needs to return the oldymband we will replace it for free. The produtdswhich the invisibleSHIELD is applied typicallyate
relatively short lives, which helps to limit ourosure for warranty claims. For products that amntlectronic components, the Company offers ayeee
manufacturer’'s warranty should the product ceadertction properly during the first year.

Intellectual Property Rights

ZAGG, through its whollypwned subsidiary, ZAGG Intellectual Property Holgli@ompany, Inc., owns utility and design patentsh@ U.S. and in variol
foreign countries which correspond to a numberwfgroducts, including patents with claims focusectertain features of ZAG&invisibleSHIELD protectiv
films for electronic devices. ZAGG continues tdiaely pursue further protection for its invisibldEELD protective films and associated methods m thitec
States and in foreign countries, having filed paggplications for (i) both wet and dry applicatiprocesses for securing protective films to consuetectroni
devices; (ii) dry-application protective films; arfiii) on-demand production of electronic device accessomesuding films. In addition, ZAGG has fils
applications, and in some instances secured pafenta variety of its protective cases and keytdgaoducts. ZAGG has additional patents pendinipénU.S
and internationally for a variety of current angbegted products.

ZAGG owns more than 6,000 invisibleSHIELD proteetfilm designs for protecting a variety of consurakctronic devices. New designs are routinely ddd
ZAGG'’s portfolio to accommodate the newest eledtralevices on the market.

Additionally and as described in detail below, ZA@3he owner of numerous trademarks for use imeotion with its goods and services. ZAGG hagl
formal applications for a variety of trademarksd d&ras further secured trademark registrations famyhof its trademarks in both the U.S. and in fpmetountries

ZAGG has strategically developed relationships aftdn exclusive agreements with a number of thiadtypvendors and suppliers. ZAGG’s loagnding
relationship with its raw material suppliers ansl hanufacturers expands the scope of potentidlgateal property protection available to ZAGG, lumting
development of innovative solutions for protectfilms. These exclusive relationships also provideaG with a reasonable expectation that it will xeatc
supply customers with products long into the future

ZAGG regularly files patent and trademark applimasi to protect its inventions, designs and tradkmaihile ZAGG believes that the ownership of ilgefua
property is important to its business, and thasitscess is based in part upon the ownership elléotual property rights, ZAGG’success is also based u
creative product solutions, establishing the prefébrand among both retailers and consumers,aagdted global distribution.

Patents
ZAGG is the owner of the following U.S. Patents.

e U.S. Pat. No. 7,957,524, titldrotective Covering for an Electronic Devic&his patent provides ZAGG with exclusive pateghts in the field of
protective coverings and systems and methods feerotg mobile electronic devices with thin proteetfilms. (This patent was the subject of a
reexamination proceeding before the United Stasesr? and Trademark Office. An Inter Partes Reeratitn Certificate issued on September 4, 2013
under number US 7,957,524 C

e U.S. Pat. No. 7,389,869 titlddisplay Protective Film Application KjtU.S. Patent No. 7,784,610 titl®dotective Film Application Kit and Methgdand
U.S. Pat. No. 8567596 titlgelectronic Device Protective Film Application Kihé Method These patents provide ZAGG with exclusive patightts in
the field of protective film kits and methods fqupdying protective films to mobile electronic deegc

e U.S. Pat. No. 8,599,542, titléebmbined Cover, Keyboard and Stand for Tablet Caerpith Reversible Connection for Keyboard and dveg
Configuration.

e U.S. Patent No. D692,015, titliKeyboard with Slot for Supporting a Portable Electic Device.

e U.S. Patent No. D692,014, titliHousing of a Keyboard for Portable Electronic Deas.

e U.S. Patent No. D691,999, titl&lement of a Keyboard for Supporting a Portableciienic Device in an Inclined or at Least Partiallipright
Orientation Relative to the Keyboa.

e U.S. Patent No. D687,418, titkEarbud.

e U.S. Patent No. D682,274, titlKeyboard.
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U.S. Patent No.
U.S. Patent No.
U.S. Patent No.
U.S. Patent No.
U.S. Patent No.
U.S. Patent No.
U.S. Patent No.
U.S. Patent No.
U.S. Patent No.
U.S. Patent No.

D681,620, titlProtective Mobile Telephone Ca.

D678,885, titkSupport Structure for Portable Electronic Dev.

D607,875 titiHeadset with Earphones Configured for Connectiokleztronic Device.
D676,031, titlProtective Cover for a Mobile Computing Devi

D656,134, titlAntenna Insulator for Mobile Telephone Ed.

D659,139, titlProtective Cover, Including Keyboard, for Mobiler@puting Device.
D672,352, titkSupport Element of a Protective Cover for a Mokitemputing Device
D671,541, titliKeyboard for Portable Electronic Devic

D673,574, titlPortable Keyboard

D676,853, titlSupport for Portable Electronic Devic

ZAGG has additional pending U.S. and foreign desiga utility patent applications with subject mat&ected toward a variety of its innovations,litting
protective film products, keyboard products, speg@keducts and mobile electronic game controll&@sme of these applications have not yet published.

Trademarks

ZAGG is the owner of the following U.S. trademanksiich are registered in the U.S. Patent and Trade®ffice.

Shield Design, Reg. No. 3,923,3

INVISIBLE SHIELD, Reg. No. 3,825,45

ZAGG, Reg. No. 3,838,232

EARPOLLUTION, Reg. No. 3,744,4(C

MYFROGZ, Reg. No. 3,813,7%

IFROGZ, Reg. No. 3,309,3:

SHIELDZONE, Reg. No. 4,096,4

ZAGGMATE, Reg. No. 4,128,44

ZAGGFOLIO, Reg. No. 4,128,44

ZAGG, Reg. No. 4,137,5¢

INVISIBLE SHIELD, Reg. No. 4,140,98

IFROGZ, Reg. No. 4,122 ,4¢

IFROGZ (and design), Reg. No. 4,126,
EARPOLLUTION, Reg. No. 4,122,4%

LUXE, Reg. No. 4,129,35

ZAGGKEYS, Reg. No. 4,193,64

FLEX, Reg. No. 4,193,65

ZAGGKEYS FLEX, Reg. No. 4,193,6¢

MILITARY GRADE (and design), Reg. No. 4,197,5
NANO-MEMORY TECHNOLOGY (and design), Reg. No. 4,197t
SHIELDZONE, Reg. No. 4,197,8(

STICK IT TO YOUR DEVICE, Reg. No. 4,203,7:
ZAGGSPARQ, Reg. No. 4,217,9

ZAGG, Reg. No. 4,258,123

ZAGG (and design), Reg. No. 4,264,¢
EARPOLLUTION (and design), Reg. No. 4,267,2
Frog Design, Reg. No. 4,122,4

Soundwave Design, Reg. No. 4,139,

360° SCREEN SECURITY (and design), Reg. No. 4,304

ZAGG has filed the following U.S. Trademark Applicms, which are pending in the U.S. Patent andi@maark Office.

ORIGIN, App. No. 85/762,57
ANIMATONE, App. No. 85/687,97!
CALIBER, App. No. 85/734,81
ZAGG (stylized), App. No. 86/120,07
Triangle design, App. No. 86/120,1
YOUR BEST FIT, App. No. 86/140,8¢
TADPOLE, App. No. 86/155,45
RHYTHMIX, App. No. 86/157,97:
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Many of the U.S. registered trademarks listed akareealso pending or registered in one or moréheffvllowing foreign jurisdictions. Argentina, Awalia,
Brazil, Canada, Chile, China, Colombia, Europeam@uinity, Hong Kong, India, Indonesia, Israel, Japdaxico, New Zealand, Norway, Russian Federa
South Korea, Switzerland, Thailand, Turkey and \Zzeieda.

ZAGG also claims common law trademark rights in thé. to each of the trademarks listed above a$ ageto the following marks: SHIELD SPRA
ZAGGFOAM, ZAGGWIPES, ZAGG AUDIO, SPARQ, ZAGGSMARTHDS, SPORTLEATHER, ZAGGBAG DIVIDE, REFLECTIVE ACOUSCS, ZRSIX,
ZR-T, ZR-LE, CODA POP and BOOST.

Employees

We have 137 full-time employees and 64 gane employees (total of 201), including our marmagat team. 186 of our employees are located irJthieec
States and support the operations of ZAGG Domestide there are 15 employees located in Irelarsifgport our ZAGG International operations. No esypt
is represented by a labor union, and we have raifégred an interruption of business caused byrldisputes. We believe our relationship with ouptogees i
good.

Our Corporate History

We were formed as a Nevada corporation on Apr294, under the name Amerasia Khan Enterpriseg“B8idE”). On February 8, 2007, AKE executec
Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreer)elby and between AKE and its wholly owned subsidi&¥C Acquisition, Inc., a Nevada corpora
(“Subsidiary”) on the one hand, and ShieldZone ©aafion, a Utah corporation (“ShieldZonedn the other hand. Pursuant to the Merger Agree
ShieldZone merged with Subsidiary, with ShieldZsneviving the merger and Subsidiary ceasing tot€ttie “Merger”).

Following the Merger, ShieldZone was reincorporateNevada as a subsidiary of AKE. On March 7, 20HhieldZone was merged into AKE and AKE char
its name to ZAGG Incorporated. As a result of thiegaesactions, the historical financial statemafit8AGG Incorporated are the historical financitdtement
of ShieldZone. The Company’s fiscal year end isddelger 31.

We changed our name from ShieldZone CorporatiabA6G Incorporated (later to ZAGG Inc) to better pios the Company to become a large enterpri
the electronicsaccessories industry through organic growth angetaed acquisitions. The ShieldZone name was vegific to the invisibleSHIELD produ
line, and although the invisibleSHIELD® a core product, the name change has enabled mere easily add new products to our product mffe. During
2011, we changed our name from ZAGG Incorporateti®6G Inc.

On June 21, 2011, ZAGG acquired iFrogz, which fartliversified the existing ZAGG product line, peutarly for audio and protective case accessariete
the EarPollution and iFrogz brand names.

ZAGG will continue to search out complimentary peovyroducts and companies that fit the ZAGG grosttategy.
Seasonal Business

The Company has historically experienced increastdsales in its fourth fiscal quarter comparedatter quarters in its fiscal year due to increaselitay
seasonal demand. This historical pattern shouldeabnsidered a reliable indicator of the Compsifiyture sales or financial performance.

In addition, the Company has historically been fpgedy impacted near the time of major device lehex by Apple and Samsung. We expect major d
launches to continue to positively impact our opiers during 2014 and beyond.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Because of the following factors, as well as ofaetors affecting the Comparsy/financial condition and operating results, pasiricial performance should |
be considered to be a reliable indicator of fupegormance, and investors should not use histdrieads to anticipate results or trends in fujpeeiods.

Risks Related to our Financial Conditio

If we are unable to maintain our line of credit fadlity, we could face a deficiency in our short termcash needs that would negatively impact our busiss.

10
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On December 20, 2013, the Company and Wells FaagikBNational Association (“Wells Fargo”), enteiatb the First Amendment to Credit Agreement
(“Amendment”), which modified the original Credigheement entered into between the Company and Waitso on December 7, 2012 (“Credit Agreement”).

The Amendment retained the $60.0 million revolviimg of credit (“Line of Credit")and extended the maturity date from December 14 261December
2015. At the time of the Amendment, the $18.0 willoutstanding on the original $24.0 million teroah was paid in full utilizing proceeds from then&io
Credit. In addition, the Line of Credit includesester of credit sulfeature that allows the Company to issue standbyneercial letters of credit against the L
of Credit, not to exceed at any time an aggregb#s® million. As of December 31, 2013, the tdialance outstanding on the line of credit was $iilBon.

Attached to the Credit Agreement are a nhumbernaficial and notfinancial debt covenants. If we are not compliaithwhe covenants, Wells Fargo may de
to limit our ability to access the Line of Credit. such event, our shomrm cash requirements may exceed available castam resulting in material adve
consequences to our business.

The restrictive covenants contained in our Credit Areement may limit our activities.

Our obligations under the Credit Agreement are tby all or substantially all of the Company’sets and the majority of the equity in foreign sdiasies.
Under the Credit Agreement we are subject to sigeciffirmative covenants customary for loans a$ tiype, including but not limited to the obligatm tc
maintain adequate accounting records in accordasitbeUS GAAP; preserve and maintain all licensgegmits, and other governmental compliance; mai
adequate insurance; ensure facilities are kepbv@d gepair; maintain our principal depository bagkount with Wells Fargo; provide various noticeghe Well:
Fargo; and deliver financial statements to WellgbaWe are also subject to certain negative cawsnaustomary for loans of this type, including bat limitec
to prohibitions against certain mergers and actjois, pledging assets collateralized under thali€Agreement, making financial or other guaranteestair
management and ownership changes, the impositiaddifional liens on collateral or other of ouretssand prohibitions against additional indebtsdne

Failure to comply with the restrictive covenant®ir term loan could accelerate the repayment pidabt outstanding under the Credit Agreement. Aaluilly,
as a result of these restrictive covenants, we lneagt a disadvantage compared to our competitat$ttve greater operating and financing flexibilitgn we dc

Our level of indebtedness reduces our financial flébility and could impede our ability to operate.

The Credit Agreement requires us to pay a variadte of interest, which will increase or decreaased on variations in LIBOR. Additionally, fluctits ir
interest rates can significantly decrease our {&df/e do not have any hedge or similar contrdeswould protect us against changes in interéssra

The amount of our indebtedness could have impodamsequences for us, including the following:

« requiring us to dedicate a substantial portion wf cash flow from operations to make payments andetlt, thereby reducing funds available
operations, future business opportunities and gthgvoses

limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reaatig to, changes in our business and the industmhinh we operate

making it more difficult for us to satisfy our detibligations, as any failure to comply with suchigdtions, including financial and other restri@
covenants, could result in an event of default urtie Credit Agreement, which could lead to, amatiger things, an acceleration of
indebtedness or foreclosure of the collateral, tvlciould have a material adverse effect on our lessior financial conditior

limiting our ability to borrow additional funds, do sell assets to raise funds, if needed, for wagrlcapital, capital expenditures, acquisition
other purposes; ar

increasing our vulnerability to general adversenecoic and industry conditions, including changemterest rates

We may not generate sufficient cash flow from opers to service and repay our debt and relateatdns and have sufficient remaining funds toiewed ol
sustain profitability in our operations, meet ouorking capital and capital expenditure needs or et successfully in our industry, which would ha
material adverse effect on our operations. As afdbeber 31, 2013, the variable interest rate ortanuing debt was 1.0%.

Risks Related to our Company and Busine

Because sales of consumer electronic accessories dependent on new products, product development drconsumer acceptance, we could experier
sharp decreases in our sales and profit margin if eare unable to continually introduce new productsnd achieve consumer acceptance.

11
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The consumer and mobile electronics accessory indssre subject to constant and rapidly changomsumer preferences based on performance feamc
industry trends. We generate all of our sales foormconsumer and mobile electronics accessoridaédss We cannot assure you that we will be abtgduar the
revenues of our business or maintain profitabil@ur consumer accessories business depends, rigeaetetent, on the introduction and availabilityirmiovative
products and technologies. We believe that owréusuccess depends in large part upon our abilignhance our existing products and to develdmduace
and market new products and improvements to owstiagi products.

However, if we are not able to continually innovated introduce new products that achieve consustEpgance, our sales and profit margins may dedbs
revenues and profitability will depend on our dbilio maintain existing and generate additionatamers and develop new products. A reduction inatehfo
our existing products would have a material advefsect on our business. The sustainability of entrevels of our business and the future growtlsuaft
revenues, if any, depends on, among other factors:

the overall performance of the economy and dismnetiy consumer spendir
competition within key market

continued customer acceptable of our prodt

customer acceptance of newly developed productk

the demand for other products and servi

We cannot provide assurance that we will maintaiimerease our current level of revenues or prafifsiture periods.

While we are pursuing and will continue to pursuedpict development opportunities, there can be ssurance that such products will come to fruitio
become successful. Furthermore, while a numbehase products are being tested, we cannot provigedefinite date by which they will be commercii
available or financially viable. We may experiergrational problems with such products after conefakintroduction that could delay or defeat thdity of
such products to generate revenue or operatingtpréiiture operational problems could increasecaosts, delay our plans or adversely affect ountagfon o
our sales of other products which, in turn, coddéha material adverse effect on our success anabidlity to satisfy our obligations. We cannot gt which o
the many possible future products will meet evavimdustry standards and consumer demands. We tprowade assurance that we will be able to adauct
technological changes, offer such products on alyithasis or establish or maintain a competitiveitpm.

Because we face intense competition, including cowtition from companies with significantly greater resources than ours, if we are unable to compe
effectively with these companies, our market sharmay decline and our business could be harmed.

Our market is highly competitive with numerous catifers. Some of our competitors may have substiytjreater financial, technical, marketing, aritien
resources than we possess, which may afford thenpetitive advantages over us. As a result, ourpaiitors may introduce products that have advastage
our products in terms of features, functionalitase of use, and revenue producing potential. Thay atso have more fully developed sales channe
consumer sales including large retail seller areaments and international distribution capabilitiesaddition, new companies may enter the marketshich we
compete, further increasing competition in the comsr electronics accessories industry. Increasetpetition may result in price reductions, reducedfit
margins, loss of market share and an inabilityénegate cash flows that are sufficient to maintaiexpand our development and marketing of new yrtx
which would adversely impact our financial performoe.

Because we are dependent on third party sources &xquire sufficient quantities of raw materials to poduce our products, any interruption in those
relationships could harm our results of operationsand our revenues.

Our manufacturing partners acquire substantiallpfahe raw materials that we use in our proddicisn a limited number of suppliers. Accordingly, a&n give
no assurance that:

our supplier relationships will continue as prebeint effect,

our suppliers will not become competitc

our suppliers will be able to obtain the componemtsessary to produce h-quality, technologicall-advanced products for L

we will be able to obtain adequate alternativesuosupply sources should they be interrup

if obtained, alternatively sourced products of sfatitory quality would be delivered on a timely ibagompetitively priced, comparably featurec
acceptable to our customers, ¢

= our suppliers will have sufficient financial resoes to fulfill their obligations

Our inability to procure sufficient quality and aquiies of products that are in demand could redueeprofitability and have a material adverse @ffen ou
relationships with our customers. If any of our @igr relationships are terminated or interrupte@, could experience an immediate or Idagn suppl
shortage, which could have a material adverse teffieour business.
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Because we do not internally develop the technolodgr a number of our key products, including the irvisibleSHIELD, the impact of technological
advancements may cause profit margin erosion and &drsely impact our profitability and inventory value.

Because we do not internally develop the technofogy number of our key products, including theisibleSHIELD, we cannot provide assurance thatwik
be able to source technologically advanced produactsder to remain competitive. Furthermore, thidduction or expected introduction of new produai
technologies may depress sales of existing prodamts technologies. This may result in decliningfipnmargins and inventory obsolescence. Becaus
maintain a substantial investment in product inggntdeclining prices and inventory obsolescenceldctiave a material adverse effect on our busiaes
financial results.

Our estimates of excess and obsolete inventory pnaye to be inaccurate, in which case the netzalblé value for excess and obsolete inventory na
understated or overstated. Although we make evifoytéo ensure the accuracy of our forecasts afreiproduct demand, any significant unanticipateange
in demand or technological developments could lzesignificant impact on the value of our inventand operating results.

There can be no guarantee that we will be able topand into additional complementary product lines o to continue to configure our products to matct
new products or devices.

Although we anticipate expanding into additionaigdementary product lines to provide support to stuategy to provide creative product solutionsnimbile
device users, there can be no guarantee that wéevduccessful in innovating and expanding intditaahal product lines. Numerous factors, includmgrke
acceptance, finding and retaining contract parttieasare acceptable to ZAGG, and general markéaonomic conditions, could prevent us from pgoditing
in these complementary product lines, which coindt lour ability to implement our business strategy

Similarly, although we intend to continue to config the invisibleSHIELD, keyboards, audio produc@ases, and other product lines for new product
devices, there can be no guarantee that we wilhtbe to either match the demand for our productseasdevices and products are introduced, or thiathaser
of such devices and products will want to purchaseproducts for use in connection with them. Amgitation in our ability to match demand or gain ke
acceptance of our products in connection with newiaks and products could have a material advéiset en our business.

If we fail to maintain proper inventory levels, our business could be harmed.

We produce our key products prior to the time weeiee customergurchase orders. We do this to minimize purchasoggs, the time necessary to fill custo
orders, and the risk of naelivery. However, we may be unable to sell thedpots we have produced in advance. Inventory lemedxcess of customer demi
may result in inventory writelowns, and the sale of excess inventory at diseaupttices could significantly impair our brand ireeand have a material adve
effect on our operating results and financial cbadi Conversely, if we underestimate demand farmuducts or if we fail to produce the quality gucts the
we require at the time we need them, we may expegienventory shortages. Inventory shortages mitgtay shipments to customers, negatively imr
distributor relationships, and diminish brand ldayal

Mobile electronic devices typically have relativediiort life cycles. We may be left with obsoletedntory if we do not accurately project the lifeckey of
different mobile electronic devices. The chargesmaimted with reserving slomoving or obsolete inventory as a result of nouaately estimating the useful |
of mobile electronics could negatively impact tlzue of our inventory and operating results.

As we continue to grow our business, increased salt® indirect retail customers may put pressure olur gross profit margins.

Sales of products through indirect retail custontgpgcally result in increased sales volume, bubeter margins than sales directly to end customede on ot
websites. As the Company expands and continuesote gxisting relationships with indirect customdrgreases in sales to our indirect customersylikéll
adversely impact our gross profit margins. Accogtlinthere is no assurance that we will continueettmgnize similar gross profit margins in the fetto thos
currently being realized.

As we continue to grow our business, entrance inteew and complimentary product lines may put pressug on our gross profit margins.

We anticipate expanding into additional complementaoduct lines to provide support to our stratégyprovide creative product solutions to mobilevide

users. However, there can be no guarantee that shlgroducts through new product lines will ocatiror above the gross profit margins we have hisitly
realized. Accordingly, there is no assurance tratill continue to recognize similar gross profiamins in the future to those currently being wadi
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The Company has contractual rights customary in theéndustry to use its Internet addresses, but if thee rights were lost, the loss could have a material
effect on the Company’s financial position and redts from operations.

The Company has protected the right to use itsrieteaddresses to the extent possible, and the @omgoes not expect to lose its rights to use tiberrie
addresses. However, there can be no assurartus egard, and such loss could have a materiaradweffect on the Compasyfinancial position and results
operations.

Because we are dependent for our success on key aieve officers, our inability to retain these offcers would impede our business plan and grow
strategies, which would have a negative impact oruobusiness and the value of your investment.

Our success depends on the skills, experience enfiormance of key members of our management tealmdimg Randy Hales, our President and CEO; Bra
T. O’'Brien, our CFO; and Jason Schwartz, our COO. Algihowe have employment agreements with these ingiig were we to lose one or more of these
executive officers, we would be forced to expenghiicant time and money in the pursuit of a replaent, which would result in both a delay in
implementation of our business plan and the dieersif working capital. We can provide no assurahe¢ we could find satisfactory replacements fasthke
executive officers at all, or on terms that woudt he unduly expensive or burdensome to the Compaltlyough we routinely issue equibased compensati
to attract and retain employees, such incentivesmoabe sufficient to attract and retain key parss.

Two of our retailers, Best Buy and Walmart, accountfor a significant amount of our net sales, and théss of, or reduced purchases from, these or otf
retailers could have a material adverse effect onup operating results.

In 2013, Best Buy and Walmart accounted for 26% E8#b, respectively of our net sales. We do not Hang-term contracts with any of our retailers, incluc
Best Buy and Walmart, and all of our retailers galthe purchase from us on a purchase order basisa fesult, these retailers generally may, wittelibr nc
notice or penalty, cease ordering and selling sadycts, or materially reduce their orders. If agrtretailers, including Best Buy or Walmart, ceas#ing ou
products, slow their rate of purchase of our prégiuar decrease the number of products they puecloas results of operations would be adverselycaéid.

We may be adversely affected by the financial contibn of our retailers and distributors.

Some of our retailers and distributors have expegd financial difficulties in the past. A retailer distributor experiencing such difficulties wijenerally nc
purchase and sell as many of our products as ildvonder normal circumstances and may cancel ardarsddition, a retailer or distributor experierg
financial difficulties generally increases our egpce to uncollectible receivables. We extend credibur retailers and distributors based on ouesssent ¢
their financial condition, generally without reqaiy collateral. While such credit losses have hisgdly been within our estimated reserves forwaHaces fc
bad debts, we cannot assure that this will contioulee the case. Financial difficulties on the pdrbur retailers or distributors could have a mateadvers
effect on our results of operations and financgaddition. As of December 31, 2013, Best Buy andiéat accounted for 44% and 14%, respectively, obaot:
receivable. Both accounts are presently being paittrms satisfactory to us.

If we fail to attract, train and retain sufficient numbers of our qualified personnel, our prospectshusiness, financial condition and results of operains
will be materially and adversely affected.

Our success depends to a significant degree upoahility to attract, retain and motivate skilleddaqualified personnel. Failure to attract andireteecessal
technical personnel, sales and marketing persoandlskilled management could adversely affectbusiness. If we fail to attract, train, and retairfficient
numbers of these highly qualified people, our peasg, business, financial condition, and resultspefrations will be materially and adversely aféelct

If our products contain defects, our reputation cold be harmed and our results of operations adversglaffected.

Some of our products may contain undetected defhatsto imperfections in the underlying base materiused in production or manufacturing defects
occurrence of defects or malfunctions could resufinancial losses for our customers and in tunrcréase warranty claims from our customers andslive o
our resources. Any of these occurrences couldraladt in the loss of or delay in market acceptasfasur products and loss of sales.

Because we experience seasonal and quarterly fluetions in demand for our products, no one quarters indicative of our results of operations for th
entire fiscal year.

Our quarterly results may fluctuate quarter to tpraas a result of market acceptance of our predtoe sales mix, changes in pricing, the timingneéntory
write downs, changes in the cost of materials,ube of airfreight to transport products, the inenoe of other operating costs and factors beyomctauoirol
such as general economic conditions and actioosropetitors. We are also affected by seasonal gugyoles of consumers, such as the holiday seasahth:
introduction of popular consumer electronics, sasta new introduction of products from Apple, SamgsuiHTC, Blackberry, and others. Accordingly, thsult:
of operations in any quarter will not necessardyifdicative of the results that may be achieveaftull fiscal year or any future quarter.

14




Table of Content

Because we have limited protection on the intelleaal property underlying our products, we may not beable to protect our products from the
infringement of others or may be prevented from maketing our products.

We do not own proprietary rights with respect te tfim we use in our invisibleSHIELD products. Howee, we have protected key proprietary design difitht
elements of other products through patents. Intafgliwe own and keep confidential the design aurfitions of the film and the product cut desigsciv are
our copyrights. We seek to protect our intellecpraperty rights through confidentiality agreementth our employees, consultants and partners damaestir
and foreign patent prosecution and similar meamsvé¥er, no assurance can be given that such measiltde sufficient to protect our intellectualoperty
rights or that the intellectual property rightstthage have are sufficient to protect other perssomfcreating and marketing substantially similavdarcts. If wi
cannot protect our rights, we may lose our comipetidvantage. Moreover, if it is determined that products infringe on the intellectual propeiights of thirc
parties, we may be prevented from marketing oudpets.

Claims relating to the infringement of third-pagyoprietary rights, even if not meritorious, coutsbult in costly litigation, divert managemengttention ar
resources, or require us to either enter into tgyal license agreements which are not advantagepus or pay material amounts of damages. Intiad
parties making these claims may be able to obtainjanction, which could prevent us from sellingr @roducts.

We face potential class action and derivative law#ts and other potential liabilities that could mataially adversely impact our business, financie
condition and results of operations.

We have been, are currently, and may in the fulberéhe subject of various lawsuits and proceedihgsSeptember 2012, we and certain of our curagm
former officers and directors were named as defetsdia two putative class action lawsuit3he plaintiffs in the putative class action lawsuitaim that as
result of Robert G. Pedersen's alleged Decembet &Gigin account sales, the defendants initiatedcaession plan to replace Mr. Pedersen as our @Et(
Mr. Hales, but failed to disclose either the sustesplan or Mr. Pedersen's margin account salegplation of Sections 10(b), 14(a), and 20(ajd &EC Rule
10b-5 and 14a-9, under the Securities ExchangeoAtB34, as amended (the “Exchange AcOhn February 7, 2014, the Court entered an ordertigigathe
Company’s motion to dismiss the consolidated compla

Additionally, in December 2012, the first of threleareholder derivative actions was filed againgess# of our current and former officers and dicest Thes
complaints make allegations similar to those preskm the putative class action lawsuits, but thisp assert various state law causes of acticlydimg claim:
for breach of fiduciary duty, waste of corporatseds, unjust enrichment, and insider tradMgnagement is currently assessing the impact sfdécision by tr
court to grant the Company’s motion to dismissghtative class action complaints on the other @gitre lawsuits filed with the same allegations.

In the fourth quarter of 2012, we received requesfgrovide documentation and information to thaffstf the SEC in connection with a npablic investigatio
being conducted by the SECSalt Lake City office. The Company believesithestigation includes a review of the facts andwistances surrounding sc
of the same issues raised by the plaintiffs inaheve lawsuits; specifically, whether the Compaailedl to disclose Mr. Pedersen's margin accouessal th
alleged existence of a plan to have Mr. Hales seatddr. Pedersen as our CEO. The Company respdndbdse requests and is cooperating fully withsttaéf.
The SEC investigation into the matter is ongoind @e are unable to assess or quantify with anyaicaytthe outcome, timing or potential costs.

See "ltem 3:egal Proceedings" for more information about theséters. In defending and ultimately resolvingsthenatters, we may be required to pay amt
in excess of any insurance, divert managemengsitaih from the operation of our business or chamgebusiness practices, any of which could mdtg
adversely affect our business, financial conditr@sults of operations, liquidity and, consequerttlg trading price of our common stock.

The current economy is affecting consumer spendingatterns, which could adversely affect our business

Consumer spending patterns, especially discretyospending for products such as mobile, consumdrameessory electronics, are affected by, amoner
things, prevailing economic conditions, energy spsiw material costs, wage rates, inflation, ggerates, consumer debt, consumer confidence amslime
perception of economic conditions. A general slowdadn the U.S. and certain international economiesan uncertain economic outlook could have a ra
adverse effect on our sales and operating results.

The disruptions in the national and internatior@r®mies since 2008 and the related uncertaimiesmiémployment are depressing consumer confidemd

spending. If such conditions persist, consumer dipgnwill likely decline further and this would hevan adverse effect on our business and our resi
operations.
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If we are unable to effectively manage our growthour operating results and financial condition willbe adversely affected.

We intend to return our business to growth by erpanour sales and product development organizatidny growth in or expansion of our businesskslii tc
place a strain on our management and administregs@urces, infrastructure, and information systeksswith other growing businesses, we expect weatvill
need to refine and expand our business developoagatbilities, our systems and processes, and @esado financing sources. We also will need te,hiain
supervise, and manage new employees. These pre@sséme consuming and expensive, will increaaaagement responsibilities and will divert managa
attention. We provide assurance that we will be &bl

expand our systems effectively or efficiently omitimely manner

allocate our human resources optims

meet our capital need

identify and hire qualified employees or retainuead employees; ¢

incorporate effectively the components of any besénor product line that we may acquire in ourreffoachieve growtt

If our competitors misappropriate our proprietary k now-how and trade secrets, it could have a materi@dverse effect on our business.

We depend heavily on the expertise of our produstetbpment team. If any of our competitors copiesotherwise gains access to similar prod
independently, we might not be able to competeffastevely. The measures we take to protect ouigiessmay not be adequate to prevent their unazbdnse
Further, the laws of foreign countries may provittedequate protection of such intellectual propegiits. We have brought and in the future may rteduting
legal claims to enforce or protect such intellectmaperty rights. Any litigation, whether succadsbr unsuccessful, could result in substantialtsa@nc
diversions of resources.

If any of our facilities were to experience catastphic loss, our operations would be seriously harnge

Our facilities could be subject to a catastroploissl from fire, flood, earthquake, or terrorist @tgi Our activities, including sales and marketirgistome
service, finance, and other critical business d®ra are in two locations. Our manufacturing aogidtics activities are conducted at other faeitsepara
from our corporate headquarters. Any catastropiss ht these facilities could disrupt our operatatelay production and revenue, and result irelagenses
repair or replace the facility. While we have ob&al insurance to cover most potential losses, waatgprovide assurance that our existing insuraoserag
will be adequate against all other possible losses.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of intenal control over financial reporting, we may not beable to accurately report our financial results, ad
current and potential stockholders may lose confidece in our financial reporting.

We are required to establish and maintain adegugenal control over financial reporting that prdes reasonable assurance regarding the reliabiligu
financial reporting and the preparation of finah@tatements in accordance with US GAAP. We arewike required, on an annual basis, to evalual
effectiveness of our internal controls and to diselon a quarterly basis any material changeosetmternal controls.

Any failure to maintain and continue to improve anternal controls could adversely impact our &pito report our financial results on a timely acturat
basis. If our financial statements are not accutiateestors may not have a complete understandinguo operations or may lose confidence in our rgo
financial information. Likewise, if our financiatatements are not filed on a timely basis as requiry the SEC and The Nasdaqg Global Market, wedcfade
severe consequences from those authorities. lareise, it could result in a material adverseceff@ our business or have a negative effect otrétteng pric
of our common stock.

Because we distribute products internationally, eawomic, political and, other risks associated with or international sales and operations could adverdg
affect our operating results.

Because we sell our products worldwide, our busiesubject to risks associated with doing busineternationally. Our sales to customers outdigelnitec
States accounted for approximately 10% of our aletssin fiscal 2013. Accordingly, our future resudbuld be harmed by a variety of factors, inclgdin

changes in foreign currency exchange re

exchange controls

changes in regulatory requiremer

changes in a specific country's or region's palitar economic condition:

tariffs, other trade protection measures and impoexport licensing requiremen
potentially negative consequences from changesxitatvs or application of such tax lav
difficulty in staffing and managing widespread axt@ns;
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= changing labor regulation

* requirements relating to withholding taxes on résmites and other payments by subsidia

= different regimes controlling the protection of antellectual property

= restrictions on our ability to own or operate sdizmies, make investments or acquire new businésgesse jurisdictions; ar
= restrictions on our ability to repatriate dividerfd@m our subsidiaries

Our international operations are affected by gl@zanomic and political conditions, only some ofiehhare described above. Changes in economic ldicpt
conditions in any of the countries in which we @tercould result in exchange rate movement, newegay or exchange controls or other restrictionagd
imposed on our operations. We cannot provide asserthat such changes will not have an adverseteff our foreign operations and our financialiitss
There can be no guarantee that additional amountspgnt on marketing or advertising will result in additional sales or revenue to the Company.

In 2014, management intends to expand our advegtisith more interactive displays within retailers and to continue marketing efforts relating to existi
products and potential new product introductioR®wever, there can be no guarantee that such isedeadvertising or marketing efforts and strategiik
result in increased sales.

Risks Related to the Compa’'s Securities

Because the price of our common stock has been, anty continue to be, volatile, our shareholders magot be able to resell shares of our common stc
at or above the price paid for such shares.

The price for shares of our common stock has etddbiigh levels of volatility with significant vatme and price fluctuations, which may make our commo
stock unsuitable for some investors. For examplethfe two years ended December 31, 2013, thengjgsice of our common stock ranged from a high of
$13.03 to a low of $3.67 per share. At times, thetfiations in the price of our common stock mayehbeen unrelated to our operating performance pfice of
our common stock may also have been influenced by:

fluctuations in our results of operations or thermpions of our competitors or custome

the aggregate amount of our outstanding debt arcépions about our ability to make debt servicgnpents;
failure of our results of operations and sales mees to meet the expectations of stock market atsa#ynd investor:
perceived reductions in demand or expectationsdé@uysfuture demand by our custome

changes in stock market analyst recommendatiorssdag us, our competitors or our custom

the timing and announcements of product innovatinew products or financial results by us or ounpetitors;
the acquisition of the debt facilitie

the departure of ZAGG directors or executi\

increases in the number of shares of our commark stotstanding; an

changes in our industr

Based on the above, our stock price may continwexperience volatility. Therefore, we cannot gusarthat our investors will be able to resell comeor
stock at or above the price at which they purchésed

Because we may, at some time in the future, issudditional securities, shareholders are subject toitition of their ownership.

Although we have no immediate plans to raise aoluti capital, we may at some time in the futuresdoAny such issuance would likely dilute sharebwdd
ownership interest in our company and may havedserae impact on the price of our common stockaddition, from time to time we may issue share
common stock in connection with equity financingidties or as incentives to our employees and iegs partners. We may expand the number of ¢
available under stock incentive and option plamsreate new plans. All issuances of common stoclldvbe dilutive to an existing investsrholdings in th
Company. If an investes’ holdings are diluted, the overall value of tharsk may be diminished and the ability to influesbareholder voting will also
harmed.

Because we do not expect to pay dividends for theréseeable future, investors seeking cash dividendsll not purchase our common stock.

We currently intend to retain any future earningstipport the development and expansion of oumkssiand do not anticipate paying cash dividendbe
foreseeable future. Our payment of any future dinds will be at the discretion of our board of dices after taking into account various factorsjuding bu
not limited to our financial condition, operatingsults, cash needs, growth plans and the termsyofradit agreements that we may be a party theatie. It
addition, our ability to pay dividends on our commstock may be limited by state law. Accordinglyyestors must rely on sales of their common stdtek
price appreciation, which may not occur in the fafas the only way to realize their investment.
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Techniques employed by short sellers may drive dowthe market price of the Company’s common stock.

Short selling is the practice of selling securitibat the seller does not own, but rather has l@dofrom a third party with the intention of buyindentica
securities back at a later date to return to thdde The short seller hopes to profit from a decin the value of the securities between the afalke borrowe
securities and the purchase of the replacemeneshas the short seller expects to pay less irptirahase than it received in the sale. As it ihéshort selleg’
best interests for the price of the stock to deglmany short sellers publish, or arrange for thiglipation of, negative opinions regarding the vale issuer ar
its business prospects in order to create negatarket momentum and generate profits for themsedftes selling a stock short. These short attaekeehin th
past, led to selling of shares in the market.

In the past several years, our securities have teesubject of short selling. Reports and infoiarahave been published about ZAGG which the Comy
believes are mischaracterized or incorrect, anglvhave occasionally been followed by a declineunstock price.

It is not clear what additional effects the negatpublicity will have on the Company, if any, otltkan potentially affecting the market price of @ammot
stock. If the Company continues to be the subjécinfavorable allegations, the Company may havexigend a significant amount of resources to ingas
such allegations and/or defend itself. While then@any would strongly defend against any such sseliér attacks, the Company may be constrainetie
manner in which it can proceed against the releshntt seller by principles of freedom of speegipliaable state law, or issues of commercial carftéhlity.
Such a situation could be costly and time-consumamgl could distract the Compaayhanagement from growing the Company. Additionalych allegatior
against the Company could negatively impact itsrass operations and stockholders equity, and &heevof any investment in the Compasgtock could k
reduced.

ITEM 1B . UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Real Property (dollar amounts in thousands)

Our principal executive offices facilities are amtly located in approximately 57,000 square féetffice and warehouse space located at 3855 SER@HWVes!
Suites B, C, D, |, J, K, L, M, N, O, P, Q, R andS3|t Lake City, Utah 84115. In 2013, we addeditamthl office space to the master lease agreem@rering
all of the suites that expires July 31, 2017, atraight line monthly lease rate of $39. We atsask kiosk facilities located at seven mall locetim California
warehouse space in Logan, Utah for the fulfillmeitertain iFrogz orders, and office space in Sbanireland for the office of ZAGG InternationalVe believt
these facilities are adequate for the foreseeaibled.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Certain of the legal proceedings in which we am®ived are discussed in Note 13, "Commitments aowti6gencies," to our Consolidated Financial Statet:
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and are hereloprporated by reference.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable
PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOC KHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES (dollar and share amounts in thousands, excluding average price per share)

On December 10, 2012, our board of directors apgt@vstock repurchase program by unanimous wgtbesent. The stock repurchase program authoriz

Company to make repurchases of $10,000 in the ggtef shares of the Compang@mmon stock over the subsequent 12 months. Thealepses would |
made through the use of a 10b5-1 Plan, which didyaanto place until the beginning of March 2013.
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During March 2013 in nine separate transactions,Gbmpany purchased 797 shares of ZAGG Inc comramk st the prevailing market price for a tota
$5,999, which included processing fees totaling. $24

In addition, during November 2013 in ten differénainsactions, the Company purchased 959 share&®GZnc common stock at the prevailing market pfan
a total of $3,998, which includes processing fdek28.

Period

January - January 31, 201
February } February 28, 201
March 1- March 31, 201!

April 1 — April 30, 2013

May 1- May 31, 201z

June 1-June 30, 201

July 1-July 31, 201z

August 1- August 31, 201:
September — September 30, 201
October 1- October 31, 201
November - November 30, 201
December 1 — December 31, 2013

Total

(©) (d)
Total Number Maximum
of Shares Number of
Purchased as Shares that
Part of May Yet Be
@) Publicly Purchased
Total Number (b) Announced Under the
of Shares Average Price Plans or Plans or
Purchased Paid per Share Programs Programs
797 $ 7.5C 797 822 (1)
95¢ $ 4.14 95¢ - ()
1,75¢ $ 5.6€ 1,75¢€

(1) The maximum number of shares that were able toupehpsed under the repurchase plan as of MarcB®R was determined based on the $4
remaining amount that was authorized for the pwseled ZAGG Inc common stock under the repurchaae ahd the closing stock price on May 6, 2
of $4.86. The actual number of shares that wermately purchased in November 2013 was based om#r&et price of ZAGG Inc common stocl

the time of purchas:

Market Information

Our common stock is currently quoted on The NASD@@bal Market of The NASDAQ Market under the symE#GG. The following table sets forth, -
each full quarterly period within the two most retéscal years, the high and low sales pricesi(ltars per share) of our common stock as repateglioted o

The NASDAQ Capital Market.

2013 Quarter Ended High Low
March 31, 201 $ 787 $ 6.6¢
June 30, 201 $ 7.4 % 4.8€
September 30, 201 $ 5.8¢ $ 4.4t
December 31, 201 $ 49z $ 3.67

2012 Quarter Ended High Low
March 31, 201: $ 11.0¢ $ 7.1¢
June 30, 201 $ 13.0: % 9.94
September 30, 201 $ 1148 $ 7.0C
December 31, 201 $ 897 $ 6.54
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Holders of Common stock

At February 8, 2014, there were approximately 2§istered holders or persons otherwise entitledald bur common shares pursuant to a shareholtlsts’
provided by our transfer agent, Empire Stock TransThe number of registered shareholders excladgsstimate by us of the number of beneficial ensro

common shares held in street name.

Dividends

There are no restrictions in our articles of inawgtion or bylaws that restrict us from declaringdends. The Nevada Revised Statutes, howevepratobit us

from declaring dividends where, after giving effexthe distribution of the dividend:

= we would not be able to pay our debts as they beadue in the usual course of busines:

= our total assets would be less than the sum otaiat liabilities, plus the amount that would besded to satisfy the rights of shareholders who

preferential rights superior to those receivingdistribution.

We have not declared or paid cash dividends orconmmon stock since our inception, and our Boaricéctors currently intends to retain all earnifigsuse
in the business for the foreseeable future. Amyreupayment of dividends to holders of commonlsteitl depend upon our results of operations, ficiah

condition, cash requirements, and other factorsn@eerelevant by our Board of Directors.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans (share amounts in thousands)

Number of
securities
remaining
available for
Number of future
securities to be issuances
issued upon under equity
exercise of compensation
outstanding Weighted- plans
options and average (excluding
vesting of exercise price securities
restricted of outstanding reflected in
Plan Category stock options first column)
Equity compensation plans approved by securitydrs| 79€ $ 3.9¢ 10,62¢
Equity compensation plans not approved by sechutgers — — —
Total 79€ $ 3.9¢ 10,62¢

In 2007, the Company’s board of directors adopted ia 2008 the Company’shareholders approved the ZAGG Incorporated Z0ek Incentive Plan (il
“2007 Plan). The 2007 Plan was amended to increase the numistraoés issuable under the 2007 Plan to 10,000f Becember 31, 2012, there were 6,
shares available for grant under the 2007 Plan.

In January 2013, the Company’s Board of Directalspéed and in June 2013 the Company’s sharehotggnovedhe ZAGG Inc 2013 Equity Incentive Awe
Plan (the “2013 Plan”), a new equity incentive platended to replace the 2007 Plan. The 2013 Rlami“omnibus plantinder which stock options, stc
appreciation rights, performance share awardsrictest stock, and restricted stock units can berdedh The 2013 Plas’initial share reservation is 5,(
shares. The term of the plan is for 10 years frbendate of its adoptioAs of December 31, 2013, there were 4,464 sharasahle for grant under the 2C
Plan.

Upon adoption of the 2013 Plan in January 2013Cibpany ceased to grant awards pursuant to thHe R@d. All future awards will be granted under #94.:
Plan. All awards that are outstanding under the7Z®@n will continue to vest, be exercisable, axgire according to their respective terms.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities (amountstimousands)

During the year ended December 31, 2013, we istheefbllowing securities:

We issued 500 unregistered shares of common stocéresideration for the purchase of a patent.
During the year ended December 31, 2012, we isthesfbllowing securities:

We issued 210 shares of common stock upon theisgestwarrants to purchase 256 shares. We recengxeds of $0 related to the exercise of theamésra
the exercise was executed through a net sharersetit.

In each of the transactions listed above, the #eEsiwere issued pursuant to Section 4(2) of teeusities Act of 1933, as amended, (the “Securitie8) anc
rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. Ndmige transactions involved a public offering.
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Stock Performance Graph

The following Performance Graph and related infotima shall not be deemed "soliciting material” diléd" with the Securities and Exchange Commissian
shall such information be incorporated by refereimu® any future filing under the Securities ActExchange Act, each as amended, except to thet ext
specifically incorporate it by reference into suiimg.

The following graph compares the cumulative totarsholder return on our common stock over the figar period ended December 31, 2013, witt
cumulative total return during such period of the9{DAQ Stock Market (U.S. Companies) and a peer giiadex composed of consumer electronics acce
companies, the members of which are identifieddthe “Peer Group”) for the same period. Thedelnggraph assumes an initial investment of $100.00
dividends reinvested. The stock performance showthe graph below represents historical stock perdmce and is not necessarily indicative of futstak
price performance.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN"

Among ZAGG, Inc, the Russell 3000 Index, the MNASDARD Composite Index,
Qld Peer Group, and Mew Peer Group
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#F100 invested on 12031005 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fizcal year ending December 31.

CopyrightE 2014 Russell Investment Group. All rights reserved,

12/31/0¢ 12/31/0¢ 12/31/1( 12/31/1: 12/31/1: 12/31/1%
ZAGG Inc 100.0¢ 421.5! 819.3¢ 760.2% 791.4( 467.7¢
Russell 300( 100.0( 128.3¢ 150.07 151.6: 176.4¢ 235.7:
NASDAQ Composite 100.0¢ 144.8¢ 170.5¢ 171.3( 199.9¢ 283.3¢
Old Peer Groui 100.0( 127.3: 152.5¢ 90.2( 94.9¢ 149.7¢
New Peer Grou 100.0¢ 241.0¢ 366.9¢ 456.0% 603.3¢ 653.8:

The Peer Group consists of consumer electroniassaocy companies that have securities traded oNakdaqg Stock Market. The members of the New Peer
Group are as follows: Apple Inc., Comarco, InGgj Inc., Logitech International SA, Plantronics,ISkullcandy Inc, and Universal Electronics InbeT
members of the Old Peer Group are as follows: 18m; Plantronics Inc.; Comarco, Inc.; Logitechelmational, S.A.; and Universal Electronics Inc.
Management determined to include Apple Inc and I8&ntly Inc in the five-year cumulative total retdable as both companies operate in the same nydust
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA (in thousands, except per share amounts)

The selected historical financial data presentdéovbare derived from our consolidated financiatestaents. The selected financial data should etirea
conjunction with Item 7, “Management’s Discussiom dAnalysis of Financial Condition and Results @fe@tions,” and our consolidated financial stateismen
and the notes thereto included elsewhere in tipisrte

Year ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
DATA:
Net sales $ 219,35¢ $ 264,42 $ 179,12 $ 76,13 $ 38,36:
Operating income 10,94¢ 33,49 28,137 16,81« 5,71C
Net income attributable to stockhold: 4,79( 14,50¢ 18,24¢ 9,96° 3,381
Earnings per share attributable to stockholders:

Basic $ 0.1€ $ 0.4¢ $ 0.67 $ 044 $ 0.1€

Diluted 0.1f 0.4€ 0.62 0.41 0.1t
Weighted average shares:

Basic 30,90( 30,33¢ 27,13: 22,51¢ 20,63¢

Diluted 31,45¢ 31,65¢ 29,08: 24,26: 22,98¢
BALANCE SHEET DATA:
Total assets $ 175,47C  $ 206,08 $ 202,32¢ $ 57,43. $ 18,89¢
Current assets 116,48: 131,18t 108,23( 46,70¢ 17,43t
Current liabilities 33,09¢ 41,81¢ 33,74( 23,09( 5,01z
Total equity 124,83: 124,09¢ 102,62¢ 32,78: 13,88
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL C ONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Certain statements, other than purely historictdrination, including estimates, projections, statets relating to our business plans, objectived, expecte
operating results, and the assumptions upon wlhioket statements are based, are “forward-lookingretnts”within the meaning of the Private Securi
Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 27A of the@irities Act and Section 21E of the Exchange Abese forwardeoking statements generally are identi
by the words “believes,” “project,” “expects,” “adpates,” “estimates,” “forecasts,” “intends,” fategy,” “plan,” “may,” “will,” “would,” “will be,” “will
continue,” “will likely result,” and similar expregns. We intend such forward-looking statemeat®e covered by the safe-harbor provisions for &odw
looking statements contained in the Private Saeasrltitigation Reform Act of 1995, and are incluglithis statement for purposes of complying withstheafe-
harbor provisions. Forwarddoking statements are based on current expectaiod assumptions that are subject to risks andrtaicties which may cau
actual results to differ materially from the fonddooking statements. Our ability to predict resuatsthe actual effect of future plans or strateggemherentl
uncertain. Factors which could have a materialeess effect on our operations and future prospeciside, but are not limited to: changes in ecoro
conditions, legislative/regulatory changes, avdlitgbof capital, interest rates, competition, agdnerally accepted accounting principles. Thesles ranc
uncertainties should also be considered in evalgdbrwardiooking statements and undue reliance should ngd®=ed on such statements. We undertal
obligation to update or revise publicly any forwdodking statements, whether as a result of newrinédion, future events or otherwise. Further infatior
concerning our business, including additional fexthat could materially affect our financial resuls included herein and in our other filingstwihe SEC.

Overview

At ZAGG, our focus is to (1) design creative prodsmiutions for users of mobile devices, (2) dedide products to endsers through global distribution partr
and online, and (3) become the preferred brandigirdhe innovation and quality of our products viding excellent customer service, and focusingtenend-
users’ knowledge and experience with our prodifs focus our corporate, team, and individual gtasccomplish this overall corporate strategy.

We believe that hanHeld devices and gadgets can be best enjoyed hattight mix of (1) protection from scratches amghdge and (2) accessories that ent
the consumersexperience with their electronic device. We beliévat our full product offering, which includes thwisibleSHIELD, our keyboard lines, aus
accessories, protective cases, and mobile poweti@wd, provides consumers with unparalleled deyiogtection and enhanced enjoyment of their m
electronic device.
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We plan to continue to expand our product offerjrigsluding into new product categories, and enteriew domestic and global markets that we belellde
consistent with our overall corporate strategy. Praducts are available through our websites at vidd@G.comand_ www.iFrogz.comand through our ret:
distribution channels, which include major retaléke Best Buy, Walmart, Target, AT&T, Sprint, Vaon, T-Mobile, Radio Shack, Staples, and The Carp
Warehouse; independent electronics resellers; gmllgookstores; independent Mac stores; mall kioaks; other online retailers. During 2013, we had
customers that accounted for more than 10% of etisales. We continue to increase our product tioedfer additional electronic accessories andises tc
our tech-savvy customer base.

To recap results for 2013 (amounts in thousands):

e Our revenue declined 17% from $264,425 in 2012209$356 in 2013. The decline in revenue from 2@12013 was primarily related to the follow
factors: (1) increase market competition in ourangiroduct lines, (2) a decline in our online saesoss all product lines, (3) a decline in salesugt
distribution partners, which was directly impactsdour decision during the first quarter of 2012 éase selling into a number of then distributiostemer
to resolve pricing conflicts, and (4) our failuedxpand distribution to our direct wholesales aomrs and close significant business with new coste a
the same rate as in 20:

e Sales of invisibleSHIELD products accounted forragpmately 46% of total sales in 2012 and approxetya42% of total sales in 2013. Sales of keyb
products accounted for approximately 24% of totdés in 2012 and approximately 29% of total sate®0d13. Sales of audio products were 16% of
sales in both 2012 and 20:

e Our gross profit declined from $120,545 in 2012687,120 in 2013. Gross profit as a percent of regealso declined from 46% in 2012 to 40% in 2
This decline in profit margin was linked to theléaling items: (1) the continued product sales ntitsas a higher percentage of our total salese
generated by lower margin products such as our dayh audio, and case products compared to priarsyehere a higher percentage of sales
generated by our invisibleSHIELD products, our leigthmargin product line; (2) the continued charsadés mix shift as sales through indirect chat
continue to grow, which are at lower margins thagbsite sales directly to the consumer; (3) an as®ein the Company’participation in cooperati
marketing programs with retail partners; and (4gimory write-downs recorded during 2013 for product to be seldw the carrying value

e Our operating income decreased by 67% from $33id2012 to $10,946 in 2013. Our operating margircgetage decreased from 13% in 2012 to 5
2013. The decrease in operating margin was dueapiinto the following items: (1) the impact of theduction in gross profit margin as discussed al
(2) an $11,246 non-cash charge for the impairmegbodwill and an intangible trademark asset reedrduring the fourth quarter of 2012&-similar charg
of $11,497 was recorded during the fourth quarte20d.2, but the charge in 2013 was more impactfuhe operating margin given the decline in sate
gross profit in 2013 compared to 2012; and (3) @eesh impairment charge of $591 incurred duringsteond quarter of 2013 related to an investmea
private company

Our strategic business objectives for 2014 inclingefollowing:

e Continue to design creative product solutions fera of mobile device

e expand the distribution of our products througlyéded, global distribution partne

e become the preferred brand through the innovatiehcaality of our product:

e increase market presence within retailers throntdractive advertising display

focus on our international sales opportunitiesulgtoour distribution facility in Ireland that wepect to enable us to better serve our worldwidéotnsr
base;

e increase the number of SKUs with our existing congs from products under both the ZAGG and iFragnts; anc

e grow our traffic and sales through our webswww.ZAGG.comandwww.iFrogz.com.

We intend for the following discussion of our fircgad condition and results of operations to provifermation that will assist in understanding consolidated
financial statements, the changes in certain laystin those financial statements from period tiopeand the primary factors that accounted foséhchanges,
as well as how certain accounting principles, pesiand estimates affect our consolidated finarst&kements.

23




Table of Content

Critical Accounting Policies (in thousands)

The discussion and analysis of our financial céodiand results of operations are based on oundiaa statements, which have been prepared in danot
with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these finansi@tements requires us to make estimates and prigrthat affect the reported amounts of assatsiities
revenues and expenses, and related disclosurentihgent assets and liabilities. On angming basis, we evaluate our estimates based toribad experienc
and on various other assumptions that are beliewd# reasonable under the circumstances, thesesfulvhich form the basis for making judgmentsghtbe
carrying values of assets and liabilities thatresereadily apparent from other sources. Actusilits may differ from these estimates under diffeessumptior
or conditions. Significant items subject to suctineates include the allowance for doubtful accouirtgentory reserve, sales returns liability, theeful life of
property and equipment, the useful life of intafgibssets, the recoverability of goodwill and inciéd-lived intangible assets, stoblesed compensation, ¢
income taxes.

An accounting policy is deemed to be critical iféquires an accounting estimate to be made basedsumptions about matters that are highly uricestathe
time the estimate is made, if different estimatssonably may have been used, or if changes iadffiraate that are reasonably likely to occur mayenlly
impact the financial statements. Management bedi¢lre following critical accounting policies affemtir more significant judgments and estimates usetle
preparation of our consolidated financial statement

Revenue recognitiot

The Company records revenue when persuasive ewdahan arrangement exists, product delivery hasiroed, the sales price to the customer is fixe
determinable, and collectability is reasonably emsuThe Companyg revenue is derived from sales of our productsuiiin our indirect channel, includi
retailers and distributors; through our direct ahelrincluding_www.ZAGG.com www.iFrogz.com, and our corporate-owned and third-pastyned mall kiosk:
and from the fees derived from the sale of exckigidependent distributor licenses related to thekkprogram. For sales of product, our standaigpgfg term:
are FOB shipping point, and we record revenue wherproduct is shipped, net of estimated returmsdiscounts. For some customers, the contractigpisig
terms are FOB destination. For these shipmentsieserd revenue when the product is delivered, hetstimated returns and discounts. For license, fee
recognize revenue on a straidinie basis over the life of the license term. Thar@any records revenue from royalty agreement&énperiod in which tt
royalty is earned.

Promotional products given to customers or potenptigtomers are recognized as a cost of sales. iBeshtives provided to our customers are recoghaze:i
reduction of the related sale price, and, therefare a reduction in sales.

Reserve for sales returns and warranty liabili

For product sales, the Company records revenuepfnestimated returns and discounts, when delivery occurred, collection of the relevant receivas
probable, persuasive evidence of an arrangemesitiseaid the sales price is fixed or determinable. @turn policy allows its end users and retailéghts tc
return purchased products. In addition, the Compgenerally provides the ultimate consumer a wayramith each product. Due to the nature of
invisibleSHIELD product line, end user returns floe invisibleSHIELD are generally not salvageabid are not included in inventory. We estimate ames fo
sales returns and warranty and record the estimassave amount as a reduction of sales, and aes rturn reserve liability. When product is red and i
expected to be resold, as is the case with retfrpackaged invisibleSHIELDs, keyboards, audio piad, cases, and power products, the reserveasdest as
reduction of revenues and cost of sales, and adesa seturn reserve liability. The sales returnd aarranty reserve requires management to makenast
regarding return rates for sales and warranty mstuHistorical experience, actual claims, andamst return rights are the key factors used inrdeteng the
estimated sales return and warranty reserve.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We provide customary credit terms to our custom®/e. perform ongoing credit evaluations of the ficiah condition of our customers and maintair
allowance for doubtful accounts based upon hisabigollections experience and judgments as to eégdewllectability of accounts. Our actual bad debgy
differ from our estimates.

Valuation of Note Receivable

We engaged independent thpdrty appraisal firms to assist us in determinihg fair values of collateral of the note receivabich valuations requ
significant estimates and assumptions. Managenmetetrdined the value of the 80 shares of ZAGG comstook held by Mr. Harmer based on quoted mi
prices. The real estate holdings securing the reateivable were valued primarily based on the sedesparison approach as sales of comparable piegperer:
utilized. The investments in real estate compawiee valued utilizing comparable market sales saalinted cash flow analysis, and other appropvaligatior
methodologies.
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Management'’s estimates of fair value are based apsamptions believed to be reasonable, but whiigmbherently uncertain and unpredictable and, Esalt,
actual results may differ from estimates.

Inventories

In assessing the realization of inventories, weraggired to make judgments as to future demandinegents and to compare these with current invg
levels. When the market value of inventory is l#san the carrying value, the inventory cost is ternitdown to the estimated net realizable valueethy
establishing a new cost basis. Our inventory regoénts may change based on our projected custamaardl, market conditions, technological and protifa
cycle changes, longer or shorter than expectedeysagods, and other factors that could affectv#iaation of our inventories.

Income taxes

The Company recognizes deferred income tax assetabilities for expected future tax consequenoésvents that have been recognized in the fing
statements or tax returns. Under this method, daféncome tax assets or liabilities are determiveesbd upon the difference between the finanaééstent an
income tax bases of assets and liabilities usiragtex tax rates expected to apply when differeacesxpected to be settled or realized. Deferrednire ta:
assets are reviewed for recoverability and valuasitowances are provided when it is more likelgrtimot that a deferred tax asset will not be rable in th
future. The effect on deferred tax assets andliliglsi of a change in tax rates is recognized @oime in the period that includes the enactment date

The Company recognizes the effect of income taxtipas only if those positions are more likely thaot of being sustained. Recognized income taxtipos
are measured at the largest amount that is grémter50% likely of being realized. Changes in rettign or measurement are reflected in the penodhich the
change in judgment occurs. The Company recordmatgid interest and penalties related to unrecodrie benefits, if any, as a component of income
provision.

The Company has foreign subsidiaries formed or iaeduo conduct or support its business outsidelthited States. The Company does not provide f&.
income taxes on undistributed earnings for itsifpresubsidiaries as the foreign earnings will ben@mently reinvested in such foreign jurisdictions.

Long-lived Assets

We have significant long-lived tangible and intdigiassets consisting of property and equipmerinitielived intangibles, indefinitdéived intangibles, ar
goodwill. We review these assets for impairment mawer events or changes in circumstances inditetethe carrying amount of such assets may n
recoverable. In addition, we perform an impairmiest related to indefinitbved intangibles and goodwill at least annualljur@oodwill and intangible ass
are largely attributable to our acquisition of ifzdn 2011.

At least annually and when events and circumstaweesant an evaluation, we perform our impairmesgeasment of goodwill. This assessment initiallyryis
an entity to perform a qualitative assessment afthér it is more likely than not that a reportingtis fair value is less than its carrying amount befmpplying
the twostep goodwill impairment test. If an entity can gogt the conclusion that it is not more likely thaat that the fair value of a reporting unit isdékan it
carrying amount, it would not need to perform the-step impairment test for the reporting unit.

However, if it is determined that it is more likelyan not that the fair value of a reporting usitass than its carrying amount, the two step aimlg performe:
which incorporates a fairalue based approach. We determine the fair vdlo@rmoreporting unit based on discounted cash flang market approach analyse
considered necessary, and consider factors suahmaskened economy, reduced expectations for faask flows, and decline in the market price of stock
and market capitalization for a sustained periothd&ators for potential goodwill impairment. He reporting unig carrying amount exceeds its estimatec
value, a second step must be performed to measeramount of the goodwill impairment loss, if aftfie second step compares the implied fair valutne
reporting units goodwill, determined in the same manner as theuatmof goodwill recognized in a business comboratiwith the carrying amount of st
goodwill. If the carrying amount of the reportingitis goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of thabdwill, an impairment loss is recognized in an am
equal to that excess.

Indefinitedived intangible assets are tested for impairmemtually, or, more frequently upon the occurrenceadfiggering event. This assessment init
permits an entity to perform a qualitative assesgréwhether it is more likely than not that anléfinitedived intangible asset is impaired before applya
quantitative impairment test. If an entity can smpphe conclusion that it is not more likely thaet that the fair value of an indefiniieed intangible asset
less than the carrying value, it would not neegpédorm a quantitative impairment test. Howeveii is determined that it is more likely than nbat the fai
value of an indefinite-lived intangible assetsesd than the carrying value, a quantitative impairrtest is performed, which incorporates a Vaiue base
approach. The fair value for indefiniteed intangible assets is determined by performiagh flow analysis and other market evaluationsassidere
necessary. If the fair value of the indefinite-tivietangible assets is less than book value, tfiereice is recognized as an impairment loss.
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We assess other long-lived assets, specificaliypitefived intangibles and property, plant and ipqment, for potential impairment based on simitapairment
indicators. When indicators of impairment exisatet! to our long-lived tangible assets and defiinied intangible assets, we use an estimate ofitiaéscounte
net cash flows in measuring whether the carryinguarhof the assets is recoverable. Measuremehedadmount of impairment, if any, is based upon the
difference between the assetarrying value and estimated fair value. Faingas determined through various valuation techesgincluding market and incor
approaches as considered necessary.

If forecasts and assumptions used to support gigability of our goodwill and other lonlied assets change in the future, significant impent charges cou
result that would adversely affect our results pémtions and financial condition.

Stock-based compensation

The Company recognizes stock-based compensatia@nsepn its consolidated financial statements Veards granted to employees and monployees, whic
include restricted stock, stock options, and wasaiquityelassified awards are measured at the grant datealae of the award. The fair value of restric
stock is measured on the grant date based on titedjalosing market price of the Compangbmmon stock. The fair value of the stock oisnmeasured
the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pgichodelbased on the underlying common stock closing mief the date of grant, the expected term,
price volatility, and risk-free interest rates heTCompany recognizes compensation expense nstiwiaged forfeitures on a straigliie basis over the requis
service period of the award, which is generally\hsting term of the award. No compensation expénsitimately recognized for awards for which éogpe:
do not render the requisite service and are fedeitExcess tax benefits of awards that are rezedrin equity related to stock option exercisesreflected a
financing cash inflows.

Results of Operations (in thousands)
The following table sets forth our results of opienas expressed as a percentage of net salesef@etiiods indicated (amounts in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011

Net sales $ 219,35¢ 100.(% $ 264,42! 100.(% $ 179,12! 100.(%
Cost of sale: 132,23t 60.2 143,88( 54.£ 97,20: 54.¢
Gross profit 87,12( 39.7 120,54! 45.¢ 81,92« 45.7
Advertising and marketin 8,952 4.1 12,49t 4.7 10,24¢ 5.7
Selling, general and administrati 46,35¢ 211 53,33( 20.z 39,59: 22.1
Impairment of goodwill & intangible 11,24¢ 5.1 11,49° 4.3 - 0.C
Amortization of definit-lived intangibles 9,62( 4.4 9,732 3.7 3,94¢ 2.2
Operating incom 10,94¢ 5.C 33,49: 12.7 28,137 15.7
Interest expens (575) (0.9) (6,32)) (2.9 (3,029) 1.7
Loss on equit-method investment in HzC (2,019 (0.€ (2,86¢) 1.1 - 0.C
Gain on deconsolidation of HzC - 0.C - 0.C 1,90¢ 1.1
Other income and (expens 127 0.1 (40€) (0.2) (19) 0.C
Income before income tax 8,48¢ 3.6 23,89¢ 9.C 27,00: 15.1
Income tax provisiol (3,695 (1.7) (9,399 (3.6) (9,419 (5.9
Net income 4,79( 2.2 14,50t 5.5 17,58 9.8
Net loss attributable to noncontrollii

interest - 0.C - 0.C 664 0.4
Net income attributable to stockhold: $ 4,79( 2.2% $ 14,50¢ 5.5% $ 18,24¢ 10.2%

* At December 31, 2010, HzO, a private company ergjagehe development of watetecking technologies for consumer and industrigpleations, wa
consolidated by the Company as a variable intenatitty (VIE). On December 22, 2011, HzO entered amt Amended Series B Stock Purchase Agreement
group of third party investors. ZAGG considered thireconsideration event and concluded that 8eoémber 22, 2011, HzO should no longer be coresi:
VIE under authoritative accounting literature, lvas considered a voting interest entity. Ultimatehanagement concluded that HzO should no long
consolidated into the ZAGG financials as of Decenfiie 2011. From December 22, 2011 to the fourtrign of 2013, management accounted for its inves
in HzO as an equity method investment. Howeverjnduthe fourth quarter of 2013, HzO received addil equity financing, in which ZAGG did r
participate. As a result of the additional investtneZAGG's investment declined below 20% and the investniemtow accounted for as a cost mel
investment.
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013, AS COMPARED TO THE YWR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 (in thousands, except phare data)

Net sales

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2013 $2%9,356 compared to net sales of $264,425 éoydlar ended December 31, 2012, a decrease of6B
or 17%.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, sales aheisibleSHIELD product line accounted for approxsitely 42% of our revenues, compared to 46% in :
Sales in 2013 of our keyboard line accounted faragmately 29% of our revenues, compared to 24%0b2. The decline in revenue from 2012 to 2013
primarily related to the following factors: (1)cdrease market competition in our major productdjr{&) a decline in our online sales across alipcblines, (3)
decline in sales through distribution partners,clthivas directly impacted by our decision during firgt quarter of 2013 to cease selling into a namtf thel
distribution customers, and (4) our failure to exghaistribution to our direct wholesales custonaed close significant business with new custometiseasam
rate as in 2012. We continue to sell into our iedirchannel retailers including Best Buy, Walm@&grget, Radio Shack, Staples, and the Carphonehtiase
wireless carriers such as AT&T, Sprint, VerizonMbbile, Cricket, and Cincinnati Bell; and both dastie and foreign electronics accessory distributdiée ar
still focused on distribution through our mall Kkggrogram and through our websites, www.ZAGG.cmd_ www.iFrogz.com

For the year ended December 31, 2013, approxim8&dy of our overall net sales were through ourraxtichannel, 9% were through our websites, an
were through our mall cart and kiosk programs. fheryear ended December 31, 2012, approximately 82&ur overall net sales were through our ind
channel, 13% were through our websites, and 5% theoeigh our mall cart and kiosk programs.

Gross profit

Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2043, $87,120 or approximately 40% of net sales agpeoed to $120,545 or approximately 46% of nets
for the year ended December 31, 2012. This dedlin®ofit margin was linked to the following facto (1) the continued product sales mix shiftadsighe
percentage of our total sales were generated bgrlomargin products such as our keyboard, audio,casd products compared to prior years where et
percentage of sales were generated by our inv&illELD products, our highest margin product lin2) & decline in sales through distribution partpessict
was directly impacted by our decision during thistfquarter of 2013 to cease selling into a nunai¢nen distribution customers to resolve pricimgfticts; (3]
our failure to expand distribution to our direct alésales customers and close significant businé$snew customers at the same rate as in 2012;(4)
inventory write-downs recorded during 2013 for protto be sold below the carrying value.

As we seek to return our business to growth, wieigate that we will have increased sales througliréct channel partners and that our sales ofdayh audic
case, and products in new categories will increasee quickly than our invisibleSHIELD product sal@$ius, we expect these factors, along with in@eéas-
store advertising to end customers, to put pressareur gross profit percentage in future periodsere are no assurances that we will continue ¢ogmize
similar gross profit margins in the future.

Operating expenses

Total operating expenses for year ended Decemhe2®I13, were $76,174, a decrease of $10,880 fraah operating expenses for year ended Decemb
2012, of $87,054. The $10,880 decrease in operatipgnses was primarily attributable to the ovetatireases in advertising and marketing expende40$ ir
payroll and stock based compensation expense ettduring the third quarter of 2012 related todhparture of Robert Pedersen Il (the Compsifigtmer chie
executive officer) that did not recur in 2013, duetion in salaries and benefits expense largefipatable to executives and employees not achgetheir 201
annual bonus (the bonus was earned in 2012), atiedun credit card and bank fees due to loweinenkales during 2013 compared to 2012, a dech
commissions driven by the reduction in overall saiemparing 2013 to 2012, an overall reductiontatls based compensation expense due to a decr
grants and the decline in the Company’s stock m&eompared to grants in prior years, and othelinds in otheselling, general and administrative expe
due to cost control initiatives instituted by then@pany during the second quarter of 2013. Theseedses were partially offset by (1) a charge ofl$i@urrec
during the second quarter of 2013 related to thgairment of an investment in a private company Was$ originally acquired by the Company as parthe
foreclosure of collateral securing a note receieabid (2) an $11,246 naash charge for the impairment of goodwill andrtangible trademark asset recor
during the fourth quarter of 2013a-similar charge of $11,497 was recorded duringdieth quarter of 2012, but the charge in 2013 wmase impactful to th
operating margin given the decline in sales andgpofit in 2013 compared to 2012.

Income from operation:

We reported income from operations of $10,946 fer year ended December 31, 2013, compared to inéameoperations of $33,491 for the year er
December 31, 2012, a decrease of $22,545. Thegehmnincome from operations was due to the itedestified above under gross profit and oper:
expenses.

Other income (expense)

For the year ended December 31, 2013, total otkeerse was $2,461 compared to total other expen$@,593 for the year ended December 31, 2012
decrease is primarily attributable to (1) a redarctin interest expense tied to an overall reduciiodebt from $46,173 at December 31, 2012 to $1F¥ &
December 31, 2013, coupled with a reduction iniptarest rate from 7.25% throughout most of 2012 tate that fluctuated between 1.00% and 1.63%hg
2013; (2) a charge of $430 paid to PNC and Cerbertesrminate our prior credit agreemevrtten the Company refinanced with Wells Fargo inddelser 201:
which was classified as a component of intereserge in the consolidated financials and did naarét 2013, (3) a nowash charge of $1,509 related to
write-off of debt issuance costs when the Company temedhis credit agreement with PNC and Cerberuseaméred into a new credit agreement with W
Fargo in December 2012, which was classified as glimterest expense and did not recur in 2013 @) a decline in the loss from our equity met
investment in HzO as the balance was reduced tufiig 2013.

Income taxes

We recognized an income tax expense of $3,695year ended December 31, 2013, compared to intaxrexpense of $9,393 for the year ended Dece
31, 2012. From 2012 to 2013, our effective tae iatreased from 39.3% to 43.5%. The increasetéisadue to the reduction in income before taxrduthe



year coupled with certain nafeductible charges incurred during the year thaluged the loss on equity method investment in Hi@, impairment of &
investment during the second quarter of 2013, adéaiease in the domestic manufacturing deducteneptage these items were much more pronout
during the year due to the drop in income befoxehan they would have otherwise been.

Net income

As a result of these factors, we reported net irecofr$54,790 or $0.15 per diluted share for the pealed December 31, 2013, compared to net income of
$14,505 or $0.46 per diluted share for the yeae@ridecember 31, 2012.
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012, AS COMPARED TO THE YWR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011 (in thousands, except phare data)

Net sales

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2012 $284,425 compared to net sales of $179,125 éy¢lar ended December 31, 2011, an increase d3Ci
or 48%.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, sales aheisibleSHIELD product line accounted for approxitely 46% of our revenues, compared to 58% in :
which represents an increase in total dollar sale®ased year over year. Sales in 2012 of ourdaybline accounted for approximately 24% of oweraies
compared to 17% in 2011. We experienced signifigaowth in our indirect channel to retailers irdihg Best Buy, Walmart, Target, Radio Shack, araplss
wireless carriers such as AT&T, Sprint, VerizonMbbile, Cricket, Cincinnati Bell, and The Carphowarehouse; and both domestic and foreign elects
accessory distributors. We are still focused atrihiution through our mall kiosk program and ttgbwur websites, www.ZAGG.coand www.iFrogz.com
but the significant growth for 2012 was through @irect channel as we began selling through aidit customers and expanded our SKU count witt
current customers.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, approxim8&%y of our overall net sales were through ourrgetichannel, 13% were through our websites, an
were through our mall cart and kiosk programs. fheryear ended December 31, 2011, approximately @B&ur overall net sales were through our ind
channel, 16% were through our websites, and 6% theoeigh our mall cart and kiosk programs.

Gross profit

Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2043, $120,545 or approximately 46% of net salesoagpared to $81,924 or approximately 46% of nets
for the year ended December 31, 2011. Our comsigtess profit percentage is primarily the residilyear-overyear changes in acquisition related charges
in operational decisions made to meet customerseaead grow our business. During 2011, managementred charges through cost of sales related 1
write-up of iFrogz inventory at acquisition. As notedesh charges all occurred in 2011 and thus decred¥edgross profit compared to 2012. This was t
by the following items that decreased gross prhfiing 2012 compared to 2011: (1) an increaseedgtit shipping costs incurred during 2012 prinyaliihked tc
product releases; (2) the continued product saleshift, as a higher percentage of our total salese generated by lower margin products such akeyboarc
audio, and case products compared to prior yeaerevh higher percentage of sales were generategutbynvisibleSHIELD products, our highest mai
products; and (3) the continued channel sales hifk&s sales through indirect channels continugrtav, which are at lowemargins than website sales dire
to the consumer.

Operating expenses

Total operating expenses for year ended Decemhe2@R2, were $87,054, an increase of $33,267 fraal bperating expenses for year ended Decemb
2011, of $53,787. The $33,267 increase is primaaitributable to an overall increase in marketamgl advertising spend during the year to suppartyr
launches, a non-cash impairment charge of $11,48@rded during the fourth quarter or 2012 from HerPollution trademark due to the Company’
determination that cash flows under the trademaridldvbe less than previously estimated, and arease in amortization expense due primarily to byfear o
amortization of the intangibles acquired as pathefiFrogz acquisition.

In addition, the Company experienced a signifidantease in salaries and related taxes due toollmving: (1) increase in stock compensation exgefion
$3,258 in 2011 to $6,018 in 2012, from executiwaktcompensation awards and a Compaige grant of stock compensation awards; (2) oursotidate:
company headcount increased from 261 employee3dtBough 49 of the 261 employees at the beginafr2pD12 were part of the iFrogz acquisition anaks
were only part of the Company for approximatelyf fedl 2011) — this increase and a fykar with the iFrogz employees caused the ovemallease in th
expense category; (3) $910 in employment terminagxpenses incurred in the third quarter of 201&ed to the departure of former CEO, Robert Pexfets
(4) a new company-wide bonus program that commeimchtarch 2012; and (5) 2012 executive compensat@ary adjustments.

Income from operations

We reported income from operations of $33,491 fer year ended December 31, 2012, compared to inéameoperations of $28,137 for the year er
December 31, 2011, an increase of $5,354. Inclig@812 income from operations is a ncash impairment charge of $11,497 recorded indheti quarter ¢
2012. Excluding this nonash charge, income from operations would have B4dr988, an increase of $16,851 compared to ZDH4.increased income frc
operations for the year ended December 31, 201&mapared to the year ended December 31, 201timsuply attributable to the overall increase irt sales c
our invisibleSHIELD, keyboard, audio, and case paidines; expanded distribution through our indirehannel partners, online, and through our cartess;
full year of iFrogz operations during 2012 (onlx sihonths of operations in 2011), which was pastialfifset by a decrease in gross profit due to thinuec
shift in our product and channel sales mix.
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Other income (expense)

For the year ended December 31, 2012, total otkeerse was $9,593 compared to total other expen$#,b35 for the year ended December 31, 2011
increase is primarily due to (1) approximately B-fiear of interest expense under our previous detgeagent with PNC and Cerberus that was incurrebe
time of the iFrogz acquisition on June 21, 2011ilevR011 only had approximately six months of iettrexpense, (2) a charge of $430 paid to PNC a&nloe€u
to terminate the credit agreement when the Compaefiyanced with Wells Fargo, which is classifiedeasomponent of interest expense in the consofi
financials, (3) a non-cash charge of $1,509 relatethe writeoff of debt issuance costs when the Company temedhés credit agreement with PNC
Cerberus and entered into a new credit agreemeht Wells Fargo, which is classified as part of iat¢ expense, and (4) a loss from our equity me
investment in HzO of $2,866.

Income taxes

We recognized an income tax expense of $9,39%hfyear ended December 31, 2012, compared to intaxrexpense of $9,418 for the year ended Dece
31, 2011. From 2011 to 2012, our effective taxe racreased from 34.9% to 39.3%. Due to the redndti income before tax during the year, which
primarily related to the $11.5 impairment chardes impact of applying a valuation allowance to [thes on equity method investment in HzO and a deeré
the domestic manufacturing deduction percentage werch more pronounced during the year than theyldiwave otherwise been.

Net income attributable to shareholde

As a result of these factors, we reported net ireantributable to stockholders of $14,505 or $0é6 diluted share for the year ended December 312
compared to net income attributable to stockholdéfx18,248 or $0.63 per diluted share for the yerted December 31, 2011.

Liquidity and Capital Resources (in thousands)

At December 31, 2013, our principle sources ofilliy were cash generated by operations, casham, and the issuance of a Line of Credit with [$vVieargo
Our principle uses of cash have been to fund warkapital requirements, make payments on outstgraébt, and purchase shares of ZAGG Inc commork.stoc

Cash and cash equivalents lumnd decreased to $15,031 on December 31, 2018,%20,177 on December 31, 2012, a decrease of 5Tt decrease in c:
is largely the result of positive cash from opemasi during 2013, offset by $28,630 in payments @t during 2013 and $9,997 in cash used to purdneasur
stock. Earnings from foreign operations are considg@ermanently resvested and of the $15,031 cash balance on Dece3ihb@013, cash from foreign entit
totaled $3,361, which constitutes 22.4% of theltoaah and cash equivalents balance.

At December 31, 2013, we had an income tax payzdibnce of $6,359.
At December 31, 2013, we had working capital of,383 compared to $89,369 as of December 31, 2012.

Based on our current level of operations, we belithat cash generated from operations, cash on, fzambavailable borrowings under our existing d
arrangements will be adequate to meet our currexpected capital expenditures and working capiéglds for the next 12 months and beyond. Howeve
operate in a rapidly evolving and often unpreditdabusiness environment that may change the tinmngmount of expected future cash receipts
expenditures. Accordingly, there can be no asserdimat we may not be required to raise additionati§ through the sale of equity or debt securiieSom
debt facilities. Additional capital, if needed, magt be available on satisfactory terms, if at all.

Debt and Letters of Crec

On December 20, 2013, the Company and Wells Fanggred into the Amendment, which modifies the ordiCredit Agreement entered into betweer
Company and Wells Fargo on December 7, 2012.

The Amendment retains the $60,000 Line of Credit extends the maturity date from December 1, 201@dcember 1, 2015. At the time of the Amendn
the $18,000 outstanding on the original $24,00ftkeran was paid in full utilizing proceeds from thime of Credit. In addition, the Line of Creditcindes :
letter of credit subfeature that allows the Company to issue standbymercial letters of credit against the Line of Greabt to exceed at any time an aggre
of $5.0 million. During 2012 and 2013, the Comp#@ag not issued any standby commercial letterseafitr
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As consideration for entering into the Amendmeme, Company agreed to pay to Wells Fargo an amendeenf $30 as well as reasonable legal and eodi
examination fees.

Borrowings and repayments under the Line of Crediy occur from time to time in the Compasrdinary course of business through Decembe®15.2Any
outstanding borrowings under the Line of Creditumatand are due on December 1, 2015.

The outstanding principal balance under the Lin€Coddit bears interest at a fluctuating rate peruam determined to be the sum of the (1) LIBOR mm
established under the Credit Agreement (with thiBalnLIBOR margin being set at 1.25%) and (2) Daithree Month LIBOR (as defined in the Crt
Agreement) in effect from time to time. Each chamgéhe rate of interest will become effective @tle business day on which a change in Daily Threeth
LIBOR is announced by Wells Fargo.

At December 31, 2013, the weighted average inteagéston all outstanding borrowings under the loh€redit was 1.00%. At December 31, 2013, thedtie
interest rate was 1.11%.

At December 31, 2013, the Company was in compliavitte covenants associated with the Credit Agregmen
Contractual Obligations and Commitments (in thousaxls)

The following table provides information on our t@ttual obligations as of December 31, 2013:

Total
Payments on Interest on Operating contractual
Debt Debt Leases obligations )
2014 $ - 3% 26 % 1,121 % 1,38¢
2015 17,54: 267 T77¢€ 18,58¢
2016 - - 69¢€ 69€
2017 - - 30z 302
Thereafter - - - -
Total $ 17,54: $ 53C $ 2891 $ 20,97(

(1) Unrecognized uncertain tax benefits of $443 arenatided in the table above as we are not surenlire amount will be paic
Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of December 31, 2013, there were no off balahest arrangements.
ITEM 7A . QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATI VE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
We are exposed to certain market risks in the arglicourse of our business. These risks resuttgyify from changes in foreign currency exchandesand
interest rates. In addition, our international rapiens are subject to risks related to differicgreomic conditions, changes in political climatéfeding tax
structures and other regulations and restrictions.
To date we have not utilized derivative financratruments or derivative commaodity instruments. denot expect to employ these or other strategiégdge
market risk in the foreseeable future. We investaash in money market funds, which are subjeatitomal credit and market risk. We believe that tharket
risks associated with these financial instrumergsramaterial, although there can be no guaratiethese market risks will be immaterial to us.
See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” for furthésalission of our financing facilities and capitaisture. Market risk, calculated as the poterdignge in fair
value of our cash equivalents and line of credititéng from a hypothetical 1.0% (100 basis poafinge in interest rates, was not material at Dbeei3\,
2013.
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Our consolidated financial statements and footntitereto are set forth beginning on page F-1 of Report.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

1. Disclosure Controls and Procedure:

Under the supervision and with the participatioroaf management, including our principal executiicer and principal financial officer, we condedtar
evaluation of our disclosure controls and procesluas such term is defined under Rule 18&) promulgated under the Exchange Act, as ofebBéer 31
2013. Based on this evaluation, our principal executiffeer and principal financial officer concludedathas of the end of the period covered by this Rg
our disclosure controls and procedures are effeehd were designed to provide reasonable assuttzstdaformation required to be included in oypaes filec
or submitted under the Exchange Act is recordeatggsed, summarized, and reported as specifibe iIBEC's rules and forms.

2. Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

During the most recent fiscal year, there has wotioed any change in our internal control ovearfficial reporting that has materially affected,oréasonab
likely to materially affect, our internal controver financial reporting. Our process for evaluatbegitrols and procedures is continuous and encasepamnsta
improvement of the design and effectiveness ofbdisteed controls and procedures and the remediati@my deficiencies which may be identified duris
process.

3. Managemen’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@gorting as defined in Rule 13&{f) under the Exchan
Act. Our internal control over financial reportiig a process designed to provide reasonable assuragarding the reliability of financial reportirgnd the
preparation of financial statements for externaippges in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples. Internal control over financialpating
includes those policies and procedures that:

e pertain to the maintenance of records that in mregisle detail accurately and fairly reflect the sactions and dispositions of our ass

provide reasonable assurance that transactions@seded as necessary to permit preparation ofifiaastatements in accordance with generally aeckep
accounting principles

e provide reasonable assurance that our receiptexgehditures are being made only in accordanceauwithorization of our management and directors;

provide reasonable assurance regarding preventitmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, esalisposition of assets that could have a materia
effect on our consolidated financial stateme

Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our principal executffeeer and principal financial officer, we condedtan
evaluation of the effectiveness of our internaltogirover financial reporting based on the framguwia "Internal Control—Integrated Framework" (19%&sued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations offtteadway Commission.

Based on this evaluation, our management deterntivacur disclosure controls and procedures deetéfe and designed to provide reasonable asseiranc
that information required to be included in ouraesp filed or submitted under the Exchange Acerorded, processed, summarized, and reported aifiespén
the SEC’s rules and forms.

Our independent registered public accounting fKRMG LLP, has issued an attestation report on mt@rmal control over financial reporting, whichingluded
at 9A.5 below.

4. Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our disclosure controls and procedures are desigm@dovide reasonable assurance of achieving tigectives. Nevertheless, an internal controtesys nc
matter how well conceived and operated, can prowrdg reasonable, not absolute, assurance thatifjeetives of the control system are met. Furtther desig
of a control system reflects the fact that theeerasource constraints, and the benefits of cantid considered relative to their costs. Becatiseeoinherer
limitations in all control systems, no evaluatidrcontrols can provide absolute assurance thaoalirol issues and instances of fraud, if any, withe Compan
have been detected. These inherent limitationsidecthe realities that judgments in decisipaking can be faulty, and that breakdowns can obegause (
simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls daa circumvented by the individual acts of somespes, by collusion of two or more people, or by egamer
override of the internal control. The design of aggtem of controls also is based in part uporagesssumptions about the likelihood of future éseand ther
can be no assurance that any design will succeedhireving its stated goals under all potentialifetconditions. Over time, control may become i
because of changes in conditions, or the degreerapliance with the policies or procedures may ritatate.
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5. REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
ZAGG Inc:

We have audited ZAGG Inc’s internal control ovarafiicial reporting as of December, 31, 2013 basedriteria established imternal Control—ntegratec
Framework (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Qegdions of the Treadway Commission (1992 COSO)GZAINc’'s management is respons
for maintaining effective internal control over dincial reporting and for its assessment of thecgffeness of internal control over financial rejragt included ii
the accompanying Management’'s Report on Internaki©@bOver Financial Reporting (Item 9A.3). Ourpessibility is to express an opinion on the Company
internal control over financial reporting basedaam audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedslof the Public Company Accounting Oversight lo@nited States). Those standards require th:
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonablerasse about whether effective internal controlrdireancial reporting was maintained in all materespect:
Our audit included obtaining an understanding oérimal control over financial reporting, assesding risk that a material weakness exists, andnggstnc
evaluating the design and operating effectivenéssternal control based on the assessed risk.aDdit also included performing such other procesla® w:
considered necessary in the circumstances. Wevbdlirat our audit provides a reasonable basisufoppinion.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is &@@ess designed to provide reasonable assuranceiregthe reliability of financial reporting ande
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples. A companyg’ internal control over financ
reporting includes those policies and procedures (i) pertain to the maintenance of records thmteasonable detail, accurately and fairly refldw
transactions and dispositions of the assets otdmepany; (2) provide reasonable assurance thaactions are recorded as necessary to permit prtepan
financial statements in accordance with generadlgepted accounting principles, and that receipts expenditures of the company are being made o
accordance with authorizations of management arettdirs of the company; and (3) provide reasonabirance regarding prevention or timely deteati
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition ef¢bmpany’s assets that could have a materialteffethe financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtover financial reporting may not prevent or détmisstatements. Also, projections of any evatumaibi
effectiveness to future periods are subject taiglethat controls may become inadequate becaushasfges in conditions, or that the degree of caneé witt
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, ZAGG Inc maintained, in all maténespects, effective internal control over finadeeporting as of December 31, 2013, based oereit
established imnternal Control—Integrated Framewo(k992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Omgitins of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bio@dnited States), the consolidated balance sto#
ZAGG Inc and subsidiaries as of December 31, 20182012, and the related consolidated statementperations, comprehensive income, equity, and

flows for each of the years in the thrngear period ended December 31, 2013, and our reladed March 12, 2014 expressed an unqualifiediapian thos
consolidated financial statements.

/s| KPMG

Salt Lake City, Utah
March 12, 2014
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable
PART Il
Iltems 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14 in Part lll of this Be@re incorporated herein by reference to ouindafe proxy statement for our 2013 Annual Meetifg

Shareholders. We intend to file our definitive)pretatement with the SEC not later than 120 déigs Becember 31, 2013, pursuant to Regulation Gfithe
Exchange Act.

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERN ANCE
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STA TEMENT SCHEDULES

15(a)(1). Financial Statements.

The following consolidated financial statementg] aglated notes and Report of Independent Registaublic Accounting Firm are filed as part of tAisnual
Report:

Page
Report of KPMG LLP Independent Registered Publicdmting Firm F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, &t1201: F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the ye@ded December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2 F-4
ggﬂsolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incoménéoyears ended December 31, 2013, 2012 anc F.5
Consolidated Statements of Equity for the yeargdrdecember 31, 2013, 2012 and 2 F-6
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yerited December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2 F-7
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme F-9
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15(a)(2). Financial Statement Schedules.

None.
15(a)(3). Exhibits.

Exhibit Number

Description

3.1

3.11

3.2

321

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

211

231

311

31.2

321

32.2
EX-101.INS
EX-101.SCH
EX-101.CAL
EX-101.DEF

EX-101.LAB
EX-101.PRE

Articles of Incorporation of Registrant as filedtiwthe State of Nevada (previously filed as an leiklhdo Form SB-2 filed with the
Commission on December 2, 2005 and incorporategiméy this reference

Certificate of Correction as filed with the StafeNevada (previously filed as an exhibit to FormK.@iled with the Commission on
March 15, 2012 and incorporated herein by thisresfee).

Bylaws of Registrant (previously filed as an exhtbi Form SB-2 filed with the Commission on Decem®e2005 and incorporated
herein by this reference

First Amended Bylaws of ZAGG Incorporated (previgufied as an exhibit to a Current Report on F@+K filed with the
Commission on November 19, 2007 and incorporateeit®y this reference

Separation and Release of Claims Agreement (prshjidiled as an exhibit to a Current Report on F@&+K filed with the
Commission on October 4, 2012 and incorporatediménethis reference’

Executive Consulting Agreement (previously filedaasexhibit to a Current Report on FornK8Hed with the Commission on Octok
4, 2012 and incorporated herein by this referer

Credit Agreement between ZAGG Inc and Wells Fargal8 National Association (previously filed as ahibit to a Current Report
on Form &K filed with the Commission on December 13, 201d artorporated herein by this referenc

Revolving Line of Credit Note & Addendum to RevalgiLine of Credit Note between ZAGG Inc and Wellsgo Bank, National
Association (previously filed as an exhibit to ar@mt Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commissimm December 13, 2012 and
incorporated herein by this referenc

Term Note & Addendum to Term Note between ZAGGdnd Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (preslgdiled as an exhibit
to a Current Report on Forn-K filed with the Commission on December 13, 2018 arcorporated herein by this referenc

Security Agreement between ZAGG Inc and Wells F&gok, National Association (previously filed aseathibit to a Current Report
on Form K filed with the Commission on December 13, 2018 artorporated herein by this referenc

General Pledge Agreement between ZAGG Inc and Wallgo Bank, National Association (previously fileslan exhibit to a Current
Report on Form-K filed with the Commission on December 13, 2018 arcorporated herein by this referenc

Employment Agreement between ZAGG Inc and Bandd®ri@h (previously filed as an exhibit to a Curr&gport on Form 8-K filed
with the Commission on December 13, 2012 and irmaed herein by this referenc

Employment Agreement between ZAGG Inc and Randgs$igreviously filed as an exhibit to a Current &epn Form 8-K filed
with the Commission on December 13, 2012 and irmated herein by this referenc

ZAGG Inc 2013 Equity Incentive Award Plan (previbuiled as an exhibit to a Current Report on F@+K filed with the
Commission on January 17, 2013 and incorporateeiréy this reference

Employment Letter Agreement between ZAGG Inc armbdal. Schwartz (previously filed as an exhibi Gurrent Report on Form 8-
K filed with the Commission on August 9, 2013 andarporated herein by reference and incorporategirnby this reference

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, effectivef @ctober 29, 2013 (previously filed as an exhibia Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the Commission on October 31, 2013 amzbrporated herein by this referenc

First Amendment to Credit Agreement between ZAGGadnd Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (poegiy filed as an exhibit
to a Current Report on Forn-K filed with the Commission on December 23, 2018 artorporated herein by this referenc

First Modification to Promissory Note and to Addandbetween ZAGG Inc and Wells Fargo Bank, Natigxedociation (previously
filed as an exhibit to a Current Report on Form 8k&d with the Commission on December 23, 2013 imedrporated herein by this
reference)

List of subsidiarie:

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourfimg — KPMG LLP

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantRules 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) under the Seculiieéhange Act of 1934, as
Amended.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuawntRules 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) under the Secuiitiehange Act of 1934, as
Amended.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursudo 18 U.S. C. Section 1350, as adopted purdogdéction 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley

Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursutato 18 U.S. C. Section 1350, as adopted purdoa®éction 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley

Act of 2002.

XBRL Instance Documer

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbz
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkba:
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkba
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkb.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of section 13 or 16f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyig has duly caused this Report to be signedsameialf
by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

ZAGG INC

Dated: March 12, 2014 By: /sl RANDALL L. HALES
Randall L. Hales
President, CEO, & Director
(Principal Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bblpthe following persons on behalf of the Registi@nd in
the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Dated: March 12, 2014 By: /s RANDALL L. HALES
Randall L. Hales
President, CEO, & Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

Dated: March 12, 2014 By: /s/ BRANDON T. C'BRIEN
Brandon T. O'Brien
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Accounting and Financial Office

Dated: March 12, 2014 By: /s CHERYL LARABEE

Cheryl Larabee
Chairpersor

Dated: March 12, 2014 By: /s DAN MAURER
Dan Maurer
Director

Dated: March 12, 2014 By: /s/ TODD HEINER
Todd Heiner
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
ZAGG Inc:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of ZAGG Inc and subsidiaries as of Deee®b, 2013 and 2012, and the related consoli
statements of operations, comprehensive incomefyeqand cash flows for each of the years in theeglyear period ended December 31, 2013. T
consolidated financial statements are the respilitsibf the Companys management. Our responsibility is to expresspamian on these consolidated finan
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting Oversighaflo(United States). Those standards require th
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonablarasse about whether the financial statementsragedf material misstatement. An audit includesm@rang,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amountsiaelosures in the financial statements. An aaldio includes assessing the accounting principdes an
significant estimates made by management, as walaluating the overall financial statement pret@n. We believe that our audits provide a reabtmbasi
for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetageferred to above present fairly, in all mater@spects, the financial position of ZAGG Inc asubsidiarie
as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the redult®io operations and their cash flows for eacthefyears in the thregear period ended December 31, 2
in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accoogtprinciples.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@united States), ZAGG Ins’internal control ovi
financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, baseccriteria established imternal Control — Integrated Frameword992) issued by the Committee
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commisgi®82 COSO), and our report dated March 12, 26pdessed an unqualified opinion on the effective
of the Company’s internal control over financigboeting.

(signed) KPMG
LLP

Salt Lake City, Utah
March 12, 2014




ZAGG INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except par value)

2013 2012
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivale 15,03 $ 20,171
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $2,54P0m3 and $2,974 in 20: 46,59 54,56:
Inventories 44 ,53¢ 39,98¢
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 2,40: 9,547
Deferred income tax asse¢ 7,917 6,917
Total current assets 116,48: 131,18t
Investment in HzO - 2,01z
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation at $5,778 in 201B%8,317 in 201 5,00¢ 4,862
Goodwill - 1,48¢
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization at $23,431 ina1id $13,790 in 201 41,21¢ 57,90¢
Deferred income tax asset 11,375 6,59¢
Note receivable 801 582
Other assets 58¢ 1,457
Total assets 175,47 $ 206,08!
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payabl 15207 $ 19,027
Income taxes payab 6,35¢ 3,062
Accrued liabilities 2,60¢ 3,75¢
Accrued wages and wage related expe 891 2,55¢
Deferred revenu 15¢ 722
Current portion of note payak - 6,00(
Sales returns liabilit 7,872 6,697
Total current liabilities 33,09¢ 41,81¢
Revolving line of credit 17,54: 22,17:
Noncurrent portion of note payable - 18,00(
Total liabilities 50,63¢ 81,98¢
Stockholders' equity
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000 share®anél;
32,331 and 31,215 shares issued in 2013 and 2€dfectively 32 31
Additional paic-in capital 82,807 77,23¢
Accumulated other comprehensive incc 93 (57)
Note receivable collateralized by stc (349) (56€)
Treasury stock, 1,756 and 0 common shares in 20d2@12 respectively, at cc (9,999 -
Retained earninc 52,24« 47,45¢
Total stockholders' equity 124,83 124,09¢
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity 17547 $ 206,08!
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ZAGG INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

For the Years Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011

Net sales 219,35¢ $ 264,42 $ 179,12¢
Cost of sales 132,23¢ 143,88( 97,20
Gross profit 87,12( 120,54! 81,92«
Operating expenses:
Advertising and marketin 8,957 12,49¢ 10,24¢
Selling, general and administrati 46,35¢ 53,33( 39,59
Impairment of goodwill and intangible 11,24¢ 11,497 -
Amortization of definit-lived intangibles 9,62( 9,73 3,94¢
Total operating expenses 76,17 87,05 53,787
Income from operations 10,94¢ 33,49: 28,137
Other income (expense):
Interest expens (575) (6,32]) (3,029)
Loss from equity method investment in H (2,019 (2,86€) -
Gain on deconsolidation of Hz - - 1,90¢
Other income and (expens 127 (40€) (19)
Total other expense (2,467) (9,599 (1,135
Income before provision for income taxes 8,48t 23,89¢ 27,00:
Income tax provision (3,69%) (9,397) (9,41
Net income 4,79 14,50¢ 17,58¢
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest - - 664
Net income attributable to stockholders 4,79C $ 14,508 $ 18,24¢
Earnings per share attributable to stockholders:
Basic earnings per share 0.1€ $ 0.4¢ $ 0.67
Diluted earnings per share 0.1t $ 0.4€ $ 0.6




ZAGG INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in thousands)

2013 2012 2011
Net income $ 4,79C $ 14,50: $ 17,58¢
Other comprehenseive income (loss), net of tax:

Foreign currency translation gain (lo: 15C (24) 27
Total other comprehensive income (loss 15C (24) 27
Comprehensive income $ 494 $ 14,48, $ 17,61°
Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrollingnterest - - 664
Comprehensive income attributable to stockholders $ 4,940 $ 14,48, $ 18,27¢
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Balance,
December 31,
2010

Addition to
redeemable
noncontrolling
interest
Acquisition of
noncontrolling
interest
Noncontrolling
interest at fair
value
Adjustments to
redemption
value

Reversal to
adjustments to
redemption
value prior to
deconsolidatior
Deconsolidatior
of HzO

Net income
(loss)

Other
comprehensive
income

Issuance of
common stock
to purchase
iFrogz
Issuance of
common stock
to consultan
Issuance of
common stock
related to
contract
termination
Option exercise
Warrant
exercises
Warrant grant
expense
Restricted stocl
expense

Option expens
Excess tax
benefits related
to share-based
payments
Reclassificatior
of note
receivable
collateralized b
stock

Balances,
December 31,
2011

ZAGG INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

(in thousands)

Additional Note Receivable Cumulative Total Redeemable

Common Stock Paid-in  Collateralized Treasury Retainec Translation Stockholders Noncontrolling Total Noncontrolling
Shares Amount Capital By Stock Stock Earnings Adjustment Equity Interest Equity Interest

23,92¢ 24 $ 1549t $ -$ - $ 1470. $ (60) $ 30,16( $ 2,621 $ 32,78. $ -

- - (165) - - - - (16%) - (16%) 5,50(

- - - - - - - - (392 (392 -

- - (36) - - - - (36) (2,017 (2,059 1,60¢

- - (22 - - (319 - (341) - (347) 341

- - 22 - - 31¢ - 341 - 341 (341)

- - - - - - - - 64 64 (6,720

- - - - - 18,24¢ - 18,24¢ (27¢) 17,97: (38¢)

- - - - - - 27 27 - 27 -

4,444 4 46,19¢ - - - - 46,20( - 46,20( -

10 - 10C - - - - 10C - 10C -

90 - 89¢ - - - - 89¢ - 89¢ -

951 1 1,552 - - - - 1,55¢ - 1,55: -

361 1 91z - - - - 914 - 914 -

- - 377 - - - - 377 - 377 -

- - 61¢€ - - - - 61¢ - 61¢€ -

- - 2,64( - - - - 2,64( - 2,64( -

- - 1,65¢ - - - - 1,65¢ - 1,65¢ -

- - - (56€) - - - (56€) - (56€) -

29,78: 30$ 70,24¢ $ (566) $ -$.3294¢ $ (33 % 102,62¢ $ - $102,62¢ $ -




Net income
Other
comprehensive
loss

Option exercise
Warrant
exercises
Restricted stocl
release

Option expens
Warrant grant
expense
Restricted stocl
expense
Excess tax
benefits related
to share-based
payments

Balances,
December 31,
2012

Net income
Other
comprehensive
loss

Purchase of
1,756 shares ol
treasury stocl

Consideration
for acquisition
of pateni
Option exercise
Restricted stocl
release

Option expens
Restricted stocl
expense

Tax shortfall
related to share
based paymen
Reclassificatior
of note
receivable
collateralized b
stock

Balances,
December 31,
2013

- - - - - 14,50¢ - 14,50 - 14,50t

- - - - - - (24) (24) - (24)

495 - 59¢ - - - - 59¢ - 59¢

55€ 1 29t - - - - 29¢ - 29¢

382 - - - - - - - - -

- - 1,00¢ - - - - 1,00¢ - 1,008

- - 311 - - - - 311 - 311

] ; 4,191 - - - - 4,191 - 4191

- - 582 - - - - 582 - 582
312158 31$ 7723 $ (566) $ - $ 47,45 $ (57)$ 124,09 $ - $124,09¢ $

; - - - - 4,79 - 4,79( - 4,790

- - - - - - 15C 15C - 15C

- - - - (9,99) - - (9,99)) - (9,999

50C 1 1,94¢ - - - - 1,94¢ - 1,94€

13¢ 27C - - - - 27C - 27C

481 - - - - - - - - -

- - 28C - - - - 28C - 28C

- - 3,58¢ - - - - 3,58¢ - 3,58¢

- - (511) - - - - (511) - (1))

- - - 21¢ - - - 21¢ - 21¢
3233:$  32$ 8280 $ (349)$ (9,997 $ 52,24: $ 93$ 12483 $ - $124,83. $
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ZAGG INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

For the Years Ended December 31
2013 2012 2011

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income $ 479C $ 1450 $ 17,58¢
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net ¢

provided by operating activitie

Stock-based compensatic 4,12¢ 5,707 3,25¢
Impairment of goodwill and intangible 11,24¢ 11,497 -
Impairment of investmer 591 - -
Excess tax benefits related to sl-based paymen (52) (707) (2,670
Depreciation and amortizatic 12,157 11,55¢ 5,92¢
Deferred income taxe (5,787) (8,297 (3,90¢)
Amortization of deferred loan cos 12C 70¢ 32¢
Write-off of deferred loan cos 27 1,50¢ -
Expense related to issuance of warri - 311 377
Expense related to issuance of stock for consu - - 10C
Expense related to issuance of stock for roya - - 33€
Impairment on notes receivatk - - 1,48¢
Loss on disposal of property and equipr - 31z -
Loss on investment in equity method investrr 2,01z 2,86¢ -
Gain on deconsolidation of Hz - - (1,906
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, natqfiisition
Accounts receivabl 8,07¢ (9,099 (22,09¢)
Inventories (4,409 (10,339 2,46¢
Prepaid expenses and other current a 7,33t (7,600 1,607
Other asset - (12) 134
Accounts payabl (3,83¢) 3,04« 42
Income taxes payab 2,781 (65€) (2,092
Accrued liabilities (1,557) (262) 3,36¢
Accrued wages and wage related expe (1,872) 681 (953
Deferred revenue (564) 403 (72)
Sales return liability 1,167 1,29¢ 2,811
Net cash provided by operating activit 36,36¢ 17,44¢ 7,131
Cash flows from investing activities
Deposits on and purchase of intangible as (500) (72) (96)
Purchase of property and equipm (2,58¢) (2,769 (2,590
Deconsolidation of HzO, net of ca - - (4,277)
Proceeds from investment in note receiv - - 49€
Acquisition of iFrogz, net of cash acquir - - (47,53:)
Net cash used in investing activit| (3,08¢) (2,83€) (52,999
Cash flows from financing activities
Payment of debt issuance cc (43) (239) (2,53¢)
Purchase of treasury sto (9,997 - -
Proceeds from issuance of term n - 24,00( 45,00(
Proceeds from revolving credit faciliti - 26,23¢ 29,837
Payments on term no (24,000 (45,000 -
Payments on revolving credit facilities, 1 (4,630 (27,39¢) (11,54¢)
Proceeds from exercise of warrants and opt 27C 89t 2,467
Excess tax benefits related to sl-based paymen 52 707 1,67C
Cash paid for investment in Hz - - (392)
Net HzO proceeds from issuance of Series B PrefeSteck - - 5,33t
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi (38,34%) (20,799 69,83:
Effect of foreign currency exchange rates on casmad cash equivalents (74) (72 95
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivakent (5,14¢€) (6,25€) 24,06(
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the pedo 20,17: 26,43: 2,37:
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period $ 15,03. $ 20,177 $ 26,43:

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid during the period for inter $ 461 $ 4477 $ 2,60z



Cash paid during the period for tay $ 6,51 $ 1853t $ 13,09t
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ZAGG INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(Dollars and shares in thousands)

Supplemental schedule of noncash investing and finaeing activities
For the Year Ended December 31, 2013:
Reclassification of $218 from note receivable delalized by stock to note receivable.
Issued 500 shares of common stock with a fair valu$2,275 in connection with the purchase of pafpatent is recorded as a component of intan
assets in the consolidated balance sheet). $1,845ecorded to additional paid in capital, $1 wemrded to common stock, while the remaining $32¢€
recorded as a liability within accrued liabilities the consolidated balance sheet.

For the Year Ended December 31, 2012:

Foreclosure on real property valued at $250 thateskas collateral to a note receivable (Note fdnetlosed property recorded as a component ofr
noncurrent assets in the consolidated balance)sheet

Foreclosure on private company stock and warraht$5@6 that served as collateral to a note recégvéldote 11) (foreclosed property recorded
component of other noncurrent assets in the catetelil balance sheet).

For the Year Ended December 31, 2011:
Issued 90 shares of common stock with a fair vafuk899 in connection with the acquisition of itéetual property and payment of royalties.
Issued 4,444 shares of common stock with a fairevaf $46,200 in connection with the purchase ofgg (see Note 2).

Exchanged inventory for asset purchase credity85$see Note 4).
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ZAGG INC AND SUBISDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars, units, & shares in thousands, except peshare data)

(1) ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING  POLICIES
The Company

We were formed as a Nevada corporation on Apr294, under the name Amerasia Khan Enterpriseg“B®idE”). On February 8, 2007, AKE executec
Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreerfelny and between AKE and its wholly owned subsidi&¥C Acquisition, Inc., a Nevada corpora
(“Subsidiary”) on the one hand, and ShieldZone ©aafion, a Utah corporation (“ShieldZonedn the other hand. Pursuant to the Merger Agree
ShieldZone merged with Subsidiary, with ShieldZeneviving the merger and Subsidiary ceasing totéttie “Merger”).

Following the Merger, ShieldZone was reincorporateNevada as a subsidiary of AKE. On March 7, 2@hieldZone was merged into AKE and AKE char
its name to ZAGG Incorporated. As a result of thgaesactions, the historical financial statemefit8 AGG Incorporated are the historical financittement
of ShieldZone.

The Company changed its name from ShieldZone Catjoor to ZAGG Incorporated to better position then(any to become a large enterprise ir
electronics’ accessories industry through organic growth andutiin making targeted acquisitions. The ShieldZormene was very specific to 1
invisibleSHIELD product line, and although the isibleSHIELD is a core product, the name changebhasght the Company the opportunity to easily aeld
products to its product offering. During 2011, ®empany changed its name from ZAGG IncorporatedAGG Inc.

On June 21, 2011, ZAGG acquired 100% of the outtitgnshares of iFrogz, which further diversifie@ txisting ZAGG product line, particularly for aodinc
protective case accessories.

The Company designs, produces, and distributeegsmfnal and premium creative product solution$ ag invisibleSHIELD screen protection, keyboe
keyboard cases, earbuds, headphones, portable ,pcatdes, cases, Bluetooth speakers, and mobileeleleaning accessories for mobile and media ée
under the family of ZAGG and invisibleSHIELD brands addition, the Company designs, produces, asilililites earbuds, headphones, Bluetooth spe
Nea-Field Audio amplifying speakers, cases, and calolemobile and media devices under the family @bdz brands in the trendy and youth oriented Kfie
sector.

Use of estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statemémtconformity with U.S. generally accepted acdmg principles (“US GAAP”)requires management
make estimates and assumptions that affect thetegbamounts of assets and liabilities and disckosif contingent assets and liabilities at the ddtéhe
consolidated financial statements and the repoamdunts of revenue and expenses during the regop@riod. Actual results could differ from th
estimates. Significant items subject to such etéa include the allowance for doubtful accoumseitory reserve, sales returns liability, the ukéfe of
property and equipment, the useful life of intafgibssets, the recoverability of goodwill and inciéd-lived intangible assets, stoblesed compensation, ¢
income taxes. These estimates and assumptiongsee bn managemesiest estimates and judgment. Management evalitgesimates and assumption:
an ongoing basis using historical experience aheérofactors, including the economic environmentjclivimanagement believes to be reasonable und
circumstances. Management adjusts such estimadegssnmptions when facts and circumstances diategdaljustment is necessary.

Principles of consolidatior
The consolidated financial statements include tmants of ZAGG Inc and its wholly owned subsidiarZAGG International Distribution Limited ZAGG

International”),Patriot Corporation, ZAGG Intellectual Property Hiolg Co, Inc., and ZAGG Retail, Inc. All intercompatransactions and balances have
eliminated in consolidation.

F-9




ZAGG INC AND SUBISDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars, units, & shares in thousands, except peshare data)

At December 31, 2010, HzO, a private company erdjagethe development of water-blocking technolodies consumer and industrial applicationsas
consolidated by the Company as a variable intenet#ty (VIE). On December 22, 2011, HzO entered Bn Amended Series B Stock Purchase Agreemehn
a group of third party investors. ZAGG considerieid & reconsideration event and concluded that Becember 22, 2011, HzO should no longer be censitl
VIE under authoritative accounting literature, lvas considered a voting interest entity. Ultimatehanagement concluded that HzO should no long
consolidated into the ZAGG financials as of Decenfiie 2011. From December 22, 2011 to the fourtrign of 2013, management accounted for its inves
in HzO as an equity method investment. Howeverjnduthe fourth quarter of 2013, HzO received adddl equity financing, in which ZAGG did r
participate. As a result of the additional investtneZAGG’s investment declined below 20% and the investnienmtow accounted for as a cost mel
investment. The carrying amount of the investmeriizO is $0 at December 31, 2013.

Cash equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid instrumeptschased with a maturity of three months or tesee cash equivalents. Amounts receivable froedlit
card processors are also considered cash equisdlenause they are both shiemm and highly liquid in nature and are typicallgnverted to cash within thr
days of the sales transaction. Amounts receivabla tredit card processors at December 31, 2012ahd totaled $19 and $21, respectively. Cash edgri:
as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, consisted pfimarmoney market fund investments and amountsivable from credit card processors.

Fair value measurements

The Company measures at fair value certain findmaeid nonfinancial assets by using a fair value hierarctat tirioritizes the inputs to valuation technic
used to measure fair value. Fair value is the phie¢ would be received to sell an asset or paidatasfer a liability in an orderly transaction ween marke
participants at the measurement date, essentiakid price, based on the highest and best uieeddsset or liability. The levels of the fair valierarchy are:

Level 1 — Quoted market prices in active marketsdentical assets or liabilities;

Level 2 —Significant other observable inputs (e.g., quotgdes for similar items in active markets, quoteitgs for identical or similar items in mark
that are not active, inputs other than quoted pribat are observable such as interest rate aliotieves, and market-corroborated inputs); and

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs in which there iddibr no market data, which require the reporting to develop its own assumptions.
Accounts receivabl

The Company sells its products to end users thranginect distribution channels and other reseller® are extended credit terms after an analysiheif
financial condition and credit worthiness. Cretétms to distributors and resellers, when extended, based on evaluation of the customers' fink
condition. Accounts receivable are recorded abiced amounts and do not bear interest.

The Company maintains allowances for doubtful ant®tor estimated losses resulting from the ingbdf customers to make required payments. Manag
regularly evaluates the allowance for doubtful arte considering historical losses adjusted to tateaccount current market conditions, customfnsincia
condition, receivables in dispute, receivables ggand current payment patterns. Account balanceswvatten off against the allowance after all mean
collection have been exhausted and the potentiakfiovery is considered remote. Payments subségueceived on written off receivables are credito ba
debt expense in the period of recovery.
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ZAGG INC AND SUBISDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars, units, & shares in thousands, except peshare data)

The following summarizes the activity in the Comyparallowance for doubtful accounts for the yearded December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011:

For the Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Balance at beginning of ye $ 297. % 2,07C % 904
Additions charged to expen 1,142 2,101 1,657
Write-offs charged against the allowance (1,576 (1,197 (497)
Balance at end of year $ 2540 $ 297¢ % 2,07(C

Inventories

Inventories, consisting primarily of finished gooded raw materials, are valued at the lower of ,cdetermined on a first in, first out basis, or ket
Management performs periodic assessments to deteitimé existence of obsolete, slow moving, andsaeable inventories, and records necessary woites
in cost of sales to reduce such inventories torealizable value. Once established, the originat @ the inventory less the related inventory evigiowr
represents the new cost basis of such products.

Property and equipmer

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Digpi@t expense is computed using the straligig-method over the estimated useful lives of dlsset:
Leasehold improvements are amortized over thededsbe useful life of the asset or the term & kbase.

Major additions and improvements are capitalizelijevcosts for minor replacements, maintenancerapdirs that do not increase the useful life ohaset ar
expensed as incurred. Upon retirement or otherodispn of property and equipment, the cost andteel accumulated depreciation or amortization emgore«
from the accounts. The resulting gain or lossfieceed in selling, general and administrative exgee

Intangibles asset

Intangible assets include internet addresses, {satierellectual property, and acquired intangibile€onnection with the acquisition of iFrogz, whigclude
customer relationships, trademarks, non-competeeagents, and other miscellaneous intangible assets.

Definite-lived intangible assets are amortized ofleir estimated economic lives, using a stralgie-or accelerated method consistent with the tiyidg
expected future cash flows related to the spetifingible asset.Amortization expense is recorded within cost oesalr operating expense depending ol
underlying intangible assets.

Impairment of lonc-lived assets

Long-lived assets, such as property and equipraedtdefiniteived intangible assets, are reviewed for impairmenenever events or changes in circumste
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset nayba recoverable. If circumstances require a loregt asset or asset group be tested for possigairment
recoverability of longived assets is measured by comparison of its c@rrgmount to the undiscounted cash flows thatafeet or asset group is expecte
generate over the remaining life in measuring winethe assets are recoverablé.such assets are considered to be impairednthairment to be recognizec
measured by the amount by which the carrying amofitite assets exceeds its fair value. Fair vsluietermined through various valuation technigoeiding
discounted cash flow models, quoted market valadglrd-party independent appraisals, as consideeeessary.

Impairment of goodwill and indefinit-lived intangible assets

The Company does not amortize goodwill and intaegéssets with indefinite useful lives. At leashaally and when events and circumstances warre
evaluation, management performs an impairment sissa¥ of goodwill. This assessment initially pesmwh entity to make a qualitative assessment ofhehd
is more likely than not that a reporting unit'srfaglue is less than its carrying amount beforelyapg the twostep goodwill impairment test. If an entity
support the conclusion that it is not more likdlgr not that the fair value of a reporting uniess than its carrying amount, it would not neegedorm the two-
step impairment test for the reporting unit.
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ZAGG INC AND SUBISDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars, units, & shares in thousands, except peshare data)

However, if it is determined that it is more likelyan not that the fair value of a reporting usitdss than its carrying amount, the two step a&iglg performe:
which incorporates a fawalue based approach. Management determines theafae of its reporting units based on discourgash flows and market approi
analyses as considered necessary, and considersfatich as a weakened economy, reduced expestdtiofuture cash flows coupled with a decline fea
market price of the Company’s stock and markettalipation for a sustained period as indicators gotential goodwill impairment. If the reporting itig
carrying amount exceeds its estimated fair valisand step must be performed to measure the ambtime goodwill impairment loss, if any. The sadoste|
compares the implied fair value of the reportingt’sngoodwill, determined in the same manner as theuatrof goodwill recognized in a business comborg
with the carrying amount of such goodwill. If thergying amount of the reporting urstgoodwill exceeds the implied fair value of thabdwill, an impairmer
loss is recognized in an amount equal to that exdagring the fourth quarter of 2013, managemernged a goodwill impairment of $1,484. During tbarth
quarter of 2012, management recorded a goodwilaimpent of $5,441. No impairment was recorded ih120

Indefinitedived intangible assets are tested for impairmamtally, or, more frequently upon the occurrenca ¢figgering event. Initially, a qualitative ansik
is performed to determine whether it is necessanyetrform the quantitative impairment test for ifidiée-lived intangible assets. A quantitative assessrs
only performed if it is determined in the qualitetianalysis that it is more likely than not tha #sset is impaired.

If it is determined in the qualitative analysisttitas more likely than not that the asset is iinpd, the Company evaluates the recoverabilitynoihaefinitetived
intangible asset by comparing the indefinite-livethngible asset’s book value to its estimated ¥alue. The fair value for indefinitéred intangible assets
determined by performing cash flow analysis anceotharket evaluations. If the fair value of thedfiditedived intangible assets is less than book value
difference is recognized as an impairment loss.

During the fourth quarter of 2013, the Company mad®and strategy decision to place greater empluasithe promotion of the ZAGG and invisbleSHIE
brands, highlighted by the decision to brand the bf gaming controllers as ZAGG products instednaler the iFrogz brand, which was the originalduc
branding. As a result of this decision, the Compdetermined that future cash flows under the iFtogdemark would be less than previously estimatetitha
the trademark should be considered a definite-liveangible asset. Management performed an impaitrasalysis and recorded a ncash impairment «
$9,762 related to the iFrogz trademark at Decen®ier2013. As the trademark is now considered anidedived intangible, the Company will commel
amortizing the remaining trademark balance of $3,@3 an accelerated basis over a ten-year lifeistems$ with the trademar&’projected future cash flows fr
the trademark.

During the fourth quarter of 2012, the Company deteed that future cash flows under the EarPollutimdemark would be less than previously estimate
that the trademark should be considered a defiiviég- intangible asset. Management performed araimgent analysis and recorded a ruash impairment
$5,917 related to the EarPollution trademark atdbawer 31, 2012. As the trademark was then consldedefinitelived intangible, the Company commen
amortizing the trademark on an accelerated basisav eight-year life consistent with the tradertsapkojected future cash flows from the trademark.

No impairments of defini-lived intangibles were recorded in 2011.
The Company performs its goodwill and intangiblseasmpairment tests in the fourth quarter of efé&stal year. The Company established reportingsuvgise

on its current reporting structure. For purposetesfing goodwill for impairment, goodwill is ass&f to a reporting unit. Prior to performing thel2@oodwil
impairment test, all goodwill was assigned to tH&sG Domestic reporting unit.
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Contingencies

Liabilities for loss contingencies arising fromiofs, assessments, litigation, fines, and penadtiesother sources are recorded when it is prolibbtea liability
has been incurred and the amount can be reasoestblyated. Legal costs incurred in connection Vil contingencies are expensed as incurred.

Revenue recognitioi

The Company records revenue when persuasive ewdehan arrangement exists, product delivery hasiroed, the sales price to the customer is fixe
determinable, and collectability is reasonably es$uThe Compang’ revenue is derived from sales of its productsubh its indirect channel, includi
retailers and distributors; through its direct amgnincluding_www.ZAGG.com www.iFrogz.com, and its corporate-owned and third-pastyned mall kiosk
and ZAGG branded stores; and from the fees deffir@d the sale of exclusive franchise rights relai®dhe kiosk program. For sales of product, igsdar
shipping terms are FOB shipping point, and the Camgprecords revenue when the product is shippedphestimated returns and discounts. For ¢
customers, the contractual shipping terms are Fe€fimhtion. For these shipments, the Company reaestenue when the product is delivered, net daeséc
returns and discounts. For license fees, the Coynpecognizes revenue on a straifjhe basis over the life of the license term. Tr@mpany records reven
from royalty agreements in the period in which tbgalty is earned.

Promotional products given to customers or potégtiagtomers are recognized as a cost of sales. iBashtives provided to customers are recognizeé
reduction of the related sale price, and, therefare a reduction in sales.

Reserve for sales returns and warranty liabill

For product sales, the Company records revenuepfnestimated returns and discounts, when deliery occurred, collection of the relevant receivak
probable, persuasive evidence of an arrangemesisexid the sales price is fixed or determinabihe Tompanys return policy allows end users and reta
rights to return purchased products. In addittbe, Company generally provides the ultimate consuenwarranty with each product. Due to the natfréhe
invisibleSHIELD product line, returns for the inlieeSHIELD are generally not salvageable and atémauded in inventory. The Company estimatesserv
for sales returns and warranty and record the astdreserve amount as a reduction of sales, andales return reserve liability. When producetsirned an
is expected to be resold, as is the case withretaf keyboard, audio, case, and power produotsraberve is recorded as a reduction of revenugsa@st o
sales, and as a sales return reserve liability. SEthes returns and warranty reserve requires mar&geto make estimates regarding return ratesdi@ssan
warranty returns. Historical experieneetual claims, and customer return rights are thefctors used in determining the estimated salesn and warran
reserve.

The following summarizes the activity in the Comyarsales return and warranty liability for the y@anded December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011:

For the Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Balance at beginning of ye $ 6,691 $ 5381 $ 2,06¢
iFrogz sales reserve at acquisit — — 524
Additions charged to salt 12,19« 12,95« 12,90¢
Sales returns & warranty claims charged againstves (11,019 (11,644 (10,117)
Balance at end of year $ 787: $ 6,697 $ 5,387

Income taxes

The Company recognizes deferred income tax assefabilities for expected future tax consequenoésvents that have been recognized in the fing
statements or tax returns. Under this method,rdeféncome tax assets or liabilities are deterchibased upon the difference between the finantaéémer
and income tax bases of assets and liabilitiegusiracted tax rates expected to apply when diféeeare expected to be settled or realized. Beféncome ta
assets are reviewed for recoverability and valmagitowances are provided when it is more likelgrtinot that a deferred tax asset will not be rablein th
future. The effect on deferred tax assets andlitiab of a change in tax rates is recognizechtoime in the period that includes the enactmerst dat
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The Company recognizes the effect of income taitipas only if those positions are more likely thaot of being sustained. Recognized income taxtipos
are measured at the largest amount that is grémter50% likely of being realized. Changes in rettign or measurement are reflected in the penodhich the
change in judgment occurs. The Company recordmatdd interest and penalties related to unrecodrie benefits, if any, as a component of income
provision.

The Company has foreign subsidiaries formed or iseduo conduct or support its business outsidelthited States. The Company does not provide f&.
income taxes on undistributed earnings for itsifpresubsidiaries as the foreign earnings will ben@mently reinvested in such foreign jurisdictions.

Stock-based compensation

The Company recognizes stock-based compensati@nsepn its consolidated financial statements ¥eards granted to employees and monployees, whic
include restricted stock, stock options, and wasaiquityelassified awards are measured at the grant datealae of the award. The fair value of restric
stock is measured on the grant date based on titedjalosing market price of the Compangbmmon stock. The fair value of the stock oisnmeasured «
the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pgichodelbased on the underlying common stock closing mief the date of grant, the expected term, :
price volatility, and risk-free interest rates heTCompany recognizes compensation expense nstiwiaged forfeitures on a straigliie basis over the requis
service period of the award, which is generallyhsting term of the award. No compensation sitimately recognized for awards for which emgley d
not render the requisite service and are forfeitexicess tax benefits of awards that are recognizestjuity related to stock option exercises afteceed a
financing cash inflows.

Advertising and marketing

General advertising is expensed as incurred. Avegtallowances provided to retailers are recoraedn expense at the time of the related sahe iCompan
receives an identifiable benefit in exchange fa tlonsideration and has evidence of fair valuetferadvertising; otherwise, the allowance is reedrds
reduction of revenue. Advertising expenses foryiars ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 B¢3825 $12,495 and $10,246, respectively.

Foreign currency translation and transactions

The Companys primary operations are at the parent level whigks the U.S. dollar (USD) as its functional cucyerThe Euro is the functional currency of
Companys foreign subsidiaries. Accordingly, assets ankillizes for these subsidiaries are translated ID8D using exchange rates in effect at the endaoff
period. Revenue and expenses for these subsidaméetranslated using rates that approximate thoséfect during the period. Gains and losses ftoest
translations are recorded as a component of stédddsd equity. Gains and losses resulting from foreignreney transactions are included in income
component of other income and (expense) in theatilased statements of operations and totaled (@4)7) and $60 for the years ended December 313,
2012 and 2011, respectively.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per common share excludes dilutighigicomputed by dividing net income attributaiolestockholders by the weighted average numbeharfes
of common stock outstanding during the period.uf@idl earnings per common share reflects the pateditution that could occur if stock options othel
common stock equivalents were exercised or conyent® common stock. The dilutive effect of stogitions or other common stock equivalents is catea
using the treasury stock method.
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The following is a reconciliation of the numerasod denominator used to calculate basic earningshaee and diluted earnings per share for thesyerzded
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011:

2013 2012 2011

Net income attributable to stockhold: $ 4,79C $ 14,508 $ 18,24¢
Weighted average shares outstanc 30,90( 30,33¢ 27,13¢
Dilutive effect of stock options, restricted stoekd warrants 55¢ 1,31% 1,94¢
Diluted shares 31,45¢ 31,65¢ 29,08
Earnings per share attributable to stockholc

Basic $ 0.1€ $ 0.4¢ $ 0.67

Dilutive $ 0.1t $ 0.4€ $ 0.6

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, ahdl, 28stricted stock, warrants and stock optionpuiehase 620, 169, and 103 shares of common
respectivelywere not considered in calculating diluted earnipgsshare because the warrant or stock optiorciseeprices or the total expected proceeds (
the treasury stock method for the warrants, rasttistock, or stock options was greater than tieeage market price of common shares during thegennd
therefore, the effect would be anti-dilutive.

Recent accounting pronouncemen

In November 2013, the Financial Accounting StandaBard (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Upd@&SU”) No. 2013-11,Presentation of &
Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net Operating Gassyforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Cred&m@/forward Exists ASU 201311 requires an entity
present an unrecognized tax benefit as a reducfiardeferred tax asset for a net operating lo§3L)\carryforward, or similar tax loss or tax credérryforward
rather than as a liability when (1) the uncertai position would reduce the NOL or other carryfardvunder the tax law of the applicable jurisdictand (2) th
entity intends to use the deferred tax asset far plrpose. The ASU does not require new recumrdisglosures. The ASU is effective prospectively fiscal
years, and interim periods within those years, ti@gg after December 15, 2013. The Company willlengent the provisions of ASU 20111t as of January
2014, and is still evaluating the impact on the @any’s financial statements.

(2) ACQUISITION OF IFROGZ

On June 21, 2011, the Company, Reminderband Ireciftogz (“iFrogz”),and the owners of iFrogz entered into a Stock RagelAgreement pursuant to wt
ZAGG acquired 100% of the outstanding shares afger

The Company purchased iFrogz for total considematio$50,000 in cash and 4,444 shares of ZAGG comstock. The value of the shares of the Company’
common stock used in determining the purchase pva $12.60 per share, the closing price of the @my's common stock on June 21, 2011. 2,222 ¢
shares issued were subject to a 12-month “locktugrisfer restriction following the date of acqu@it and, therefore, the fair value of these shavas
determined considering the restriction resulting iiscount of 20.0% from the closing share prides 12-month “lock-up'transfer restriction following the dz

of acquisition in accordance with SEC Rule 144 egion June 21, 2012. The other 2,222 shares isserzisubject to a 6-month “lock-upransfer restrictio
that expired on December 21, 2011. The fair valuthese shares was determined considering theatestrresulting in a discount of 15.0% from thesihc
share price.
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The following summarizes the components of the Ipase price:

Value of ZAGG shares issued:

ZAGG shares issued witl-month restrictior $ 23,80(

ZAGG shares issued with 12-month restriction 22,40(

46,20(

Cash consideration 50,00(
Total $ 96,20(

The total purchase price of $96,200 was allocatethngible and intangible assets acquired andlitiasi assumed based on their respective fair galie
excess of the purchase price over the fair valuamgible and intangible assets acquired and iiegsilassumed was recorded as goodwill. Fair waassigne
were based on reasonable methods applicable toatuee of the assets acquired and liabilities assurhe following table summarizes the allocatidérihe
purchase consideration:

Cash and cash equivalel $ 2,46¢
Trade receivables ($5,880 contractual gross rebkssy 5,832
Inventories 14,96:
Prepaid expenste 57¢
Property and equipme 2,07¢
Deposits 138
Definite-lived identifiable intangible asse 49,90(
Indefinite-lived identifiable intangible asse 25,10(
Goodwill 6,92t
Current liabilities (11,789
Total $ 96,20(

As part of the acquisition of iFrogz, the Compangurred legal, accounting, and other due diligeiees that were expensed when incurred. Total feasriec
related to the acquisition of iFrogz for the twelwenths ended December 31, 2011, were $1,947, wiick included as a component of selling, genara
administrative expenses in the consolidated stateofeoperations. No expenses were incurred in 2012013.

Identifiable Intangible Asse

Classes of acquired intangible assets include mestoelationships, trademarks, noompete agreements, and other intangibles. Thedaie of the identifiab
intangible assets was determined using variousatialu methods, including the income and market @ggites. For assets valued under the income appitha
estimate of the present value of expected futush d@ws for each identifiable asset was basediscodnt rates which incorporate a risk premiumatcetintc
account the risks inherent in those expected dastsf The expected cash flows were estimated wsiagable historical data adjusted based on the faoyis
historical experience and the expectations of ntggeicipants. The market approach was utilizedetermine appropriate royalty rates applied toviddeatior
of the trademarks and patents. The amounts assigrestth class of intangible asset and the relagighted average amortization periods are as fallow

Intangible

asset clas: Weightec-average amortization period
Customer relationshig $ 41,50( 8.0 yeal
Trademarks (indefini-lived) 25,10( Indefinite
Trademarks (defini-lived) 3,50(C 9.7 year
Norn-compete agreemer 4,10( 4.8 year
Other 80C 3.8 year
Total $ 75,00(

As is discussed in Note 7, the iFrogz and EarHoliurademarks were originally recorded as an iiniteflived intangible asset as presented in théetabove.
However, management concluded that the trademadiddsbe considered definite-lived assets due émghs in brand strategy in the fourth quarter 220
(EarPollution) and the fourth quarter of 2013 (iffzh
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Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the iFrogz puehmice over the fair value of the assets acquinetliabilities assumed. The goodwill acquiredhia
acquisition is deductible for income tax purposed @ being amortized over a period of 15 years.

As is discussed in Note 7, the Company recordeaimmznts to goodwill during the fourth quarter 6fl2 and the fourth quarter of 2013.

Results of Operatior

For the year ended December 31, 2011, iFrogz ¢nn&dl net sales of $36,046 and net loss beforeft$,461 to the consolidated statement of oparatio
(3) INVENTORIES

Inventory consisted of the following components:

December 31,

2013 2012
Finished good $ 40,99: $ 34,69(
Raw materials 3,541 5,29¢
Total inventory $ 4453¢ $ 39,98¢

In addition, included in prepaid expenses and othierent assets were inventory deposits with tpaidy manufacturers at December 31, 2013 and 20$23%
and $8,034, respectively.

(4) ASSET PURCHASE CREDITS

The Company entered into a nonmonetary exchangeaction with Argent Trading Inc. (“Argent§uring the second quarter of 2011 whereby the Coy
transferred inventory with a carrying value of $386Argent in exchange for asset purchase credits avface value of $1,350. The credits can bel disethe
purchase of goods or services from certain vendatis March 1, 2016, when the unused asset purotrastits expire.

The Company accounted for this nonmonetary tramsadtased on the fair value of the inventory trangfd as the inventory'fair value was more clea
evident than fair value of the asset purchase tsiedihe Company determined that the inventory &ddir value of $785 at the date of the transfed
recorded an impairment loss on the inventory of1$2@hich was recorded as a component of cost @&ssial the accompanying consolidated stateme
operations during the second quarter of 2011.

On May 2, 2012, the Company assigned these cradidsssupplier in exchange for discounts on futwecpases of products from the supplier. Manage
expects the discounts received to at least eqealatue of the asset purchase credits assignedidirizk realized over approximately a thrgear period. Despi
the change in character, the Company continuedassify these assets within prepaid expenses dmt current assets, and noncurrent other assetse
consolidated balance sheet based on when the discate expected to be realiz&diring the years ended December 31, 2013 and 284d8agement utilize
$275 and $184, respectively, of the assets. Tadabdnts utilized at December 31, 2013 total $459.
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(5) INVESTMENT IN HzO

HzO, Inc. (“HzQ") is a private company engagedtie tlevelopment of water-blocking technologies famstimer and industrial applicatiof®ior to the fourt
quarter of 2013, the Company accounted for itsstment in HzO under the equity method of accountingecognizing ZAGG share of the earnings or los
of HzO in the periods in which they are reportedHBO in its separate financial statements, adjutiedhe amortization of the basis difference betw¢he
Company'’s investment in HzO and the Companyhderlying share in the net assets of HzO. Dutiegourth quarter of 2013, HzO raised $10,11additiona
equity capital through the sale of 39,205 additid®eries B Preferred Shares. ZAGG did not partieipa the capital raise, the result of which wageduc:
ZAGG's ownership interest in HzO to 15.3% at DecembeB813. As ZAGG cannot exercise significant infloerover HzO and its ownership interest is be
20.0%, the Company now accounts for the investimedzO as a cost method investment.

For the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012Cdmepany recorded a loss from investment in HzO 230%3 and $2,866, respectively. The loss 1
investment in HzO was recorded as a componenthefr @xpense in the consolidated statement of apesain each respective period. The carrying vallthe
investment at December 31, 2013 was $0 due todtenaulated losses.

(6) PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consisted of the following:

December 31,

2013 2012
Useful Lives

Computer equipment and softw: 3to 5 year: $ 151¢ $ 1,34
Equipment 31010 year: 5,17: 2,98¢
Furniture and fixture 7 years 77¢€ 73E
Automobiles 5 years 201 26E
Leasehold improvements 1to 4.75 years 3,111 2,847
10,78: 8,17¢

Less accumulated depreciation (5,77¢) (3,317)
Net property and equipment $ 5,00¢ $ 4,862

(7) GOODWILL & INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Impairment of Goodwiil

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 201Z,dampany recorded impairments of goodwill in theoants of $1,484 and $5,441, respectively, wherai
determined that the carrying value of goodwill eeded its fair value. The determination was madénduhe impairment analyses performed during theth
quarters of 2013 and 2012. In conjunction with ittg@airment tests, the Company considered factoch s$ the overall decline in the market price @
Companys stock, a decline in market capitalization foruatained period, and a decline in forecasted ojpasats indicators for potential goodwill impairni
In determining the amount of impairments within @ealyses in 2013 and 2012, we considered bothntwne approach, utilizing a discounted cash
analysis, and market approach, which considers wthar purchasers and sellers in the market haidefgacompanies reasonably similar to the repgrtinit.

The goodwill impairments are included as a compboéimpairment of goodwill and intangibles in tbensolidated statement of operations.
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The changes in the carrying amount of goodwilltf@ year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, actiasd:

2013 2012
Balance as of January
Gross goodwil $ 6,92t $ 6,92
Accumulated impairment loss (5,447 —
Net goodwill as of January 1,48¢ 6,92¢
Goodwill acquired during the ye — —
Impairment loss (1,484 (5,447
Balance as of December
Gross goodwil 6,92¢ 6,92¢
Accumulated impairment loss (6,925 (5,447
Net goodwill as of December 31 $ —  $ 1,48¢

Impairment of Indefinit-lived Intangible Assets

During the fourth quarter of 2013, the Company madwand strategy change to place greater empbadise promotion of the ZAGG and invisibleSHIE
brands. This was highlighted by the decision tmtrthe line of gaming controllers as ZAGG produnttead of under the iFrogz brand, which was thgiroal
product branding. As a result of this decision, determined that future cash flows under the iFrmgdemark likely will be less than previously esited an
that the trademark should be considered a defiiviéel intangible asset. Management incorporateslitiformation into an impairment analysis perfornaleding
the fourth quarter of 2013, relying on a discountegh flow analysis and market approach. Managemietermined the carrying amount of the trader
exceeded the fair value and an impairment chargg9gf62 was recorded at December 31, 284%& component of the goodwill and impairment limehe
consolidated statement of operations . As the tnadlk is now considered a definiiged intangible, management will commence amarntizihe trademark ove
tenyear useful life on an accelerated basis consistéhtthe projected future cash flows from the &adirk. Future amortization of this trademark iduded ir
the estimated future amortization table below is tiote.

December 31,

2013 2012
iFrogz trademark prior to impairme $ 16,80 $ 16,80(
iFrogz trademark impairment (9,767) —
iFrogz trademark — definite-lived $ 7,03t $ 16,80(

During the fourth quarter of 2012, the Company deieed that future cash flows under the EarPollutimdemark likely will be less than previouslyiesttec
and that the trademark should be considered aittefived intangible asset. Management performed araimpent analysis during the fourth quarter of 2
relying on a discounted cash flow analysis and etadpproach, and determined that the carrying amofithe trademark exceeded the fair value an
impairment charge of $5,917 was recorded at DeceBthe2012 as a component of the goodwill and immpant line in the consolidated statement of opensti
As the trademark was considered a definite-livedrigible, management commenced amortizing the tradeover an eighyear period on an accelerated b
consistent with the projected future cash flowsrfithe trademark. Amortization of this intangiblemoenced in the first quarter of 2013.

December 31

2012
EarPollution trademark prior to impairme $ 8,30(
EarPollution trademark impairment (5,919
EarPollution trademark — definite-lived $ 2,38¢
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In addition, during the fourth quarter of 2012, empany wrotesff $139 in internally developed software acquinethe iFrogz acquisition as it was abandc
in December 2012. The charge is included as a coerg®f the goodwill and impairment line in the solidated statement of operations.

Definite-lived Intangibles
Definite-lived intangibles as of December 31, 2@h8 2012, were as follows:

As of December 31, 201

Write -off of
Gross Fully Transfers from ) ]

Carrying Accumulated Amortized Indefinite-life Net Carrying Weighted Average

Amount Amortization Asset Classification Amount Amortization Period
Customer relationshir $ 41,50C $ 17,53) $ — 3% — 3 23,96: 8.0 year
Non-compete agreemer 4,10(C (2,169 — — 1,931 4.8 year
Other Trademark 3,50( 1,719 — — 1,781 9.7 year
iFrogz Trademar! — — — 7,03¢ 7,03¢ 10.0 year
EarPollution Trademar 2,38t (559 — — 1,82¢ 8.0 year
Other 661 (487) (62) — 11z 5.0 year
Acquired technolog' 70¢ (165) — — 544 7.0 year
Internet addres 124 (66) — — 58 10.0 year
Patents 4,69¢ (734) — — 3,962 12.5-14.0 year
Total amortizable asse $ 57,67 $ (23,43) $ 61) $ 7,03t $ 41,21¢ 8.4 year

As of December 31, 201
Gross Transfers from

Carrying Accumulated Indefinite-life Net Carrying Weighted Average

Amount Amortization Write -off Classification Amount Amortization Period
Customer relationshif $ 41,500 $ (10,29) $ — $ — $ 31,20¢ 8.0 year
Non-compete agreemer 4,10(C (1,389 — — 2,711 4.8 year
Other Trademark 3,50(C (1,105 — — 2,39t 9.7 year
EarPollution Trademar — — — 2,38¢ 2,38¢ 8.0 year
Other 80C (44¢) (139 — 21t 5.0 year
Acquired technolog' 564 (83 — — 481 7.0 year
Internet addres 124 (53 — — 71 10.0 year
Patents 2,068 (423) — — 1,64( 14.0 year
Total amortizable asse $ 52,65: $ (13,790 $ (139) $ 238: $ 41,10¢ 8.0 year

Customer relationships, trademarks, and other gilides are amortized on an accelerated basis ¢ensiwith their expected future cash flows overin
estimated useful life, which results in acceleraetbrtization. The remaining definiieed intangible assets are amortized using thegit line method ow
their estimated useful life. For the years endextéinber 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 amortization egevas $9,702, $9,801, and $4,921, respect
Amortization expense was primarily recorded asmmanent of operating expense, however, amortizatigense related to acquired technology in 20132,
and 2011 of $82, $69, and $972, respectively, wasrded as a component of cost of sales.

On September 4, 2013, the Company acquired a ppteatant to an Amended Asset Purchase AgreemBotrghase Agreement”VJnder the terms of tl
Purchase Agreement, the Company agreed to tracmfisideration of $500 in cash and 500 shares of @A&stricted common stock to acquire the patenich
protects elements of the CompasynvisibleSHIELD product line. The patent was melenl based on the fair value of the consideratiansferred on the date
the Purchase Agreement. The components of consimeiacluded the following items:

Restricted common stoc $ 2,27¢
Cash consideratic 50C
Acquisition costs 2
Total $ 2,771
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Management valued the restricted common stockzinilithe stock price on September 4, 2013, alsimgaikto consideration the sixonth transfer restrictic
attached to the stock and the Company’s guararftdeedransaction date value of the restricted commstock when the stock becomes fiegling in Marcl
2014. As the guarantee represents a put featumegageaent valued the put feature utilizing the Bi&ckoles model to be $330 and classified that amasik
liability on the date of the Purchase AgreemenisTiability will be marked to fair value each rating period until settled with the change in faalue bein
recorded through the consolidated statement ofatipars. As of December 31, 2013, the Company recbedreduction in the fair value of the liability®53 ant
a corresponding benefit to other expense in thedaftated statement of operations.

Estimated future amortization expense is as follows

2014 $ 9,81:
2015 8,56(
2016 7,12¢
2017 5,64¢
Thereafter 10,07
Total $ 41,21¢

Indefinite-lived Intangibles

The gross carrying amount of indefinite-lived irgdsles as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 were syl

December 31, 201

Gross Transfers to

Carrying Definite-life Net Carrying

Amount Impairment Classification Amount
iFrogz trademarl $ 16,80C $ (9,762) $ (7,039 $ —
EarPollution trademar — — — —
Total nor-amortizable asse $ 16,80C $ (9,762) $ (7,039) $ —

December 31, 201.
Gross Transfers to

Carrying Definite-life Net Carrying

Amount Impairment Classification Amount
iFrogz trademarl $ 16,80 $ — % — % 16,80(
EarPollution trademar 8,30( (5,917 (2,387 —
Total nor-amortizable asse $ 25,100 $ (5,919) $ (2,389 $ 16,80(
(8) INCOME TAXES
The components of income tax (provision) benefittfe years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 204:1,

2013 2012 2011

Current (provision)
Federa $ 8,720 $ (15,466 $ (11,489
State (76€) (2,109 (1,767)
Foreign — (11€) (72)
Total current (9,486 (17,68¢6) (13,32¢)
Deferred (provision) benefi
Federa 5,03¢ 7,20¢ 3,40z
State 75E 1,08¢ 50€
Foreign — — —
Total deferred 5,791 8,29 3,90¢
Total (provision) benefit $ (3,695 $ (9,399 $ (9,41¢)
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The following is a reconciliation of the income égxcomputed using the federal statutory rate t@toeision for income taxes for the years endedebdwer 31,
2013, 2012 and 2011:

2013 2012 2011

Tax at statutory rate (359 $ 2,970 $ (8,369 $ (9,45))
State tax, net of federal tax bent 25 (663) (88¢)
Gain on deconsolidation of Hz — — 31€
Non-deductible expense and ott 42¢ (341) (130)
Domestic production activities deducti 331 67€ 771
Return to provision adjustme (148) (49) (36)
Liquidation of iFrogz EL 5 — —
Reserve related to FIN ¢ (382) — —
Interest and penaltie 32 — —
Increase in valuation allowan (952) (652) —

$ (3,695 $ (9,399 $ (9,419

The tax effects of temporary differences that géseto significant portions of deferred tax assetd liabilities at December 31, 2013 and 2012 aarfollows:

2013 2012
Deferred tax asset
Allowance for doubtful accoun $ 95¢ $ 1,02
Deferred revenu 38 27
Inventories 3,211 2,317
Stocl-based compensatic 1,46¢ 1,42C
Sales returns accru 2,945 2,45¢
Acquisition costs, net of amortizati 252 282
Intangible asset 8,32( 4,372
Goodwill 2,192 1,801
HzO investmen 1,48: 713
Capital loss car-over 271 —
Reserve on note receival 56¢ 56¢
Other liabilities 39 38
Deferred tax asse 21,74( 15,01¢
Valuation allowance (1,759 (713)
Total deferred tax assets $ 19987 $ 14,30:
Deferred tax liabilities
Property and equipme 693 794
Total gross deferred tax liabilities 692 794
Net deferred tax asse $ 19,29 $ 13,50¢
Deferred tax assets, r— current $ 7917 % 6,912
Deferred tax assets, net — noncurrent 11,371 6,59¢
Net deferred tax asse $ 19,29¢ % 13,50¢

The Company recorded a full valuation allowancersia deferred tax asset generated by losses avéstment in HzO. HzO is a development stagerprise
and given current operations and uncertainty afreuprofitability, management has determined thistinore likely than not that the deferred taxeassll not be
realizable. Given this, a full valuation allowareeDecember 31, 2013 and 2012 of $1,483 and $&kpectively, has been recorded against the deféax
asset. In addition, at December 31, 2013, the Casnpecorded a full valuation allowance against defittax assets resulting from capital loss cangrs as tr
Company determined that it was unlikely the capdas carry-overs would be able to be utilized.
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The Company has not recorded a tax benefit at DieeeBi, 2012 for operating losses from operatiarfsrance (iFrogz Europe SAS) and the UK (ZAGG
Europe). On a combined basis, the two entitiesehgbss cumulative operating loss of $1,280 at Béeee 31, 2012. Operations for iFrogz Europe SAS and
ZAGG Europe were transitioned to Ireland and trenefwe do not expect future taxable income witfriance or the UK to offset net operating lossesGZA
Europe was liquidated and the entity closed du?i@g?. In addition, iFrogz Europe SAS was liquidated the entity closed during the fourth quarte2@f3.

For all other deferred tax assets, no valuatiomnalhce has been recorded at December 31, 201304:2d & management believes it is more likely thatrtha
the results of future operations will generateisight taxable income to realize its deferred teseds.

The Company has not recognized a deferred taxitiabr the undistributed earnings of its foreigperations that arose in 2013 and prior years@a€tmpan
considers these earnings to be indefinitely reitegesCash held by foreign entities that is congidgrermanently rezvested totaled $3,361 as of Decembe
2013. If this cash were repatriated to the UnitedeS, outside the settlement of intercompany dagaly payment of intercompany royalties, the Camyp&oulc
need to accrue and pay the related tax. HoweveiCtimpany considers these funds permanently restedend has no plans to repatriate these funds.

The Company recognizes the impact of a tax positigthe financial statements if that position isréikely than not of being sustained on audit,dobsn th
technical merits of the position. As of December 3113 and 2012, the Company recorded a tax caeimgof $460 and $61, respectively. The tax coetinge:
are primarily related to the Companies global te&tegy and certain transactions in foreign juddns in prior periods. These tax contingenciesaogros
basis, are reconciled in the table below:

2013 2012
Unrecognized tax benefits, as of Janua $ 61 $ 61
Gross increase- tax positions in current peric 39¢ —
Total (provision) benefit $ 46C $ 61

As of December 31, 2013, the Company's liabilitated to unrecognized tax benefits was $460 of €43 would impact the Company's effective tar it
recognized.

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, atfj #ite Company recorded $32, $0, and $0, resgégtin each year in interest and penalties.

The Company is currently not under examination by #ederal or state tax authority, but remains sctbfo income tax examinations for each of its ofae
years, which extend back to 2010 for federal inctamepurposes and 2009 for state income tax puspose

(9) STOCK OPTIONS AND WARRANTS

In 2007, the Company’s board of directors adopted ia 2008 the Company’shareholders approved the ZAGG Incorporated Z0ek Incentive Plan (il
“2007 Plan”). The 2007 Plan was amended to increase the numistraoés issuable under the 2007 Plan to 10,000f Becember 31, 2012, there were 6,
shares available for grant under the 2007 Plan.

On January 15, 2013, the Company’s Board of Dirscémlopted and in June 2013, the Company’s shatefsodpprovethe ZAGG Inc 2013 Equity Incenti
Award Plan (the “2013 Plan”), a new equity inceatplan intended to replace the 2007 Plan. The Z048 is an “omnibus plantinder which stock optior
stock appreciation rights, performance share awaedsricted stock, and restricted stock units lmamwarded. The 2013 Planhitial share reservation is 5,(
shares. The term of the plan is for 10 years fthendate of its adoptios of December 31, 2013, there were approximatedp4l shares available for gr
under the 2013 Plan.

F-23




ZAGG INC AND SUBISDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars, units, & shares in thousands, except peshare data)

Upon adoption of the 2013 Plan in January 2013Cibpany ceased to grant awards pursuant to thHe R@d. All future awards will be granted under #94.:
Plan. All awards that are outstanding under thezZ@ian will continue to vest, be exercisable, axumire according to their respective terms.

Common Stock Options

Option awards are granted with an exercise pricelem the market price of the Compamgtock at the date of grant; those option awaedelly vest based
three years of continuous service and have five-geatractual terms.

The fair value of stock options has been estimagedf the grant date using the Blgg&holes option pricing model. No stock options wgnanted during 2012
2013. For the year ended December 31, 2011 thewfimly assumptions were used in determining thevigine of option grants:

2011
Expected dividend yiel 0.C%
Risk-free interest rat 1.21%
Expected term (year: 3.5 year
Expected volatility 90.5%

The Company determines the expected term of itkspption awards by using the simplified method,jalihassumes each vesting tranche of the award
term equal to the midpoint between when the awastsvand when the award expires. Expected vojaidlicalculated by weighting the Compasiyiistorica
stock price to calculate expected volatility ovee expected term of each grant. If the Compaiystorical stock price history does not coverehtére expecte
term, expected volatility is also weighted basedtmnaverage historical volatility of similar efg# with publicly traded shares over the expectech tof eac
grant. The riskree interest rate for the expected term of eattoomranted is based on the U.S. Treasury yieldecin effect at the time of grant with a pel
that approximates the expected term of the option.

The following table summarizes the stock optionvégtfor the Company’s stock incentive plans fbetyear ended December 31, 2013:

Weighted-
) Average
Weighted- Remaining Aggregate
Average Contractual Intrinsic
Options Exercise Price Term Value
(In thousands) (Per share) (In years) (In thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 671 $ 3.7C 2.1
Grantec — —
Exercisec (145) 2.4C
Forfeited/expired (87 4.6¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 43¢ % 3.92 1.2 3 18€
Exercisable at December 31, 2013 41C 3 3.61 12 3 3083

The weighted-average gragiéte fair value of options granted during the yesided December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 was $@an§id54.98, respectively. T
total intrinsic value of options exercised durihg tyears ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 20%1$548, $3,555, and $8,170, respectively.

As of December 31, 2013, there was $29 of totatewgnized compensation cost related to nonvesbef sptions granted under the stock incentive plahs

cost is expected to be recognized over a weightedage period of 0.2 years. The total grant datevhlue of shares vested during the years endeaiber 3:
2013, 2012 and 2011, was $593, $1,060, and $2r68pectively.
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The Company recorded shdyased compensation expense only for those optluisare expected to vest. The estimated fair vafuthe stock options
recognized on a straighie basis over the requisite service period of akmard, which is generally the vesting term of #veard. During the years enc
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, the Companydedaquitybased compensation expense of $280, $1,008 and(z2dspectively, which is included &
component of selling, general and administrativeesse. The net tax benefit recognized on echased compensation expense for the year ended Dec&t
2013, 2012 and 2011 was $88, $181, and $28, régplyct The tax benefit realized from stock optianercised for the year ended December 31, 20112, a6«
2011 was $88, $599, and $1,838, respectively.

During the third quarter of 2012, the Company imedran incremental charge of $154 that was thecdiesult of the Separation and Release of ClI
Agreement (“Separation Agreement”) between the Gomgpand Robert G. Pedersen II, the Compsiiigimer chief executive officer. Under the ternfighe
Separation Agreement, Mr. Pederse®2 unvested stock options continued to vest uthdeoriginal terms of the option grant. Howevercéuse future servic
to be performed by Mr. Pedersen were not considsubdtantive under US GAAP, the options werenemasured and the expense associated with thesms
was accelerated. In addition, the Company incuae®D10 charge during the third quarter of 2012teeldo consulting fees due to Mr. Pedersen unde
Separation Agreement, which were payable in montigiallments over the one-year term of the Sejmr#&greement.

During the second quarter of 2011, the Companyriedua charge of $1,560 related to the modificatiba previously granted stock option, which islinked a
a component of selling, general and administratixpenses and additional paid in capital in the eE@nying consolidated financial statements (see NG
Note Receivable’

Warrants - During the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012,2éd, the Company issued warrants to purchase conshares for investor relatic
consulting services of 0, 50, and 50, respectivehe 2013, 2012, and 2011 warrants are exercisal#ie, $9.02 and $9.05, respectively. The warraxpire five
years from the grant date and were fully vestedhendate of grant. The grants were independentlyedausing the Blackscholes option pricing model w
separate assumptions for each tranche based diaithealue of the Compang’ common stock on each vesting date, expected e¢guml to the remainir
contractual term on each vesting date, expectedtilityl weighted between the Compasyhistorical volatility and the average historivalatility of similar
entities with publicly traded shares over the expéd¢erm for each vesting date, and fiige rate for the expected term based on the UehsTry yield curve
effect with a period that approximates the remardantractual term for each vesting date. Forytrar ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011,ahgén)
recorded expense of $0, $311, and $377, respegtieelthese warrants.

The fair value of warrants has been estimated #iseofesting date using the BlaSkholes option pricing model. For the years eridecember 31, 2013, 20:
and 2011 the following assumptions were used iardghing the fair value:

2012 2011
Expected dividend yiel 0.C% 0.C%
Risk-free interest rat 0.81% 2.02%
4.8¢€
Expected term (year: 5.0 year year:
Expected volatility 89.5(% 90.71%
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The following table summarizes the warrant actidity the year ended December 31, 2013:

Weighted-
) Average
Weighted- Remaining Aggregate
Average Contractual Intrinsic
Warrants Exercise Price Term Value
(In thousands) (Per share) (In years) (In thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 39C $ 8.0t 3C $ 191
Grantec — —
Exercisec — —
Forfeited/expired — —
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 39C $ 8.0% 2C $ (1,447
Exercisable at December 31, 2013 39C $ 8.0F 3C $ (1,442

The weighted-average and grant-date or des¢-fair value of warrants granted during the yearded December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, wab6$05, an
$6.46, respectively. The total intrinsic value oérvants exercised during the years ended Decenthe2@ 3, 2012 and 2011, was $0, $4,195, and $:
respectively.

As of December 31, 2013, there was $0 of total eogrized estimated compensation cost related teasded warrants granted. The total fair value afrar:s
vested during the years ended December 31, 2012, 20d 2011 was $0, $311, and $377, respectively.

For warrants that are compensatory, the Comparyradecshardsased compensation expense related to warrantsfamiyarrants that have vested. The am
of the expense recognized is based on the estinfatechlue of the warrants on the vesting dateriiuthe years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 ahd, 2/
Company recorded equityased compensation expense related to warrant,d381, and $377, respectively, which is includsda component of sellir
general and administrative expense. The net tagfieecognized on equityased compensation expense related to warrantegioyear ended December
2013, 2012 and 2011 was $0, $119, and $144, regelgct The tax benefit realized from compensatearrants exercised for the years ended Decemb
2013, 2012 and 2011 was $0, $114, and $0, respéctiv

Restricted Stocl

Restricted stock awards are granted with a faweralqual to the ending stock price on the datearftgPrior to 2011, the Company had not grantedrestricter
stock.

A summary of the status of the Company’s restristedk as of December 31, 2013, and changes dtimingear ended December 31, 2013, is presentedbelo

Weighted-

Average

Restricted Grant Date

Stock Fair Value

(In thousands) (Per share)
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 452 9.51
Grantec 491 5.9t
Vested (542) 8.5t
Forfeited (44) 9.14
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 357 $ 5.9¢

As of December 31, 2013, there was $1,245 of totedcognized compensation cost related to nonvesstdcted stock awards granted under the stamnitive
plans. That cost is expected to be recognized @vezighted-average period of approximately 1.0.year

The Company recorded shdrased compensation expense only for restrictedk shat is expected to vest. The estimated famealf the restricted stock awa
is recognized on a straighite basis over the requisite service period of dlerd, which is generally the vesting term of &wveard. During the years enc
December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, the Companyded@quitypased compensation expense of $3,846, $4,699 & &&pectively, which is included &
component of selling, general and administratiyeesse. The net tax benefit recognized on edwased compensation expense for the years endednbec81
2013, 2012 and 2011, was $1,458, $1,809 and $23fectively. The tax benefit realized from vestestricted stock for the years ended December 313,
2012, and 2011, was $1,042, $1,169 and $0, respbcti
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Included in the 2011 grants of restricted stocken®24 shares issued to an employee by the Compénjgcs to the employeg’continued employment. The
shares vested quarterly over a two year vesting &8rd were expensed on a straight-line basis teetwoyear vesting term. In connection with the issuaoi
124 shares of restricted stock, the Company issiecemployee an additional 90 shares of commorkstath a fair value of $899 as consideration inl
satisfaction of current and future royalties undeprior intellectual property agreement primariglated to the ZAGGmate. The portion of the consitier
related to current royalties was $336 and was dediuas a component of cost of sales in the cordelidstatement of operations in 2011. The remaiibGf
portion of the consideration was capitalized agjfiresents a pngayment of future royalties and will be amortizadan accelerated basis, consistent witt
expected underlying cash flows of the intellector@perty, over a seven year life. This capitaliaagount is included as a component of intangibletass th
consolidated balance sheet.

During the third quarter of 2012, the Company imedran incremental charge of $345 that was thediesult of the Separation Agreement. In accoreanmith
the terms of the Separation Agreement, Mr. Pedi&ssE2i7 then unvested stock options became fullyedesh August 17, 2013. However, under US GAAP
expense associated with these options was acaeaatit was determined that the service to bepedd by Mr. Pedersen was not considered to beasubhe.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, certai@@Amployees received grants of restricted stodkedected to file an Internal Revenue Code Se@Rib)
election and thereby elected to receive a net atnmfushares in exchange for the Company incurriregtéx liability for the grant date fair value betaward. |
addition, certain ZAGG employees elected to recaivet amount of shares upon the vesting of aicsdrstock grant in exchange for the Company iricgrthe
tax liability for the fair value of the award onetlvest date. This resulted in the Company recorfl5@8 in compensation expense, with the offsetdeiiginally
recorded to accrued wages and wage related expeathes than to additional paid-in capital.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, certaiG@Aemployees elected to receive a net amount aeshgon the vesting of a restricted stock gra
exchange for the Company incurring the tax liapiidr the fair value of the award on the vest datss resulted in the Company recording $257 in gensatio
expense, with the offset being originally recortie@ccrued wages and wage related expenses rattretat additional paid-in capital.

(10) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
Fair Value of Financial Instrumen

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Comparfinancial instruments included cash and cashvatpnts, accounts receivable, accounts payablegte
receivable, and a line of credit with Wells Fargbe carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalantfunts receivable and accounts payable approesniai
value due to the shotérm maturities of these financial instruments.e Barrying value of the debt balances approximgitevlue because the variable inte
rates reflect current market rates.

In addition, as discussed in Note 11, managementds an impairment on the note receivable if gievialue of the underlying collateral is less thla@ carryin
amount. Management determined the fair value sétasthat collateralize the note receivable, wiidfudes real property, interests in entities tan rea
property, and 80 shares of the Comparstock that carry a restrictive legend until tworths after the note receivable is paid in fullarldgement determin
that the fair value of the collateral exceededdéeying value of the note receivable at Decemlie2B13.
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Fair Value Measuremen

The Company measures at fair value certain findmaeid nonfinancial assets by using a fair value hierarctat tirioritizes the inputs to valuation technic
used to measure fair value. Fair value is the phet¢ would be received to sell an asset or paiglaiesfer a liability in an orderly transaction Wween marke
participants at the measurement date, essentiakid price, based on the highest and best uieeddsset or liability. The levels of the fair velierarchy are:

Level 1 — Quoted market prices in active marketddentical assets or liabilities;

Level 2 —Significant other observable inputs (e.g., quotedes for similar items in active markets, quoteites for identical or similar items in mark
that are not active, inputs other than quoted pribat are observable such as interest rate aliotieves, and market-corroborated inputs); and

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs in which there iddibr no market data, which require the reporting to develop its own assumptions.

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, the following asseis liabilities were measured at fair value oneeurring basis using the level of inputs showr
thousands):
Fair Value Measurements Usina

Level 1 Inputs Level 2 Inputs Level 3 Inputs
Money market funds included in cash equival $ 163 $ 163 — —

December 31
2013

Fair Value Measurements Using

Level 1 Inputs Level 2 Inputs Level 3 Inputs
Money market funds included in cash equival $ 452 % 452 — —

December 31
2012

Nor-Recurring Fair Value Measurements

The Company also measures the fair value of ceasgets on a non-recurring basis, generally glreemnually or when events or changes in circuntsa
indicate that the carrying amount of the assets nwye recoverable. These assets include goodtdihgible assets, property and equipment, assehpse
credits, and collateral securing the note receeabl

The following tables presents assets held as oééer 31, 2013 and 2012, measured at fair valueram-recurring basis using the level of inputsaghat the
time of impairment (in thousands).

Fair Value Measurements Using
Level 1 Inputs Level 2 Inputs Level 3 Inputs

Goodwill $ — — — 3 —
iFrogz trademarl $ 7,03¢ — — % 7,03¢

December 31
2013

As discussed in Note 7, at December 31, 2013, neameagt performed an impairment analysis over easét ahd ultimately recorded an impairment of godl
of $1,484 and an impairment of the iFrogz tradenudi®9,762. Thus, the balances in the table abefleat the fair value at December 31, 20IBe fair value ¢
goodwill and the iFrogz trademark were determinsithg various valuation methods, including the inecamd market approaches. Under the income app
the estimate of the present value of expecteddutash flows was based on discount rates whictrpocate a risk premium to take into account thiesrigsherer
in those expected cash flows. The expected casls fleere estimated using available historical ojegadata projected into the future based on the fzoy's
current expectations. Various market approache® wélized to determine appropriate royalty ratepligable to the valuation of the iFrogz trademad

determine appropriate comparable company marketipted to estimate the value of the ZAGG Domesgjgarting unit, and to estimate the overall valu¢he
consolidated entity.
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Fair Value Measurements Usina

December 31

2012 Level 1 Inputs Level 2 Inputs Level 3 Inputs
Goodwill $ 1,48¢ — — % 1,48¢
EarPollution trademar $ 2,38¢ — — 3 2,38¢

As discussed in Note 7, at December 31, 2012, neanegt performed an impairment analysis over easét and ultimately recorded an impairment of godl
of $5,441 and an impairment of the EarPollutiomléraark of $5,917. Thus, the balances in the taimwereflect the fair value at December 31, 201# fail
value of goodwill and the EarPollution trademarkreveletermined using various valuation methods,uitiolg the income and market approaches. Unde
income approach, the estimate of the present vafllexpected future cash flows was based on discmtets which incorporate a risk premium to take
account the risks inherent in those expected daslsf The expected cash flows were estimated wsiagable historical operating data projected if® future
based on the Comparsyturrent expectations. Various market approachere wtilized to determine appropriate royalty rapglicable to the valuation of 1
EarPollution trademark, to determine appropriatmgarable company market multiples to estimate tilaevof the iFrogz reporting unit, and to estimte
overall value of the consolidated entity.

Fair Value Measurements Usina
December 31
2011 Level 1 Inputs Level 2 Inputs  Level 3 Inputs
Note receivabl $ 1,91t % 56€ $ 1,08 $ 26C

In 2011, the note receivable (discussed in Notewld§ recorded at the fair value of the underlyintiateral. Management considered the 80 shar@AGG
common stock to be a Level 1 asset as quoted mpriess exist. The real estate holdings were censitiLevel 2 assets as significant observable sngxist fo
similar items in active markets. The investmentseial estate companies, and private company peefatock and warrants were considered Level 3saasah
value was determined based on unobservable inputs.

The fair value of the real estate companies wasraied using the market approach and the key snyetre comparable properties and investments. dir
value of the private company preferred stock wetermined using various valuation methods, indgahe income and market approaches. Under themie
approach, the estimate of the present value ofaageuture cash flows was based on discount matesh incorporate a risk premium to take into actdine
risks inherent in those expected cash flows. Tipeeted cash flows were estimated using availalskefi¢al operating data projected into the futuaseda on tr
Companys current expectations. The market approach wézgedtito determine appropriate comparable compaaygket multiples to estimate the value of
entity and the Company’investment in preferred stock. The fair valughef warrants to purchase private company prefesteck were calculated using

Black-Scholes option pricing model whereby estimatkvolatility, the private company’s preferredak value, and the risk-free rate were key inputs.

The Company recorded impairment charges of $1,48@g the year ended December 31, 2011, relatéiuetoote receivable and the underlying collatesakt
held as of December 31, 2011, measured at faievatua norrecurring basis. Level 3 assets comprise $125efrtipairment charge. These impairment che
were recorded as a component of selling, genechhdministrative expenses in the 2011 consolidsti@igment of operations.

(11) NOTE RECEIVABLE

In June 2008, Lorence Harmer became a member o€tmepanys board of directors and in December 2009, was iamgbas the chairman of the Al
Committee. Mr. Harmer introduced the Company moasumer electronics product, which became knowtheZAGGbox. The ZAGGbox was intendec
aggregate digital content such as music, pictwidsos, and movies into a single location so tis&trsi could share the content with most other né&ebmedii
players, including mobile devices. After investigg the market opportunity for the ZAGGbox, thenGmany determined in June 2009 that it wished taio
certain rights for the development and sale of2AA&Gbox in North America. The Company entered imégotiations with Teleportall, LLC (“Teleportallfhe
owner of the technology used in the ZAGGbox, remaygroduction and distribution of the ZAGGbox. Qume 17, 2009, the Company issued its initial [pas
order for ZAGGbox units in the amount of $3,500 attvanced to Teleportall a total of $1,153 représgra $200 nomecurring engineering (NRE) fee ¢
$953 in payment of 30% of the total purchase pidcehe units ordered by the Company. Mr. Harmetipipated in the negotiations between the Compzan
Teleportall, and continued to represent the Comphargughout 2009 and 2010 concerning the ZAGGHaxMay 2010, the Company entered into a Distriln
and License Agreement with Teleportall, which meialred Teleportalls agreement to manufacture and deliver ZAGGboxdse&ompany and appointed
Company as the exclusive distributor for the ZAG&ho North American. Additionally, in May 2010, eéhCompany entered into an agreement with He
Holdings, LLC (“Holdings”), an affiliate of Mr. Hamer, under which Holdings agreed to repurchaseldr5®GGboxes under certain circumstances.
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Teleportall proceeded to develop the ZAGGbox amyiged periodic progress reports to the Compangweéver, Teleportall did not deliver the productime
for the 2009 Christmas selling season. Subsequehitting the December 1, 2009, meeting of the BadDirectors of the Company, Mr. Harmer disclosed
the other members of the Board that he owned angst in Teleportall. After a discussion aboutfimancial interest in Teleportall during that miagt Mr.
Harmer stated he was willing to divest himself 0§ @wnership in Teleportall, and the Board of Dices voted unanimously to accept Mr. Harmer’s pegho
that he would do so, and assumed thereafter thati®hmer had completed his divestiture.

The development of the product continued in 201t whe expectation that the product would be dediden time for the 2010 Christmas selling seasbine
Company made additional payments for long leadk parts to Teleportall in the aggregate amodii§i20747. When it became obvious to the Compaay ttire
product would not be ready to market and sell dutive 2010 Christmas season, the Company commeiimaassions to restructure the Distribution andehis
Agreement with Teleportall. During the courseludge discussions, the Company learned in Janudd @t Mr. Harmer did not divest himself of anyeires
in Teleportall following the December 2009 meetivfgthe Board of Directors of the Company where beead to do so, but retained an indirect owne
interest of 25% in Teleportall as well as otheriterg potentially affiliated with the ZAGGbox. Az result of the foregoing, the Company entered ar
agreement with Teleportall, Mr. Harmer and severdities owned or controlled by Mr. Harmer (the thi@r Agreement”)dated March 23, 2011, but subjec
further negotiations and ratification through Apbil 2011. Pursuant to the Harmer Agreement, thitepaagreed to terminate the Distribution and hie
Agreement on the following terms:

« Mr. Harmer, Teleportall, and certain of their afftes delivered a promissory note (the “Notd&ted March 23, 2011, to the Company in the orl
principal amount of $4,126 which accrues interdéstha rate of LIBOR plus 4% per annum (adjustedriguly) payable as follows: (i) interest o
payments (a) on September 23, 2011, and (b) thereaf or before the last day of each calendartgud(i) 50% of the net profits of each ZAGGt
sale by Teleportall and its affiliates to be apgliéirst, to accrued interest and, second, to tirecipal balance of the Note, and (iii) the unpbadance ¢
principal and interest due in full on March 23, 20The principal amount of the Note is equal to élggregate amount of the payments made &
Company to Teleportall plus the internal cost & Z#AGGbox project incurred by the Company. TheeNstsecured by certain real property, interes
entities that own real property and restricted fnee-trading securities

« Teleportall and the Company entered into a Licehgeement on March 23, 2011 under which the Comp@aeynsed to Teleportall the use of cer
ZAGG names and trademarks to sell and distribuieeZth\GGbox product. Teleportall agreed to pay ZA&G&0% royalty on net sales of ZAGGbo
per calendar quarter as a license

« Teleportall and ZAGG entered into a nexelusive, two year Commission Agreement on Mar8h 2011, under which Teleportall could m
introductions of many ZAGG products in all coundgrizhere ZAGG did not then have exclusive dealinteagents in respect of the market
distribution or sale of its products. The ComnussAgreement provided that (a) it would automalyctgrminate concurrent with any uncured del
under the Note, and (b) the term could be exterfidledn additional time period on reasonable tefi®leportall’s introductions during the initial ow
year term resulted in the purchase of no less #4000 of ZAGG products during the initial terflayment terms of the Commission Agreement ¢
follows:
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« 10.0% commission payments on orders received bytimpany from retailers and distributors first aduced to the Company by Teleportall during
first 60 days after the introduction is made (thedadin Period”) to be split 50/50 between cash to Teleportall andcfpal payments on the No
However, all commission payments will be paid to&@3 if Teleportall is in breach of the terms of thete or any other agreements between the pa

« 3.0% commission on all orders within the first 2dnths after the Loadk Period, and 2.0% thereafter, from retailers distributors first introduced to t
Company as described under the terms set forthenpteceding bullet point. The 3.0% and 2.0% cossions will be split 50/50 between casl
Teleportall and principal payments on the Note;

« 3.0% commission on all orders generated in countsiBere Teleportall is paid commission under tmemseof the preceding two bullet points (excluc
the United States), regardless of Teleportall'solmement in ZAGGS receipt of the order until the first to occur(gf payment in full of the Note, (i
termination of the Commission Agreement or (iii)idénths after the applicable L¢-in Period.

No revenue has been recognized from Telepo

As part of the Harmer Agreement, the Company medifi previously granted stock option award to Marriker, which resulted in a charge of $1,560 tha
recorded in the second quarter of 2011. The chaggerecorded in the second quarter of 2011 ddiertieer negotiations and ratification on April 1. The
further negotiations concerned the restricted ldgdaced on 80 shares of stock subject to repayofehe Note.

The Note was originally accounted for under thet cesovery method and was originally included ie donsolidated balance sheet at $3,900 which veagathue
of the ZAGGbox inventory advances. The origin@efaalue of the Note of $4,126 was for reimburseno¢ithe inventory advances and other costs assa
with the ZAGGbox and approximated fair value at 8e23, 2011, as the variable interest rate on thte Mpproximated market rates.

On September 20, 2011, and prior to the due dattheffirst interesbnly payment due on the Note, Mr. Harmer and twchisf affiliates, Holdings ar
Teleportall, filed a lawsuit in Utah state courtatst the Company, Robert G. Pedersen, Il (ZAG®s-former CEO), Brandon T. O'Brien (ZAG&'CFO) an
KPMG LLP (ZAGG'’s independent registered public aatiing firm). KPMG and Messrs. Pedersen anBr@&n were subsequently dismissed from the law
as well as the plaintif§ causes of action against the Company. In theisuit, the plaintiffs allege that the defendargfached Mr. Harmer, breached the Har
Agreement and interfered with other rights of theimiffs. The Company has responded to the pintelaims, denying all of the material allegations g
the plaintiffs. The Company believes the plaistifflaims to be without merit and intends to vigosty defend against them.

Subsequently, Mr. Harmer failed to make the reglinterestenly payment to the Company due on September 2Bl.2dr. Harmer failed to cure the defe
and ZAGG commenced foreclosure on the collateralirsieg the loan, which consists of real propentyeiiests in entities that own real property, aradrietec
and freetrading securities, which included 45 shares of ZAG@mmon stock. In addition to the collateral, Marmer had also agreed that he would not s¢
shares of ZAGG common stock until two months after Note was paid in full. Given the Note is frécourse, and the 80 shares have a restrictivend
associated with repayment of the Note, the Combafigves it can recover the 80 shares in partiahaat of the Note balance.

Following Mr. Harmers default on the loan, management determined tthes probable that the Company would be unabtmliect all amounts due from N\
Harmer according to the terms of the Note. As th@eNbecame collateral-dependent upon Mr. Harmesfaudt, management engaged various tpiady
certified valuation specialists to assist managerimeits determination of the fair value of the latéral and whether it is sufficient to recover Nate balance. £
of December 31, 2013, management determined thastimated fair value of the underlying collatevak between $1,335 and $1,471. As managementot
been able to ascertain whether Mr. Harmer owns 60%00% of Holdings, management used the low enithe@fabove range ($1,335) and compared it t
carrying amount of the Note of $1,149. The remmajrilote balance of $1,149 appears to be collec@ibén managemerst’best estimate of the cash recover
the collateral securing the Note (fair value, lesst to sell) of $1,335. Additionally, the Compahgs classified $348 of the Note as an offset tatg!
representing the collateral secured by ZAGG comstook, which management has taken steps to retovepay the Note, as noted below. If a decreasiee
amount of the Note classified as an offset to gguitturs as a result of a decrease in the stock,pie Company reclassifies the difference badked\ote t
the extent that there is sufficient underlying atdtal in excess of the book value. During theyeaded December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Compalassdiec
$218 and $0, respectively, from equity to the Noteeflect the decrease in the Compamstock price. Ultimately, any recovery in excekthe carrying value «
the Note will be recognized when realized.
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The Company determined the fair values of the tari#d of the Note, which required estimates andmagsions. Management determined the value of the 80
shares of ZAGG common stock held by Mr. Harmer Basequoted market prices. The real estate holdirgge valued primarily based on the sales compariso
approach as sales of comparable properties wdizedtiThe investments in real estate companies walued utilizing comparable market sales, a disted

cash flow analysis, and other valuation method@egnanagement deemed to be appropriate.

Since the Note became collateral dependent in @ct2811, management has (1) foreclosed and sokhdfes of ZAGG common stock for $496 (Decer
2011); (2) foreclosed on real property valued &0@anuary 2012); and (3) foreclosed on stockveandants in a private company of $516 (May 2012jesk
foreclosures were recorded as a reduction to thie Mahe period in which the foreclosure occuriddnagement continues to actively pursue the foseck o
all remaining collateral.

At December 31, 2013, the total unpaid principleabee, including accrued interest, late fees arstsdacurred in collection, totaled $4,202.
(12) DEBT AND LETTERS OF CREDIT
Wells Fargo Revolving Line of Credit Facility

On December 20, 2013, the Company and Wells Fagiered into the First Amendment to Credit Agreen{&mendment”),which modifies the origin.
Credit Agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) entenei ibetween the Company and Wells Fargo on Deceih2012.

The Amendment retains the $60,000 revolving linereflit facility (“Line of Credit")and extends the maturity date from December 1, 20 December 1, 201
At the time of the Amendment, the $18,000 outstagdin the original $24,000 term loan was paid Ihdtilizing proceeds from the Line of Credit. Inldition,
the Line of Credit includes a letter of credit debture that allows the Company to issue standioynoercial letters of credit against the Line of Gredot tc
exceed at any time an aggregate of $5.0 milliorririgu2013 and 2012, the Company has not issuedt@mglby commercial letters of credit.

As consideration for entering into the Amendmeme, Company agreed to pay to Wells Fargo an amendeenf $30 as well as reasonable legal and eoéi
examination fees.

Borrowings and repayments under the Line of Crewiy occur from time to time in the Compasigrdinary course of business through Decembe®115.2 Any
outstanding borrowings under the Line of Creditumatand are due on December 1, 2015.

The outstanding principal balance under the Lin€Coddit bears interest at a fluctuating rate peruam determined to be the sum of the (1) LIBOR mm
established under the Credit Agreement (with thalnLIBOR margin being set at 1.25%) and (2) Daillhree Month LIBOR (as defined in the Cr¢
Agreement) in effect from time to time. Each chamgthe rate of interest will become effectiveeath business day on which a change in Daily Thteeth
LIBOR is announced by Wells Fargo.
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Pursuant to the terms of the Amendment, Wells Fandadjust the LIBOR margin used to determine thee of interest under the Line of Credit on artprly
basis, commencing with the Compasifiscal quarter ending December 31, 2013. Theiegdge Libor margin is calculated based on the Camyfs ratio of Tot:
Liabilities to Tangible Net Worth (as these terms defined in the Credit Agreement) in accordanith the following table:

Applicable
Total Liabilities to Tangible Net Wort LIBOR Margin
1.00 or greate 1.25%
.65 or greater, but less than 1 1.0(%
Less than .6! 0.75%

Under the Line of Credit, each such adjustment bglleffective on the first business day of the Camyfs fiscal quarter following the quarter during whidlells
Fargo receives and reviews the Company’s most rcufigcal quarteend financial statements in accordance with thelirements established in the Cri
Agreement.

In addition, under the Amendment the Company agregay Wells Fargo a quarterly fee based on tieeame unused amount of the Line of Credit depenain
the Company’s Leverage Ratio (which term is defimethe Credit Agreement as Total Liabilities diedlby Tangible Net Worth) based on the followingeéa

Applicable
Unused
Commitment
Fee

Leverage Rati (per annum
1.00 or greate 0.3t5%
.65 or greater, but less than 1. 0.25%
Less than .6! 0.15%

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012a%¥ %4, respectively, in unused line fees had leanred and was included as a component of ist
expense in the consolidated statement of operations

At December 31, 2013, the weighted average inteadston all outstanding borrowings under the lah€redit was 1.00%. At December 31, 2012, the teic
average interest rate on all outstanding borrowingfer the Line of Credit and Term Loan was 1.68%December 31, 2013 and 2012, the effective irstenate
was 1.11% and 2.31%, respectively.

The Company originally incurred and capitalized 28 direct costs related to the establishmenhefGredit Agreement with Wells Fargo. For the yearde!
December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company amortiz2@d &nd $8, respectively of these loan costs, wisithcluded as a component of interest expensiee
consolidated statement of operations. In conjunctigth the closing of the Amendment, the Compamyuined $43 in additional direct costs related te
issuance of the Amendment because the borrowingcigpvas expanded and wrote-off $27 in previouslpitalized costs related to the Term Loan. Theewri
off of these costs was recorded as a componentareist expense.

The Company amortizes these deferred loan costsruhd effective interest rate method. The carryialye of deferred loan costs at December 31, 201t
2012, was $126 and $230, respectively, and is dedias a component of noncurrent other assets icahsolidated balance sheet.

Attached to the Credit Agreement are a numberr@ritial and non-financial debt covenamts.December 31, 2013, the Company was in complianitie all
covenants associated with the Credit Agreement.

Mandatory payments under the Credit Agreement agemted in the following table:

Mandatory

Paymentt
2014 $ —
2015 17,54:
Total $ 17,54:
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PNC & Cerberus Term Loan and Revolving Credit Fac

On June 21, 2011, and in conjunction with the asitjon of iFrogz, the Company entered into a firagcagreement (the “Financing Agreementgyl by
Cerberus Business Finance, LLC (“Cerberus”) and F@k National Association (“PNC"which was acting as the administrative bank. Theakcing
Agreement consisted of a $45,000 term loan (“Cerbdferm Loan”), a $45,000 revolving credit facilifRevolving Credit Facility”),and a $5,000 letter
credit facility, which was a subset of the $45,60&volving Credit Facility. The Comparsybbligations under the Financing Agreement weceirge by all ¢
substantially all of the Compars/assets. The Cerberus Term Loan matured on Iyrgd26, and the Revolving Credit Facility anddegtof credit matured «
June 20, 2014.

At December 31, 2011, the weighted average inteag¢ston all outstanding borrowings was 7.25%. At@mber 31, 2011, the effective interest rate wa2%8.

There were no scheduled payments on either thee@eserm Loan or Revolving Credit Facility priorrhaturity, though the Company made a $4,000 paj
on the Cerberus Term Loan and a $23,000 paymenh@®rRevolving Credit Facility during the first qter of 2012. The Financing Agreement called
prepayment of the Cerberus Term Loan if certairdé@ms are met. The prepayment requirement coneaetmith the fiscal year ended December 31, 204d
was calculated based on a percentage of “excebsfloa8’ as defined in the Financing Agreement. Paymentre@sired to be made within ten days of iss
the yearend consolidated financial statements. Based ojegiions at December 31, 2011, the Company esiindtat a prepayment of $2,372 woulc
required to be made during March 2012. This amauex classified as current in the consolidated fzalasheet, while the remaining Cerberus Term
balance and Revolving Credit Facility balance wassdified as noncurrent.

Starting July 1, 2011, the Company began payingrantitment fee of 0.375% on the unused portion ef brrowing capacity under the Revolving Cr
Facility based on the average principal amounttanting for the month compared to $45,000. Foryders ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Cot
incurred $133 and $46, respectively, in commitnfeas, which is included as a component of intezepense in the consolidated statement of operations

The Company incurred and capitalized $2,538 ofatlicests related to the issuance of the Cerbertra Tean and Revolving Credit Facility. Of the toaaoun
incurred, $1,699 was directly related to the CarbeFerm Loan and $839 was directly related to teedRing Credit Facility. The Company amortized
deferred loan costs on the Cerberus Term Loan erffiective interest rate method and the defewwad tosts on the Revolving Credit Facility on aigfitline
basis over the respective terms of the loan: tbenTLoan was being amortized through June 20, 28t68,the Revolving Credit Facility through June
2014. For the years ended December 31, 2012 ahdl, 20e Company amortized $568 and $329, respégtieé these loan costs, which is included i
component of interest expense in the consolidatattraent of operations. In addition, during theryended December 31, 2012, the Company rec
additional amortization of $132 through interegpexse due to the $4,000 payment on the Term Laantprmaturity.

As discussed above, on December 7, 2012, the Congzad off the entire outstanding balance on theb©eis Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility, ine
Financing Agreement with PNC and Cerberus was taatad. As this agreement was terminated, the Coynpaate-off the remaining $1,509 balance
deferred loan costs during the fourth quarter acf20which is included as a component of interegteage on the consolidated statement of operatia
addition, the Company incurred a charge of $43@ p@iPNC and Cerberus to terminate the credit ageee when the Company refinanced with Wells Fe
which is classified as a component of interest agpen the consolidated statement of operations.
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(13) - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Operating leases

The Company leases office and warehouse spacee @fjuipment, and mall cart locations under opggdédases that expire through 2017. Future minimum
rental payments required under the operating legtsBscember 31, 2013 are as follows:

2014 $ 1,121
2015 77¢€
2016 69¢€
2017 302
Thereafter —
Total $ 2,897

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 an 26t expense was $1,564, $1,615 and $1,00%atéply. Rent expense is recognized on a basish
approximates straight line over the lease term.tRgpense for the years ended December 31, 2012, 20d 2011 was net of sublease income of $9%l,
and $0 respectively.

Commercial Litigation

Lorence A. Harmer, et al v ZAGG Inc et al, Thirdlitial District Court, Salt Lake County, State afal, Civil No. 11091768. On September 20, 2011, Lore
A. Harmer, a former director of ZAGG and two of faifiliates, Harmer Holdings, LLC, and Teleportdll,C, filed a lawsuit against the Company, Robet
Pedersen Il, Brandon T. O'Brieand KPMG LLP. KPMG was dismissed from the lawsnianuary 2012. The plaintiffs allege that the deémts defamed M
Harmer, breached a Settlement Agreement and ogreements between the plaintiffs (alleging claimisfreach of contract, breach of the covenant afd
faith, and fair dealing) and the Company, and feted with other rights of the plaintiffs. The deéants denied all of the material allegations miaglehe
plaintiffs. On October 29, 2012, the Company fiedCounterclaim and Third-Party Complaint againstnia, Holdings, Teleportall and thighkrty Globa
Industrial Services Limited asserting claims foedwh of contract, deficiency, indemnity and attgshéees, breach of the implied covenant of good faitd fail
dealing, quasi contract, unjust enrichment, quaneruit and declaratory judgment. On June 10, 2@8court dismissed the plaintifisfaims for defamatiol
negligence, tortious interference, and interferewith prospective economic relations and all claiagginst Mr. Pedersen and Mr.Bbdien. The Compar
believes the plaintiffstemaining claims of breach of contract, breacthef¢ovenant of good faith and fair dealing, andatatory relief to be without merit a
intends to continue to vigorously defend againstrthThe plaintiffs have not yet made a specific ages claim.

ZAGG Inc v. Joseph Ramelli, Third Judicial Distrieburt, Salt Lake County, State of Utah, Civil N@0903188 On May 10, 2012, ZAGG filed a lawsuit
Utah State Court against Joseph Ramelli (“Ramelélleging causes of action for defamation andefdight based on Rameli’authoring and causing to
published articles relating to ZAGG that contaitséaand defamatory statements. On October 17,,204GG and Ramelli entered into a settlement agese
of ZAGG's claims in the litigation. In the settlement agnent, Ramelli covenanted to never again make amyrents whatsoever about ZAGG, or any pe
entity, product or practice affiliated with ZAGGnée Ramelli provided a confession of judgment treat be enforced by ZAGG should Ramelli fail to peri
any of his covenants under the agreement. AlsaG@Aand Ramelli exchanged mutual general relea®esOctober 22, 2013, the court entered an 1
dismissing the litigation.

Patent/Trademark Litigatio

ZAGG Intellectual Property Holding Co. Inc. v. NIRJoducts et al, U.S. District Court, District of &H, 2:11-cv-00517 On June 7, 2011, the Company file
patent infringement lawsuit against NLU ProductsCt Wrapsol, LLC; XO Skins, LLC; Fusion of Ideasicl; Clear-Coat, LLC; Cas&ri, LLC; United SGF
Corp.; Stealth Guards; Vituorsity Products, LLCjrkni LLC; Cellairis; Best Skins Ever; Headco, LL&yd Ghost Armour, LLC that seeks to enforce ri
under United States Patent No. 7,957,524. The dafes in this case have raised defenses and, ia sases, asserted counterclaims against the Commbax
seek declarations of unenforceability or riofiingement of the patent. These counterclaimsidbassert any claims for affirmative relief, intiing claims fo
damages, against the Company, apart from a refpreah award of costs and attornejeés to the prevailing party. NLU Products, LLC; afysol, LLC; XC
Skins, LLC; Fusion of Ideas, Inc.; Clear-Coat, LLCaseAri, LLC; United SGP Corp.; Stealth Guards; anduditsity Products, LLC have settled with
Company. Litigation of this action was stayed pegda reexamination of United States Patent No.77328 by the United States Patent and Trade
Office. The reexamination led to amendments tcctaiens of the patent, and the United States PatehfTrademark Office issued a Reexamination Ceatifi. It
the opinion of management, the ultimate dispositibrihese patent infringement claims, includingpdistion of the counterclaims, will not have a nnia
adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated filwhposition, results of operations, or liquidity.

ZAGG v. TrekStor, Regional Court, Dusseldorf, Getyndn September 2011, the Company brought suit in Eldssf, Germany against TrekStor
infringement of ZAGG design registrations for thA@Gmate keyboard case and for unfair competitiéfter the Company completed briefing of its cla
against TrekStor and presented its case at oralmaengt, TrekStor filed a separate proceeding alegivat it is the owner of the ZAGGmate keyboarde
design. The Company’s action against TrekStor thhas stayed pending the resolution of TrekStor'secagainst the Company. On July 23, 2013, TrekStor
claims were dismissed and the Company was awatsi@dsts in that action. Although that decision besn appealed, the stay on the Compaagtion again
TrekStor has been lifted, the necessary bond has pested, and the court will proceed to issuecdisite regarding the Comparsytlaims. In the opinion
management, the ultimate disposition of TrekStappeal will not have a material adverse effectt@ €ompanys consolidated financial position, result:
operations, or liquidity.

Fuhu Inc. et al v. ZAGG Inc et al, Central Distraft California, CV 1-06317 PA (SHxJThe Company was a defendant in a lawsuit filed agust 28, 2013,
(the “Fuhu | Case”) alleging trademark infringemédatse designation of origin, trademark dilutiamd copyright infringement based on the Company’s
identification of the plaintiff's product on packiag for an accessory designed for the plaintiffeguct. In March 2014, these claims were resolyeddyment
of an agreed amount to Fuhu and dismissal of tielFand Fuhu Il Cases (see the description imnelgiaelow).



ZAGG Intellectual Property Holding Co. Inc. v. Fulnc., U.S. District Court, District of Utah, 2:18#01105-BSJ The Company was the plaintiff in pat
infringement litigation filed on December 16, 2018e “Fuhu Il Case”)n Utah that sought to enforce rights under Unitdtes Patent No. 8,567,596. F
raised defenses in the Fuhu Il Case, but did nearmck any counter claims. After the parties pradidetial disclosures, in March 2014, these clawvere
resolved by payment of an agreed amount to ZAGGdistdissal of the Fuhu | and Fuhu Il Cases (seethks description immediately above.)
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Class Action Lawsuits

James H. Apple, et al. v. ZAGG Inc, et al., U.Stiint Court, District of Utah, 2:1-cv-00852; Ryan Draayer, et al. v. Zagg Inc, et al.SUDistrict Court
District of Utah, 2:1i-cv-00859. On September 6 and 10, 2012, two putative datisn lawsuits were filed by purported Companyrehalders against t
Company, Randall Hales, Brandon O’Brien, and Chésgflabee, as well as Robert G. Pedersen I, thep@ags former Chairman and CEO, and Edv
Ekstrom and Shuichiro Ueyama, former members ofabmpanys Board of Directors. These lawsuits were subsatjuamended by a complaint filed on M
6, 2013. The plaintiffs seek certification of asd of purchasers of the Compangtock between October 15, 2010 and August 172.2The plaintiffs claim th:
as a result of Mr. Pedersen's alleged December &@ikifjin account sales, the defendants initiatedcaession plan to replace Mr. Pedersen as the Gorigpa
CEO with Mr. Hales, but failed to disclose eithiee succession plan or Mr. Pedersen's margin accales, in violation of Sections 10(b), 14(a), 20¢a), an
SEC Rules 10b-5 and 14a-9, under the Securitiebdixge Act of 1934 (the “Exchange ActPn March 7, 2013, the U.S. District Court for thistict of Utaft
(the “Court”) consolidated thAppleandDraayer actions and assigned the captlarre: Zagg, Inc. Securities Litigationand on May 6, 2013, plaintiffs filec
consolidated complaint. On July 5, 2013, the dedetgl moved to dismiss the consolidated compla@m. February 7, 2014, the Court entered an ordeitigg
the Company’s motion to dismiss the consolidatedplaint. On February 25, 2014, plaintiffs filed etice of appeal.

Arthur Morganstern v. Robert G. Pedersen Il et @hjrd Judicial District Court, Salt Lake Countytag of Utah, Civil No. 1209084%; Albert Pikk v. Robert (
Pedersen Il et al., U.S. District Court, District Otah, Case No. 2:2-cv-1188; Rosenberg v. Robert G. Pedersen 1l et al., U.StribigCourt, District of Utah
Case No. 2:12-cv-1216 On December 14, 2012, the first of three shddenaderivative complaints were filed against savef the Companyg current an
former officers and directors. These complaintkenallegations similar to those presented in thesolidated class action lawsuits, but they alserassriou:
state law causes of action, including claims faaeh of fiduciary duty, waste of corporate asseigist enrichment, and insider trading. Each e&éhderivativ
complaints seek unspecified damages on behalfeo€ttmpany, which is named solely as a nominal digfeinagainst whom no recovery is sought. On Fel
26, 2013, the Court consolidated Rk and Rosenbergctions and assigned the captianre ZAGG Inc. Shareholder Derivative Litigatiorand on June
2013, plaintiffs filed a consolidated complaintheTCompany has not yet responded to these comgplaint

In the fourth quarter of 2012, the Company receiregliests to provide documentation and informatiiothe staff of the SEC in connection with a rmblic
investigation being conducted by the SEGalt Lake City office. The Company believes ittnestigation includes a review of the facts andwinstance
surrounding some of the same issues raised byl#iatifis in the above lawsuits; specifically, whet the Company failed to disclose Mr. Pedersemsyir
account sales or the alleged existence of a pléiate Mr. Hales succeed Mr. Pedersen as the Corrp@B0. The Company responded to these requesis
cooperating fully with the staff. The Company lehssen to disclose this ngublic investigation due to the highly public nawf the lawsuits described abc
which the Company intends to defend vigorously.

The Company is not a party to any other litigattwrother material claims at this time. While then@any currently believes that the amount of anynaite
potential loss for known matters would not be niate¢o the Company financial condition, the outcome of these actisniaherently difficult to predict. In tt
event of an adverse outcome, the ultimate poteluss could have a material adverse effect on thmganys financial condition or results of operations
particular period.

The Company establishes reserves when a particaldingency is probable and estimable. Other thasd discussed above, the Company has not acat
any loss at December 31, 2013 in the consolidateshéial statements as the Company does not carsildss to be probable nor estimable. The Compacs:
contingencies that are reasonably possible to pbowvever, the reasonably possible exposure t@fosannot currently be estimated.

(14) CONCENTRATIONS
Concentration of credit risk

Financial instruments which potentially subject @@mpany to concentrations of credit risk consigtgipally of cash and accounts receivable. Thengany
places its cash with high credit quality finandiadtitutions. The Company maintains its cash inkbdeposit accounts, which, at times, exceed fdgiaresurec
limits. The Company has not experienced any logsssch accounts through December 31, 2013.

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, approximately 44#86%6%, respectively, of the balance of accountsivable was due from the Compasyargest custome
In addition at December 31, 2013, the Compargecond largest customer accounted for 14% o&dkeunts receivable balance. No other customeruat
balances were more that 10% of accounts receivatbl@ecember 31, 2013 or 2012. If one or morehef Companys significant customers were to becc
insolvent or were otherwise unable to pay for thedpcts provided, it would have a material adveffect on the Compang’'financial condition and results
operations.

Concentration of supplier
The Companys logistics partners arrange for production ofds materials related to the invisibleSHIELD protliice primarily from one source. Managerr

is aware of similar raw materials that would beilaide from other sources if required and has aurptans to immediately engage such resourcesciéssary.
change in supplier, however, could cause a delayanufacturing and a possible loss of sales, wtichd adversely affect operating results.
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In addition, the Company purchases the majoritigsafhventory sourced in Asia through one thirdtpaourcing company. Management is aware of other
manufacturing sources that it could utilize if thevas a disruption in the operations of the thaypsourcing Company. A change in the sourcing gamy,
however, could cause a delay in manufacturing amokaible loss of sales, which could adverselycafiperating results.

Concentration of sales

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, ahtl, 2he customer accounted for 26%, 32%, and 36%pectively, of the Comparg/sales. In additio
during 2013, 2012, and 2011, a second customeuates for 18%, 11%, and 11%, respectively, of saMs other customer account balances were mot
10% of sales. If the Company loses one or morh@fCompany’s significant customers, it would haveaterial adverse effect on the Comparfinancia
condition and results of operations.

The percentage of sales by geographic region ®oyéars ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 201appasximately:

2013 2012 2011
United State: 90% 87% 88%
Europe 5% 6% 6%
Other 5% 7% 6%

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, net assets locawdeas in Shannon Ireland totaled $8,695 and 3¥4r&3pectively.

(15) SEGMENT REPORTING

As of December 31, 2012, the Company reported &igdrinformation on the following three reportaldegments: ZAGG, iFrogz, and HzO. During the
quarter of 2013, management consolidated a nunmfb2AGG/iFrogz processes and functions, which resuih the announcement of the closure of the iF
office in Logan, Utah and the layff of a number of iFrogz employees during thetfgaarter of 2013. Ultimately, it was decided ttia two offices would t
consolidated and that the marketing, product dgeémnt, product management, customer service, satesunting, and IT teams that had previously dpe
independently, would now be combined.

In addition, as the Company has continued to evatva mobile device accessories company, finaimd@imation reviewed and evaluated by the chiefrafiec
decision maker is at the consolidated company Jeweluding budget and sales reviews. Further, tlu¢he decrease in size and significance of the
investment ($0 balance at December 31, 2013), nesnagt determined it to be a corporate asset réthara separate operating segment.

Ultimately, management concludes that the Comphaould be considered a single reportable segment.

(16) — QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

Quarterly financial information is presented in tfhBowing summary:

Year ended December 31, 201

Second Fourth
First Quarter Quarter Third Quarter Quarter Year

Net sales $ 51,47 $ 51,19¢ $ 49,86¢ $ 66,81¢ $ 219,35¢
Operating income (los: 2,007 5,41¢ 6,43¢€ (2,917 10,94¢
Net income (loss 87¢€ 2,774 3,18¢ (2,044 4,79(
Earnings (loss) per share attributable to stockdrst(1)

Basic $ 0.0 $ 0.0¢ $ 0.1C $ (0.0 $ 0.1€
Diluted 0.0 0.0¢ 0.1C (0.07) 0.1t
Weighted average common shai

Basic 31,05: 30,73¢ 30,92¢ 30,88:¢ 30,90(
Diluted 31,72¢ 31,21¢ 31,46¢ 30,88: 31,45¢
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Year ended December 31, 201

Second Fourth
First Quarter Quarter Third Quarter Quarter Year

Net sales $ 55,48( $ 61,63¢ $ 59,827 $ 87,48. $ 264,42!
Operating incom 10,22¢ 10,88¢ 7,11¢ 5,26( 33,49
Net income 5,112 5,812 3,38¢ 19z 14,50¢
Earnings per share attributable to stockholc(1)

Basic $ 017 $ 0.1¢ $ 011 $ 001 $ 0.4¢
Diluted 0.1€ 0.1¢ 0.11 0.01 0.4¢
Weighted average common shai

Basic 29,92« 30,27 30,35! 30,797 30,33¢
Diluted 31,417 31,73¢ 31,73¢ 31,73¢ 31,65¢

(1) The earnings per share calculations for each od;meters were based upon the weighted averageetuhbhares outstanding during each period, a@
sum of the quarters may not be equal to the fudl yarnings per common share amot

(17) DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN

The Company offers a 401(k) for fullne employees that have been with the Company¥er 90 days. The Company matches participant ibonions o
100% up to 3% of an employees’ salary and 50% ofrimutions from 4-5% of an employeeslary. Costs recognized for the year ended DeeeBih 201:
2012, and 2011 related to the employer 401(k) metiched $263, $153, and $267, respectively.

(18) SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There were no subsequent events identified thatduegjuire disclosure or adjustment to the constdid financial statements.
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EXHIBIT 21.1

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

The subsidiaries of ZAGG Inc (the “Registrant”)addsMarch 14, 2014, are listed below:

Subsidiary Name Ownership Jurisdiction

ZAGG Intellectual Property Holding Company, h 100% United State:
ZAGG International Distribution Limite 100% Ireland
ZAGG Retail, Inc. 100% United State:
ZAGG LLC 100% United State:
Bronco Corporatiol 100% Cayman Island
Ute Corporatior 100% Cayman Island
Patriot Corporatiol 100% Ireland
iFrogz Inc. 100% United State:
Superior Brand Limite: 100% Hong Kong

HzO, Inc. 15.3% United State:



Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm
The Board of Directors

ZAGG Inc:

We consent to the incorporation by reference inrdggstration statements (No. 333-147510, 333-179a8d 333-187467) on Form S-8 and (No. 383748) ol
Form S3 of ZAGG Inc of our reports dated March 12, 20dith respect to the consolidated balance sheeZA&G Inc as of December 31, 2013 and 2012
the related consolidated statements of operat@meprehensive income, equity, and cash flows fohed the years in the thrgear period ended December
2013, and the effectiveness of internal controlrdivencial reporting as of December 31, 2013, Wwhieports appear in the December 31, 2013 AnnupbRer
Form 10-K of ZAGG Inc.

(signed) KPMG LLP
Salt Lake City, Utah

March 12, 2014



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Randall L. Hales, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Repartrmrm 10-K of ZAGG Inc;

2. Based on my knowledge, this repogginot contain any untrue statement of a matcalor omit to state a material fact necessamaée the
statements made, in light of the circumstances uwtieeh such statements were made, not misleaditigrespect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the finansiatements, and other financial information ineldiéh this report, fairly present in all materiabpects the
financial condition, results of operations and cieWs of the registrant as of and for the peripdssented in this report.

4. The registrant's other certifyin§iadr(s) and | are responsible for establishing aradntaining disclosure controls and proceduresiéised in
Exchange Act Rules 13a—15(e) and 15d-15(e)) aednak control over financial reporting (as definedxchange Act Rules 13a—-15(f) and 15d—15(f))tier
registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls andqdures, or caused such disclosure controls mégures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to thgiserant, including its consolidated subsidiarissnade known to us by others within those entities
particularly during the period in which this repttbeing prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control oveafinial reporting, or caused such internal contverr dinancial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitte reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatiog principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of thesiegnt's disclosure controls and procedures argkpted in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proces] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any changéhmregistrant's internal control over financiglgging that occurred during the registrant's nesént
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal qaain the case of an annual report) that has madlieaffected, or is reasonably likely to matelyiadffect,
the registrant's internal control over financiglaging; and

5. The registrant's other certifyinfiadr(s) and | have disclosed, based on our mesinteevaluation of internal control over finanaigborting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee efrégistrant's board of directors (or persons peviftg the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and ma#dnveaknesses in the design or operation of intewvatrol over financial reporting which are reaably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's abilityrecord, process, summarize and report finamiaimation; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material,tthrevolves management or other employees who haigréficant role in the registrant's internal qoht
over financial reporting.

Date: March 12, 201
/s/ RANDALL L. HALES

Randall L. Hales
Chief Executive Officer, President, & Director
(Principal Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Brandon T. O’Brien, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Repartrmrm 10-K of ZAGG Inc;

2. Based on my knowledge, this repogginot contain any untrue statement of a matcalor omit to state a material fact necessamaée the
statements made, in light of the circumstances uwtieeh such statements were made, not misleaditigrespect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the finansiatements, and other financial information ineldiéh this report, fairly present in all materiabpects the
financial condition, results of operations and cieWs of the registrant as of and for the peripdssented in this report.

4. The registrant's other certifyin§iadr(s) and | are responsible for establishing aradntaining disclosure controls and proceduresiéised in
Exchange Act Rules 13a—15(e) and 15d-15(e)) aednak control over financial reporting (as definedxchange Act Rules 13a—-15(f) and 15d—15(f))tier
registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls andqdures, or caused such disclosure controls mégures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to thgiserant, including its consolidated subsidiarissnade known to us by others within those entities
particularly during the period in which this repttbeing prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control oveafinial reporting, or caused such internal contverr dinancial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitte reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatiog principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of thesiegnt's disclosure controls and procedures argkpted in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proces] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any changéhmregistrant's internal control over financiglgging that occurred during the registrant's nesént
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal qaain the case of an annual report) that has madlieaffected, or is reasonably likely to matelyiadffect,
the registrant's internal control over financiglaging; and

5. The registrant's other certifyinfiadr(s) and | have disclosed, based on our mesinteevaluation of internal control over finanaigborting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee efrégistrant's board of directors (or persons peviftg the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and ma#dnveaknesses in the design or operation of intewvatrol over financial reporting which are reaably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's abilityrecord, process, summarize and report finamiaimation; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material,tthrevolves management or other employees who haigréficant role in the registrant's internal qoht
over financial reporting.

Date: March 12, 201
/s/ BRANDON T. O'BRIEN

Brandon T. O'Brien
Chief Financial Officel
(Principal Financial Officer)



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report onfdr0-K of ZAGG Inc (the "Company") for the year eddDecember 31, 2013, as filed with the Securéias
Exchange Commission (the "Report"), I, Randall klé$, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, dgrfpursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted putdoa
§ 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, thathtoliest of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with thejrgrements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SemsiExchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Redairly presents, in all material respects, timacial condition and results of operations of @@npany.

/sSIRANDALL L HALES

Randall L. Hales
Chief Executive Officer , President, & Director
March 12, 201«

This certification accompanies the Reparspant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley ARDOP and shall not, except to the extent requisethe
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed byGbmpany for purposes of Section 18 of the Secarkechange Act of 1934, as amended.

A signed original of this written statemeaduired by Section 906 of the Sarbafedey Act of 2002 has been provided to the Compamy will be retaine
by the Company and furnished to the Securitiesearahange Commission or its staff upon request.



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report onfdr0-K of ZAGG Inc (the "Company") for the year eddDecember 31, 2013, as filed with the Securéias
Exchange Commission (the "Report"), I, Brandon Br@n, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, tiBf, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adoptedyans
to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, ttmthe best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with thejrgrements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SemsiExchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Redairly presents, in all material respects, timacial condition and results of operations of @@npany.

/sIBRANDON T. O'BRIEN

Brandon T. O'Brien
Chief Financial Officer
March 12, 201«

This certification accompanies the Reparspant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley ARDOP and shall not, except to the extent requisethe
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed byGbmpany for purposes of Section 18 of the Secarkechange Act of 1934, as amended.

A signed original of this written statemeeaguired by Section 906 of the Sarbafiedey Act of 2002 has been provided to the Compamy will be retaine
by the Company and furnished to the Securitiesearahange Commission or its staff upon request.



